SRRy

NEWARK &
SHERWQOQOD
DISTRICT COUNCIL
Castle House
Great North Road
Newark
NG24 1BY
Tel: 01636 650000
www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk
Tuesday, 11 June 2024
Chair: Councillor A Freeman
Vice-Chair: Councillor D Moore
Members of the Committee:
Councillor A Amer Councillor S Saddington
Councillor C Brooks Councillor M Shakeshaft
Councillor L Dales Councillor T Smith
Councillor P Harris Councillor M Spoors
Councillor K Melton Councillor L Tift
Councillor E Oldham Councillor T Wildgust

Councillor P Rainbow

MEETING: Planning Committee
DATE: Wednesday, 19 June 2024 at 4.00 pm
VENUE: Civic Suite, Castle House, Great North Road, Newark,

NG24 1BY

You are hereby requested to attend the above Meeting to be held at the time/place

and on the date mentioned above for the purpose of transacting the
business on the Agenda as overleaf.

If you have any queries please contact Catharine Saxton
on catharine.saxton@newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk.



http://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/

AGENDA
1. Notification to those present that the meeting will be recorded and
streamed online
2. Apologies for Absence
3. Declarations of Interest by Members and Officers

Part 1 - Items for Decision

4, Land off Staythorpe Road, Averham - 23/00317/FULM

5. Land Adjacent Staythorpe Substation, Staythorpe Road, Staythorpe -
23/00810/FULM

6. Shady Oaks, Eagle Road, Spalford - 24/00088/FUL

Part 2 - Items for Information
There are none.

Part 3 - Exempt and Confidential Items

7. Exclusion of the Press and Public
There are none.

Page Nos.

111-138



Agenda Item 4

NEWARK &
SHERWOOQOD

anme DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Planning Committee 19 June 2024

Business Manager Lead: Lisa Hughes — Planning Development

Lead Officer: Julia Lockwood, Senior Planner, julia.lockwood@newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk
Report Summary

Application No. 23/00317/FULM

Construction and operation of Battery Energy Storage System (BESS),

Proposal . . .
P transformer/sub-station and associated infrastructure.

Location Land off Staythorpe Road, Averham
. SSE Staythorpe Battery Emma Ridley — Pegasus
Applicant Ltd Agent Planning Group Ltd

https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-

Web Link
e applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
Target Date
202
Registered 7 March 2023 Extension  of 6 June 2023

. 21 June 2024
time

That full planning permission is APPROVED, subject to the completion

Recommendation  of a S106 Agreement and the Conditions set out in Section 10 of the
report.

This application is presented to Planning Committee at the request of the Authorised Officer
in line with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.

1.0 The Site

1.1 The site comprises approx. 25.77 hectares of flat, agricultural arable farmland situated
to the west of the village of Averham and to the north-east of Staythorpe village. It is
an irregular shape, comprising two larger fields immediately to the west of Staythorpe
Road and south of the A617, extending to the west comprising a much narrower field
continuing on the southern side of the A617 until its narrow western boundary joins
Main Road (that runs westward towards Upton village).

1.2 The northern and eastern boundaries (along the main roads) are defined by mature
tree and hedgerow planting, providing a strong enclosure to the land which is less
defined along the southern and western field boundaries, where the planting along
the field boundary is more sporadic. There are wet drainage ditches that run along the
western boundary of the east field, which appears to drain into Pingley Dyke than runs

Agenda Page 3


https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage

1.3

1.4

1.5

on land south of the application site. There are also a wet ditch running along the site
boundary with Staythorpe Road.

(z p

An existing 400kV overhead powerline crosses the site from north to south in two
different positions and can be seen on the above location plan, depicted as a grey
dashed line. Beyond this to the south-east is the existing National Grid Staythorpe
Electricity 400 kW substation which is a substantial structure served by a network of
electric pylons, the majority of which is largely screened from the application site by
the woodland situated between. Staythorpe Power Station is gas fired and situated
350m to the south-east on the other side of the railway line.

The land to the east, north and south beyond the site is fairly flat in its topography
however, to the west the land increases in height at Micklebarrow Hill and further
along Main Road to the west, towards the village of Upton. Ground levels at the site
itself are relatively even with a relatively uniform gradient and ranges between
12.75m Above Ordnance Datum (AOD) at the northern end to 14.15m AOD at the
southern end.

The site is defined as being within the full range of fluvial flood risk designations
ranging from Flood Zone 1 (at low risk of main river flooding), within Flood Zone 2 (at
medium risk of main river flooding). Flood Zone 3a (high risk of main river flooding)
and Flood Zone 3b (Functional floodplain). Flood Zone 1 areas are mainly
concentrated on the eastern part of the site (adjacent to Staythorpe Road) and at the
far western end of the narrow part of the site, covering approx. half the area of the
site. The central area of the site and its western tip lie within Flood Zone 3a. This is

Agenda Page 4



1.6

1.7

depicted in the site layout below, the white area depicts land in Flood Zone 1, the red
diagonal shaded area is Flood Zone 2 and the blue area is Flood Zone 3a.

Legend %
| Frocd Zone 36 thenctions! foodplein) |
v

! <075 fcanen

A 075135 g for Somes

7 B 135 -2 Dusger for stomy
] > 2000w for

Food Jose 33 (1ds Nov2oad) |
777 Moot lose 2 n Now2022) |-

In terms of pluvial flood risk, the dark blue areas shown on the plan below identifies
low risk of surface water flooding, the medium blue showing medium risk and the
lightest blue showing high risk. There are small areas of low and smaller areas of
medium risk towards the northern part of the site, as shown below.

An Agricultural Land Classification survey has been undertaken on the site (minus the
visibility splays) which confirms that the majority of the site (92%) is classified as Grade
3a (dark green area on map below) and a smaller proportion (8%) as Grade 3b (light
green area on map below). Grade 3a is defined by the National Planning Policy
Framework as the Best and Most Versatile land (BMV) agricultural land. In
comparison, Grade 3b is a lower grade of ‘moderate quality agricultural land.’

Agenda Page 5



1.8 In relation to heritage assets, there are some features identified in the Historic
Environment Record (HER) on the site itself which are of potential archaeological
interest.

1.9 There are also a number of designated heritage assets within nearby settlements,
including the Conservation Areas of Averham (130m to east), Upton (1.3km to south-
west) and Kelham (800m to north-east), outlined in red on the map below relative to
the application site.

1.10 Heritage assets within Averham Conservation Area comprise:

° Averham moat and enclosure - Scheduled Monument (380m to east of
application site);

° Church of St Michael - Grade | listed (720m to east of application site);

° Lyche Gate at Church of St Michael — Grade Il listed (710m to east of application
site);

° Yew Tree Cottage — Grade Il listed (435m to east of application site);

° Rectory Cottage — Grade Il listed (595m to east of application site);

° The Old Rectory — Grade Il listed (665m to east of application site);

High Grade heritage assets within Kelham Conservation Area:
° Kelham Hall — Grade | listed (1.5km to north east of application site);
° Church of St Wilfrid — Grade | listed (1.4km to north east of application site);

High Grade heritage assets within Upton Conservation Area:

° Church of St Peter and St Paul — Grade | listed (1.77km to south west of
application site);

° Upton Hall — Grade II* listed (1.88km to south west of application site);

Other Heritage Assets:
° The Manor House in Staythorpe — Grade Il listed (630m to south-west of

Agenda Page 6



1.11

1.12

1.13

1.14

application site).

There are no Public Rights of Way within the site. Averham FP6 runs on the north side
of the A617 opposite the site, (shown in black lines on the above map). Averham FP7
and FP8 is located 600m to the east, Staythorpe FP2 and FP3 700m to the south-west
and Upton FP6 750m east of the boundary with Main Road which runs up
Micklebarrow Hill on higher ground. Pingley Dyke is a watercourse that runs outside
the site, on the southern side of the eastern field as shown on the map above. There
is also a drain/open watercourse that run from west to east, along the southern
boundary of the western field and a drain that runs in a north-south direction towards
its eastern end. A drainage ditch runs between the eastern site boundary and
Staythorpe Road and an existing culvert exists to provide agricultural access in the
south-east corner of the site.

There are no international, national or local ecological or landscape designations
within the boundary or within 1km of the site. The nearest is Farndon Ponds Local
Nature Reserve, 1.8km to the south-west which includes priority deciduous woodland
habitat and large pond supporting kingfisher and common frog and designated as a
Local Wildlife Site (LWS)/ Site Interest for Nature Conservation (SINC). Other Local
Wildlife Sites near to the site include Spring Wood LWS approx. 1km to the north-west,
River Trent LWS approx. 1.1km to the south-east, Kelham Hall Shingle Bank LWS
approx. 1km to the east, Kelham Hills LWS approx. 750m to the north-east. In mineral
terms, the site is identified as being within an area of known sand and gravel deposits.

The nearest residential properties to the site are located on Hopwas Close, approx.
61m to the south-west. There are other properties found on Staythorpe Road approx
128m to the east, and The Close/Pinfold Lane 135m to the east, at the northern end
of the site.

The site has the following constraints:

- Within Flood Zones 2 (medium risk) and 3a (high risk) for fluvial flooding on the
Environment Agency Flood Maps;

Agenda Page 7



2.0

2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

- Within Grade 3a (Best and Most Versatile) Agricultural Land Classification;

- Within the setting of Heritage Assets and on site Archaeological Interest.

Relevant Planning History

22/SCR/00014 - Screening Opinion — Construction of Battery Energy Storage System
and associated infrastructure, Environmental Impact Assessment not required.

Partly on this application site and on adjoining land:

23/00810/FULM - Laying of an underground cable run linking Battery Energy Storage
System to Grid Connection Point at Staythorpe Substation, pending consideration on
this Committee Agenda.

On land approx. 620m to the south:

22/01840/FULM - Construction of Battery Energy Storage System and associated
infrastructure, refused on 07.07.02023 for the following reason:

“The proposed development by virtue of its scale, size and design, proximity to
adjoining dwellinghouses would have a harmful visual and amenity impact that would
not be appropriately mitigated. The visual harm is exacerbated by the loss of the
ancient hedgerow along the highway required in order to facilitate highway visibility
spays. In addition, the development would result in the loss of agricultural land and it
fails to meet the sequential test for flooding as there are alternative sites within the
immediate locality at lower risk. Furthermore, there is a perceived risk to safety
resulting from potential battery fires. It is considered that the harm and risk identified
would not be outweighed by the benefits of the proposal.

The development therefore represents an unsustainable and unacceptable form of
development and is considered to be contrary to Spatial Policy 3 (Rural Areas), Core
Policy 9 (Climate Change) 4th and 5th bullet point, Core Policy 12 (Biodiversity and
Green Infrastructure 2nd bullet point [conserve biodiversity] of the Amended Core
Strategy (Adopted March 2019) and Policies DM4 (Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
Generation) points 1 and 4, DM5 (Design) points 3, 4, 5 and 9, DM8 (Development in
the Open Countryside) and DM10 (Pollution and Hazardous Materials) of the
Allocations & Development Management Development Plan Documents (July 2013), in
addition to the National Planning Policy Framework which is a material consideration.”

Following a Public Inquiry, the appeal was allowed in a decision letter dated
03.05.2024. The appeal decision is attached as a link to view on the Background Paper
listed at the end of this report. A partial award of costs was also awarded against the
Council.

On land approx. 300m to the north-east:

23/01837/FULM — Proposed ground mounted photo voltaic solar farm and battery
energy storage system with associated equipment, infrastructure, grid connection and
ancillary work — pending consideration.

Agenda Page 8



3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

The Proposal

The application seeks permission for the construction and operation of Battery Energy
Storage System (BESS), transformer/sub-station and associated infrastructure. The
development would be a temporary development on the land as all equipment would
be removed and the land restored to its former condition when the development is
decommissioned following 40 years from the date of the development being first
brought into use.

The proposed site layout can be divided into two main areas, the narrow rectangular
field on the west side and the deeper rectangular field to the east side of the site. The
western field is to be largely retained in agricultural use (7.6ha), other than the
formation of the main access to the site from Main Road in the west and an access
track running along the whole southern boundary of this field. The eastern field
accommodates the built development (approx. 6ha in area), concentrated on the
western side, running from the northern to the southern boundaries; the rows of
battery containers at the northern end and the transformers at the southern end. The
rows of battery/pcs units are approx. 36m from the northern boundary and approx.
191m from the eastern boundary at their closest points. The transformers are set
back approx. 95m from the eastern boundary of the site. A drainage pond and flood
risk compensatory storage area are situated in the south-west corner. The eastern
side accommodates an area to be retained for agricultural use (4ha) and a 28m deep
landscaping buffer that runs along the eastern and part-northern, part-southern
boundaries. Planting along the western boundary of the eastern field is a narrow band
of larger tree-lined hedgerow and woodland scrub.

To summarise, the 25ha application site area, is broadly made up of:
e 6ha of built development;

e 11.6ha of retained agricultural land;

e 7.4ha of associated works (landscape bunds; landscaping buffer; drainage
pond; compensatory flood storage area etc).

The site would be primarily accessed from Main Road to the north-west boundary
both during construction and during operation. The other access to the site would be
from Staythorpe Road in the south-east end of the site. This access point would be
used for abnormal load access (during the construction and decommissioning phases
for 6 loads only). Once those abnormal loads have been delivered, this access would
become an emergency (and agricultural use) only. This also follows the line of the
proposed underground cable installation to connect the infrastructure to the existing
sub-station (the subject of a separate application that is to be considered at the same
time as this). There is an existing field access that runs to the north onto the A617,
but this will be retained for agricultural access only, as existing.

The proposed site layout plan (see below) shows in the easternmost field:-

e 82 battery storage container units (measuring 22m x 3.5m x 4m high including
concrete stilts up to a max of 0.85m high);

e 82 associated power control system (PCS) units (measuring 6m x 2.5m x 4m

Agenda Page 9



high including concrete stilts up to a max of 0.85m high);

e laid out in rows down the site (approx. 2.5m between the sides and approx.
5m between the ends) along the western boundary;

e Substation compound comprising 4 No. 33/132kV transformers and 2 No.
132/400kV transformers, up to max 12m high, and associated high voltage
equipment with acoustic enclosures in the south-east corner.

3.6

SEENOTE 2

] p
\ > %k ‘ \
7% v \
\ “’."f \f
\  \
\ \
2 1
Y14

Ancillary Buildings/Structures comprising (typically grey but can be coloured green if
required):-

e 1 Control Building comprising welfare facilities, office and control room (up to
20m x up to 15m x up to 5m high including 0.4m high concrete plinths)

e 3 storage buildings (up to 20m x 10m x up to 5m high building including 0.4m
high concrete plinths) each with central vehicular access ramp

e 5 Water Tanks (10m in diameter x 2m high) and associated Pump Houses (up
to 3m x 3m x 3m high)

e 16 fire hydrants
e 6 Auxiliary Transformers (5.6m x 5.6m x up to 4m high)

e 1LVAC(10m x 4.3m x 5m high)

Agenda Page 10




Site fencing comprising:

o security fencing and gate — up to 2.5m high mesh fencing (finished in
green) external boundary around infrastructure, excluding
landscaping, including central agricultural land;

o palisade fencing and gate — up to 2.5m high (galvanised steel) around
compound. This would be finished in green, subject to a planning
condition;

o agricultural fence — 1.5m high wire mesh fence supported on timber
posts. Either a galvanised steel, or green finish — akin to typical
agricultural fencing, subject to a planning condition;

o agricultural gate — 1.5m high criss-cross design, galvanised steel
material;

o wooden acoustic fencing along the eastern boundary of the main
battery infrastructure; - the northernmost line of fencing is to be 2m
high but set on top of the 2m high bund;

o the southernmost line of fencing is just 4m high acoustic fencing.

39 CCTV - mounted on poles up to 5m in height positioned a min of 2m from
the security fence, around the inside of the buffer planting and compound
area;

Low level Passive Infra Red activated external lighting (but no further details
provided at this stage, but can be conditioned);

Creation of a new vehicular access point with visibility splays onto Main Road,
emergency (and agricultural) access only onto Staythorpe Road along with
temporary access for 6 abnormal loads during construction and 6 abnormal
loads during decommissioning;

Internal access tracks (including emergency only access) made up of
impermeable surfaces; Substation compound to be uncompacted stone
(beneath the three BESS islands will be permeable subbase but to be lined (to
contain firewater) and will therefore be impermeable. Remainder of
development (with no infrastructure) will remain permeable surfaces;

27 car parking spaces adjacent to the compound area and 6 car parking spaces
at the northern end of the battery containers;

Retention of 11.6ha for agricultural use;

3 landscape bunds (1 x 2m high (northernmost); 2 x 2m high (southernmost));
2m high acoustic fence on top of northernmost bund and 4m high acoustic
fence along the eastern and southern side of southernmost set of battery
containers and surface water storage basin/pond and compensatory flood
storage area in the south-west corner;

28m deep landscaping buffer of tree and hedgerow planting along the eastern
and part northern boundaries of semi-mature species; new hedgerow/tree-
lined planting along western boundary of eastern field along with new
wildflower grassland planted in the south-western corner of the site (around

Agenda Page 11



two drainage ponds) and narrow strips along southern and western
boundaries of eastern field; planting along the northernmost acoustic
bund/barrier;

e underground cabling between units.

3.7 Despite the application being submitted prior to the statutory requirement to provide
mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain, the proposed scheme has been assessed using the
statutory metric which shows that it has a predicted overall net gain of 9.22 hedgerow
units (40.94%) and 15.96 habitat units (28.09%) and no watercourse units of
Biodiversity Net Gain.

3.8 It is acknowledged that some of the infrastructure will emit intermittent noise and this
has been located to the western proportion of the site. 3 landscaped bunds (providing
visual mitigation) and acoustic fencing (providing acoustic mitigation) at a height of up
to 4m has been designed to the east and south of the rows of battery containers within
the site’s interior to provide mitigation to visual/noise sensitive receptors to residents
within the village of Averham.

3.9 To mitigate intermittent noise and visual impact from the development 3 earth bunds
are proposed within the site’s interior (shown in pink on above site plan), two
measuring 2m high with a 2m wide flat top with sloping gradients each side are
proposed adjacent to battery containers at the southern end within the site’s interior.
Stand alone acoustic barriers are also proposed within the site would be 4m high.

ACOUSTIC BARRIER

] 1:2.6 (H:V) MAX SLOPE

2.0

EG

INDICATIVE ACOUSTIC BARRIER ELEVATION INDICATIVE BUND ELEVATION

3.10 The northernmost bund would comprise a combination of both 2m high bund with 2m
high acoustic barrier sat on top, supported by a retaining wall on one side and sloping
earth on the other, as shown below.

ACOUSTIC BARRIER

RETAINING WALL | -1

[ 1:2.5 (H:V) MAX SLOPE

E.G

BUND - SEE NOTE 5
INDICATIVE ACOUSTIC BARRIER WITH BUND ELEVATION.

Agenda Page 12



3.11

3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

The submission states that a connection to the grid (via Staythorpe Substation) from
this site has been accepted with National Grid and is the subject of a separate planning
application, also being considered on this agenda. The proposed connection of this
site with the existing Staythorpe Substation comprises insulated cabling routed in
channels, concealed through shallow trenches backfilled with fine sands and
excavated materials to the original ground level at each end and cable running
underneath Staythorpe Road using horizontal directional drilling (HDD).

In order to accommodate the existing 400kV overhead powerline, buffering has been
provided in terms of development as well as height and planting proposed under the
lines as a 15m offset is required each side of the overhead wire (as shown by the grey
dashed line on the site plan above).

The submitted Construction Transport Management Plan states that the construction
phase is anticipated to take between 20-24 months. A submitted Construction
Compound Plan shows two temporary compounds, one adjacent to the A617,
together with a car parking facility and the second one closer to the eastern boundary
of the site, along with a temporary ‘laydown’ area within the retained agricultural
land.

The proposed development would store electricity as chemical energy and impart and
export electricity when required but would not generate electricity. It is anticipated
to have a storage capacity of at least 600 Megawatt-hours (MWh) of energy and power
of 300 Megawatt-peak (MWp) and enable energy to be stored and transferred into
the National Grid via Staythorpe Substation.

The agent has set out that the red line around the site includes agricultural land in
order to accommodate potential for further mitigations, should it be required, for
example, for sky lark. The residual land could continue to be used for agricultural
purposes.

The proposals have undergone a consultation with the community and local
stakeholders, as set out in the accompanying Statement of Community Involvement
by the applicant.

Documents assessed in this appraisal:

General Plans:
Site Location Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1004 Rev A)
Site Layout Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1001 Rev C)

400kV BESS Substation Layout Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1015 Rev
A)

400kV BESS Substation Elevation (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1016 Rev A)

132kV BESS Substation Layout Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1005 Rev
Q)

132kV BESS Substation Elevation (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1006 Rev B)

Agenda Page 13



Battery and PCS Unit Indicative Elevations (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-
1002 Rev B)

Control Building and Storage Building Indicative Floor Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-
ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1007 Rev A)

Control Building, Storage Building and Water Tank Indicative Elevations (Drawing No:
60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1003 Rev B)

Typical Details — Fencing, CCTV, Intercom, Auxiliary Transformer and Fire Hydrant
(Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1005 Rev A)

Typical Details — Typical Access Track (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1005
Rev C)

Indicative Acoustic Barrier and Bund Elevation (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-
GEN-1008 Rev B)

Construction Compound Indicative only (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-
1006 Rev A)

Proposed Landscape Plans:
Landscape Masterplan (Drawing No: P22-1211-EN.0003 Rev E)

Landscape Boundary Sections — Year 1 and 15 (Drawing No: P22-1211-EN.0002 —
Sheets 1 and 2 Rev A)

Landscape Masterplan — Main Road Access (Drawing No: P22-1211-EN0004 Rev E)
Proposed Highway Plans:

Main Road Access (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-SKO1 B) attached at the end of the
Construction Traffic Management Plan Rev C by Pegasus Group

Main Road Access HGV Swept Path Analysis (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-SK02 A)
Staythorpe Road Access Geometric Parameters (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-SKO5 Rev C)

Staythorpe Road Access Fire Tender Swept Path Analysis (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-
SK06 Rev C)

Staythorpe Road Access Abnormal Load Swept Path Analysis (Drawing No: P22-
1211TR-SK10 A)

Technical Documents:

Planning Statement V2 by Pegasus Group

Design and Access Statement V2 by Pegasus Group
Statement of Community Involvement V1 by Pegasus Group

Landscape and Visual Assessment (and Appendices) by Pegasus Group (as amended
by Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Addendum (Cumulative) by Pegasus Ref:
P22-1211.R0OO0 4v1) dated March 2024)

Photomontages (P22-1211_3)
Heritage Desk Based Assessment V2 by Pegasus Group
Archaeological Evaluation Report: Trial Trenching dated July 2023 by Allen

Agenda Page 14



Archaeology Ltd
Level 2 Flood Risk Assessment P01.2 by AECOM

Surface Water Management Strategy P02 by AECOM (as amended by Technical Note
— Staythorpe Surface Water Management Strategy by AECOM dated 18 Sept 2023)

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (and sensitive version) BG22.267 Rev 1 by Brindle and
Green Feb 2023

Ecological Impact Assessment Rev2 by Brindle and Green Sept 2023

Addendum to Ecological Impact Assessment by Wright Environment Ltd dated May
2024

Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment Letter (Doc Ref: 201977 dated 1 December 2023)
Biodiversity Metric 4.0 Calculation Tool by Wright Environment Ltd

Staythorpe P22-1211 Indicative Measurements Based on Landscape Masterplan Rev
E dated 23 May 2024

Arboricultural Impact Assessment Rev2 by Brindle and Green (as amended by
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report Addendum: Landscape Note by Pegasus
dated 21.05.2024)

Agricultural Land Classification Report (and Appendices) dated Feb 2023 by Land
Drainage Consultancy Ltd

Noise Impact Assessment Issue 3 dated 8 February 2024 by Environmental Noise
Solutions Ltd

Construction Traffic Management Plan Rev C by Pegasus Group

Construction Traffic Management Plan NCC Comments Tracker received 3 October
2023

Traffic Survey — ATC Site 1 West of Access

Traffic Survey — ATC Site 2 East of Access

Traffic Survey — ATC Site 3 North of Access

Traffic Survey — Visibility Splay Calculation Summary (3/10)
Visibility Splay Calculations Summary (17/10)

Response to Highway comments received November 2023
Response to Highway comments received January 2024
Fire Strategy Management Plan Rev (2) dated September 2023 by AECOM
SSE Response to NFRS comments received 20.10.2023

Fire Safety Management Plan Addendum dated 10.11.2023
SSE Response to NFRS comments received 10.11.2023

Fire Safety Statement by SSE received 7.12.2023

Email from agent sent 15.09.2023

Responses to Planning Officer Comments received 7.12.2023

Agenda Page 15



4.0

4.1

4.2

5.0

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Email from agent sent 19.01.2024
Aecom Technical Note — February 2024 Planning Responses, including

e Appendix A — Flow Path Section (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-Lay-GEN-
1015 Rev A)
e Appendices B and C are included in list of drawings above

Responses to Planning Officer Comments received 28.03.2024
Addendum to Ecological Impact Assessment (EclA) by WEL dated May 2024

Departure/Public Advertisement Procedure

Occupiers of 72 properties have been individually notified by letter. A site notice has
also been displayed near to the site and an advert has been placed in the local press.

Site visit undertaken on 19.07.2023.

Planning Policy Framework

The Development Plan

Newark and Sherwood Amended Core Strategy DPD (adopted March 2019)

Spatial Policy 1 - Settlement Hierarchy

Spatial Policy 2 - Spatial Distribution of Growth
Spatial Policy 3 — Rural Areas

Spatial Policy 7 - Sustainable Transport

Core Policy 9 - Sustainable Design

Core Policy 10 — Climate Change

Core Policy 12 — Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure
Core Policy 13 — Landscape Character

Core Policy 14 — Historic Environment

Allocations & Development Management DPD (2013)

DM4 — Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation

DMS5 — Design

DM7 — Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure

DMS8 — Development in the Open Countryside

DM9 — Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment
DM10 — Pollution and Hazardous Substances

DM12 — Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

The Draft Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD was submitted to
the Secretary of State on the 18th January 2024. This is therefore at an advanced stage
of preparation albeit the DPD is yet to be examined. There are unresolved objections
to amended versions of all the above policies emerging through that process, and so
the level of weight which those proposed new policies can be afforded is currently
limited. As such, the application has been assessed in-line with policies from the
adopted Development Plan.

Agenda Page 16


https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/media/nsdc-redesign/documents-and-images/your-council/planning-policy/local-development-framework/amended-allocations-and-development-management-dpd/Plan-Review-AADMDPD---2-Pub-Stage---Clean-Version.pdf

5.4.

5.5.

6.0

6.1.

Nottinghamshire Minerals Local Plan (2021)
Policy SP7: Minerals Safeguarding, Consultation Area and Associated Minerals
Infrastructure

Other Material Planning Considerations

J National Planning Policy Framework (NPPG) 2023

. National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) online resource

J Newark and Sherwood Landscape Character Assessment SPD, 2013

J Newark and Sherwood Non-Designated Heritage Asset Criteria, 2021

] Newark Sherwood District Council’s Climate Emergency 2019

J Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

. Commercial Renewable Energy Development and the Historic Environment
Historic England Advice Note 15 (February 2021)

J The Setting of Heritage Assets -Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in
Planning: 3 (2nd Edition)

J Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended

J Natural Environment and Rural Communities (2006) Act

J The Climate Change Act 2008

J The Clean Growth Strategy 2017

. Energy White Paper 2020

. The Environment Act 2021

. The Net Zero Strategy: Build Back Greener 2021

J UK Government Policy Paper - British Energy Security Strategy April 2022

o Energy Act 2013

. National Grid — Future Energy Scenarios (2022)

J Health and Safety Guidance for Grid Scale Electrical Energy Storage Systems,
Department for Energy Security and Net Zero, March 2024

° Written Ministerial Statement ‘Solar and protecting our Food Security and Best

and Most Versatile (BMV) Land’ - 15t May 2024

Consultations and Representations

Please Note: Comments below are provided in summary - for comments in full please
see the online planning file.

Statutory Consultations

Nottinghamshire County Council (Highways) — No objection, subject to conditions
relating to survey of Main Road to be undertaken prior to commencement of the
development, measures to reduce mud and debris from being deposited on the
highway, development shall not commence until the Main Road access has been
provided, visibility splays to be provided, temporary car park for operatives shall be
provided prior to commencement of development, the Staythorpe Road access shall
be used only by Abnormal Load vehicles, escorting vehicles, emergency services and
agricultural vehicles associated with continued farming use and the gates be closed at
all other times, the Staythorpe Road access shall not be used for abnormal load
deliveries until a comprehensive abnormal loading delivery plan (including temporary

Agenda Page 17



6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

6.5.

6.6.

6.7.

signage to indicate construction traffic routing has been provided etc) has been
submitted and.

Highways England - No objection, recommend that an informative be attached to
request the developer to consult with the A46 Newark By-Pass Team in the event that
their detailed plans incorporate new or diverted services with the verges of the A617,
to ensure the impacts to the A46 Newark Bypass scheme proposals for the flood
compensation area are taken into consideration.

Nottinghamshire Lead Local Flood Authority - No objection, subject to a condition,
requiring a detailed surface water drainage scheme to be submitted and approved.

Environment Agency — No objection, subject to conditions requiring level for level
floodplain compensation to be provided in accordance with details to be submitted,
and the development is carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk
Assessment, requiring all battery and units within the flood extent be raised on
concrete plinths to 300mm above modelled flood depths and compensatory storage
shall be provided on a level-for-level basis, as outlined in the Flood Risk Assessment.

Historic England — No advice offered, seek the views of the Council’s specialist
conservation and archaeological advisers, as relevant.

Natural England - No objection — no significant adverse impacts would result on
statutorily protected nature conservation sites or landscapes. Generic advice offered
on other natural environment issues set out at Annex A.

Town/Parish Council

Averham, Kelham and Staythorpe Parish Council (Host) — Object on following
grounds:-

e Noise — the submitted Noise Assessment is considered to be inaccurate for a
number of reasons (not recorded or presented the prevailing conditions when
the surveys were carried out and these surveys were carried out over an
extremely limited timeframe and equipment models of development have not
yet been confirmed, so emitted levels have been assumed and reduced by a
factor of 10 for reasons not stated). Furthermore, the planting of hedgerows
and trees do not reduce generated noise from such development and which
will be deciduous and therefore would have no effect for 5 months of the year;

e Road Safety — Traffic survey has not been carried out on Staythorpe Road
access point from the blind side of right hand oblique bend onto a 50mph road
with little visibility, which would be exacerbated more within construction
phase. These hazards have not been taken into account;

e Localised Flooding — on land at high risk of flooding likely to lead to increased
flooding to neighbouring properties and needs to pass the Sequential Test;

e Fire and Environmental Damage — development represents a large and
unmanageable fire risk due to unstable nature and composition of batteries to
be used. The Safety Management Plan seems wholly inadequate and appears
to ignore the Allianz Risk Consulting recommendations in certain instances.
Fires could not be extinguished and hazardous chemicals within the batteries

Agenda Page 18



6.8.

6.9.

6.10.

6.11.

would pollute land, watercourses and gases into the air, which would then
following prevailing winds from the south-west toxic gases would be blown
over the surrounding villages of Averham, Kelham and Staythorpe as well as
Newark Town and further afield. By approving the development NSDC would
be accepting liability for claims and damages that would arise;

Planning policy and national framework — the proposal contradicts several
planning policies and would not result in a sustainable or environmentally
aware development. There is a favourable view towards brownfield sites,
thereby minimising impact on fertile land (and need for food security) and
natural ecosystems and reduce urban sprawl. It would be contrary to CP13,
CP9, SP3 and DM8 and the NPPF. Dismissive of cumulative effects with similar
proposal at Staythorpe (22/01840/FULM) from noise, traffic, air pollution,
impact on rural landscape, and flood plain;

Light Pollution — limited reference is made but the impact would be significant
if site lit 365 days a year and in hours of darkness, which will directly impact
Averham and Staythorpe and no assessment has been completed;

Size and Proximity of development is of primary concern and distance from
dwellings;

Sustainability — the development is not a source of renewable energy, but
stores it and given proximity to Staythorpe Gas Powered Station is more likely
to manage electricity generated from non-renewable sources.

Upton Parish Council (neighbouring parish) — Object on the following grounds:-

Land Quality — land is too useful to loose as agricultural land;

Conservation Area — site is too close to Upton Conservation Area which will
suffer directly as a result;

Highways and Transport — proposed access off Main Street is too close to the
junction with the S617 and will need to vehicle restriction overridden;

Noise — the noise generated by the plant will have an adverse affect on
livestock in the vicinity;

Fire — No substantive evidence has been put forward to alleviate the issue of
lithium batteries and their associated risk from combustion;

Lighting — insufficient consideration have been given to issues associated with
lighting pollution.

Representations/Non-Statutory Consultation
Cadent — No objection, but informative note required.

National Gas Transmission — The area is outside the High Risk zone from National
Gas Tranmission plc’s apparatus and can proceed.

Trent Valley Internal Drainage Board — the Board maintains Pingley and Car Dyke, an
open watercourse to the south of the site and other general comments made in
relation to when the Board’s consent is required.

Agenda Page 19



6.12.

6.13.

6.14.

6.15.

6.16.

6.17.

6.18.

6.19.

6.20.

6.21.

NCC, Policy — Policy SP7 of the Minerals Local Plan has been satisfied. Due to the
limited land take for the scheme and its temporary nature, any mineral resource
present within the site will no be needlessly sterilized or pose a serious hinderance to
future extraction in the area.

NSDC, Conservation — The proposal would negatively impact the rural and agricultural
character and likely result in moderate levels of harm to the setting of Averham and
Kelham Conservation Areas and very minor harm to the setting of Upton Conservation
Area. The harm would be less than substantial, and it will be for the decision maker
to determine whether any public benefits balance or outweigh the heritage harm
identified.

NSDC, Archaeology Consultant — No objection, subject to conditions. The site isin an
area of high archaeological potential associated with pre-historic and Roman
settlement activity. A trial trench evaluation has been carried out. There is one small
area of archaeological sensitivity which should be subject to further mitigation work
comprising either avoidance or excavation. This is focused around trench 53 in the
southern part of the site. This can be dealt with by condition.

NSDC, Tree and Landscape Officer — Insufficient information on Landscape
Masterplan showing proposed mitigation planting, further information is required to
establish whether the hedgerow to be removed is “Important,” (Hedgerow
Regulations 1997), use of the word “trimming” in relation to cutting back of H8 and
trees is not defined and therefore impact unknown and please confirm whether the
submitted ‘Landscape Note’ supersedes the Arboricultural Report.

NSDC, Biodiversity and Ecology Lead Officer — No Objection, subject to a condition
requiring a Biodiversity Management Plan (or Landscape and Environmental
Management Plan) which must be supported by final BNG calculations and plans, to
include two skylark plots within the 6.5ha of retained cropland within the red line site,
the proposal will be able to deliver an acceptable level of measurable net gain which
would meet the guidance within the NPPF in relation to biodiversity and accord with
CP12 of the Amended Core Strategy. A condition for a Construction and Environment
Management Plan is also recommended.

NSDC, Environmental Health — No objection, | have reviewed the amended acoustic
report and technical note in relation to the provision of a culvert below the acoustic
barrier proposed. The report indicates that resultant noise levels at nearby receptors
will not have an adverse impact.

NSDC, Environmental Health - Contaminated Land — No observations.
NSDC, Emergency Planner — No comments received.

NCC, Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service — No objection in principle, subject to
a condition requiring precise details to be submitted and approved.

Comments have been received from 151 third parties/local residents (including one
from the Hopwas Close Residents’ Association) that can be summarised as follows:

Agenda Page 20



Contrary to NPPF and Local Planning Policy Documents;

Loss of very good grade agricultural land

Inappropriate site selection and limited size of search radius;

Unreasonable close proximity of large scale industrial development to residential
properties;

Adverse visual impact of a large scale industrial development on several rural
communities and road users;

Existing landscaping does not screen the site due to the loss of leaves in winter — the
plans do not show mature evergreen trees, which would be essential for screening
purposes;

Loss of landscape character (create and conserve) and the rural nature of the local
area;

Increased risk of localised flooding;

Serious risk of fire, consequential release of toxic fumes and the pollution of land, air
and watercourses;

Risks to road safety from increased traffic volume, noise and pollution, particularly if
a number of local large scale proposals occur simultaneously;

Duty to protect the local Conservation Areas, Heritage Assets and significant
architectural buildings;

Loss of good and moderate grade agricultural land, classified as 3a and 3b when we
should be producing more food at home and reducing imports and carbon footprint;
Exposure to excessive operational noise, particularly at night;

Exposure to light pollution;

Loss of rural character and increased safety risks to users of the Public Right of Way
and would ruin the enjoyment of the footpath;

Ecological and environmental impacts on bats, great crested newts, otters, deer,
badgers and red list birds such as Sky Larks;

Risk to public safety through genuine fear of crime and apprehension over anti-social
behaviour, including theft, fly tipping and potential terrorist target;

Unknown mental health and well-being implications;

Unknown health implications associated with the exposure to electro magnetic fields,
especially to those having received radiotherapy treatment and those with
pacemakers;

On site capacity to extend the battery storage site currently proposed;

Non compliance with the Environmental Stewardship which the land is currently part
of;

Previously refused planning applications in the locality on the basis of it being open
countryside and being in a flood zone;

Flood water would be diverted elsewhere and cause danger to local villagers and could
undermine A46 project;

Cumulative effect of numerous proposed developments in very close vicinity;

Lack of known risks on a site this size and scale during construction, operational life
and period of de-commissioning;

Human and environmental costs associated with the extraction of base materials;
Not a wholly green energy project;

To date the largest BESS development in the UK is 150MW, no large scale BESS
developments (150-1000MW) have been built, so none are in operation and so no
evidence to prove the viability of such a site particularly when it is so close to several

Agenda Page 21



7.0

7.1.

rural communities and residential properties;

The size, scale and nature is disproportionate and justifiably inappropriate and would
result in an overbearing intrusive large scale industrial development in this rural
location;

Unknown impacts from this unproven technology, there are too many clear and
demonstrable significant adverse impacts on the local area, its residents and wider
community;

Even with mitigation measures in place the adverse impacts of this proposal still
significantly outweigh the potential benefits of siting a new substation and battery
energy storage system in Staythorpe;

Planning permission was refused a few years ago for a new dwelling on land just
opposite the site and it was refused on grounds of being in the open countryside, that
the site access fell into Flood Zone 3 and there were other sites available within the
District in Flood Zone 1 — the BESS should be refused for the same reasons;

The Sequential Test should be applied on a much larger area and there is land at lower
risk of flooding nearby therefore the ST is failed;

Proposal fails the Exception Test as any wider sustainability benefits would need to
take into account the energy used to mine the battery materials, the energy used in
the manufacture of the batteries, the metal containers and energy used to transport
materials to the site and energy used in the construction and operation of the facility;
No safe access or egress would be possible as the access road would flood to a depth
of 0.8m, unsafe for any person to access on foot or in a vehicle;

If public concern of fire safety is based upon genuine fear or apprehension, based on
published research, it is a legitimate material planning consideration that must be
weighed in the balance;

Lithium does not need oxygen to burn and during a flood event, there would be no
safe access to the site by emergency services;

Significant impact on quality of life, health and financial well-being which is not
reasonable;

Impact on potential market values and re-selling of properties.

Comments of the Business Manager — Planning Development

The key issues are:

Principle of Development
Renewable Energy
Site Selection
Effect on the stock of Agricultural Land
Impact on Flood Risk
a.  Surface Water Drainage
Foul water Drainage
Fluvial Flooding
Sequential Test
. Exception Test
Landscape Character and Visual Impacts
a. lLandscape Character
b.  Visual Impact (including impacts on Public Rights of Way)

uhwWwnNeE

© oo o

o

Agenda Page 22



7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

7. Impact on Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees
a.  Survey Results and Mitigation
b. Biodiversity Net Gain
C. Trees
8. Impact on Heritage Assets
9. Impact on Archaeology
10. Impact upon Residential Amenity
11. Impact upon Highway Safety
12. Other Matters
Cumulative Impacts
Length of Temporary Consent
Minerals
Health, Safety, Fire Risk and Pollution

oo oo

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) promotes the principle of a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and recognises the duty under the
Planning Acts for planning applications to be determined in accordance with the
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise, in accordance
with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The NPPF
refers to the presumption in favour of sustainable development being at the heart of
development and sees sustainable development as a golden thread running through
both plan making and decision taking. This is confirmed at the development plan level
under Policy DM12 ‘Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development’ of the
Allocations and Development Management DPD.

As the application concerns designated heritage assets of nearby listed buildings,
section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the
‘Act’) is particularly relevant. Section 66 outlines the general duty in exercise of
planning functions in respect to listed buildings stating that the decision maker “shall
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”

The duty in .66 of the Listed Buildings Act does not allow a local planning authority to
treat the desirability of preserving the settings of listed buildings as a mere material
consideration to which it can simply attach such weight as it sees fit. When an
authority finds that a proposed development would harm the setting of a listed
building, it must give that harm considerable importance and weight.

Principle of Development

Paragraph 157 of the NPPF states that the planning system should support the
transition to a allow carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood
risk and that it should help to shape places in ways that contribute to radical
reductions in greenhouses gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve
resilience, encourage the re-use of existing resources, including the conversion of
existing buildings and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated
infrastructure.

Agenda Page 23



7.6.

7.7.

7.8.

7.9.

The site is located within the open countryside. Spatial Policy 3 states that the rural
economy will be supported by encouraging tourism, rural diversification and by
supporting appropriate agricultural development and that the countryside will be
protected and schemes to enhance heritage assets, to increase biodiversity, enhance
the landscape and increase woodland cover will be encouraged. Development in the
open countryside will be strictly controlled and restricted to uses which require a rural
setting.

Policy DM8 of the ADMDPD is silent on the appropriateness of renewable energy in
the open countryside but provides support for rural diversification projects which
should be complimentary and proportionate to the existing business in their scale and
nature. However, the main Development Plan policy considerations for this type of
development are set out within Core Policy 10 and Policy DM4. The District Council’s
commitment to tackling climate change is set out in Core Policy 10 which states that
the Council is committed to tackling the causes and impacts of climate change and to
delivering a reduction in the District’s carbon footprint. This provides that the Council
will promote the provision of renewable and low carbon energy generation within
new development. Although the reference is specifically to energy ‘generation’ and
this development would not generate energy, the proposal nevertheless allows a
greater capacity of use of energy generated by these sources through storage. Core
Policy 10 then signposts to Policy DM4 which states that permission shall be granted
for renewable energy generation development, as both standalone projects and part
of other development, and its associated infrastructure where its benefits are not
outweighed by detrimental impact from the operation and maintenance of the
development and through the installation process upon various listed criteria. The
criteria include landscape character from the individual or cumulative impact of the
proposals, heritage assets and their setting, amenity including noise pollution,
highway safety and ecology of the local and wider area.

This approach is also echoed by the NPPF which states in para 163 that ‘when
determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon development, local
planning authorities should:

a. Not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low
carbon energy, and recognise that even small scale projects provide a valuable
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions;

b. approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable;...”’

In determining this application, it is necessary to balance the strong policy
presumption in favour of applications for renewable technologies against the
environmental impact. The wider social and economic benefits of the proposal are
also material considerations to be given significant weight in this decision, as set out
in para 8 of the NPPF. The Planning Practice Guidance states that electricity storage in
Battery Energy Storage Systems can enable us to use energy more flexibly and re-
carbonise our energy system cost-effectively — for example by helping to balance the
system at a lower cost, maximising the usable output from intermittent low carbon
generation (eg solar, wind), and deferring or avoid the need for costly network
upgrades and new generation capacity. The PPG goes on to state that where planning
permission is being sought for development of battery energy storage systems of 1

Agenda Page 24



7.10.

7.11.

7.12

7.13

7.14

7.15

MWh or over, the local planning authority are encouraged to consult with their local
fire and rescue service prior to deciding the planning application, so that their views
for potential mitigations which could be put in place in the event of an incident, can
be taken into account when determining the application.

Given the nature and scale of battery storage, it is inevitable that such development
will have impacts, particularly if sited in rural areas. In this context, national and
development plan policy adopts a positive approach indicating that development will
be approved where the harm would be outweighed by the benefits of a scheme.

The PPG states that whilst local authorities should design their policies to maximise
renewable and low carbon energy, there is no quota which the Local Plan has to
deliver.

Renewable Energy

The Government recognises that climate change is happening through increased
greenhouse gas emissions, and that action is required to mitigate its effects. One
action being promoted is a significant boost to energy produced by renewable energy
generation. The Climate Change Act 2008, as amended sets a legally binding target to
reduce net greenhouse gas emissions to Net Zero by 2050. The Clean Growth Strategy
2017 anticipates that the 2050 targets require, amongst other things, a diverse
electricity system based on the growth of renewable energy sources. The December
2020 Energy White Paper states that setting a net zero target is not enough, it must
be achieved through a change in how energy is produced. The Net Zero Strategy: Build
Back Greener published in October 2021 explains that subject to security of supply,
the UK will be powered entirely by clean electricity through, amongst other things, the
accelerated deployment of low-cost renewable generation.

More recently, the Government published the British Energy Security Strategy in April
2022 outlining the need for a decarbonised and secure energy supply. It sets out the
essential role renewables play in reducing exposure to volatile fossil fuel markets,
limiting the UK’s reliance on imports, and consequently reducing the cost of consumer
energy bills. Specific to electricity generation, the Strategy highlights that by 2030,
95% of electricity could be low-carbon and by 2035, the UK will have a decarbonised
electricity system, subject to security of supply.

Newark and Sherwood District Council declared a climate emergency in 2019 and
recognises the urgency and significance of its environmental ambitions, for both the
Council and the wider District. As such the Council has published a Climate Emergency
Strategy, as part of carbon management and reducing its footprint. Therefore, the
Council takes the matter of improving carbon emission schemes seriously and both
the Council and Central Government see this as part of ongoing agenda priorities.

The submitted Planning Statement sets out that the proportion of energy supplied
from renewable sources is rapidly increasing and since the amount of energy
generated from such sources is dependent on weather conditions, renewable
technologies are highly intermittent. Typically, peak production times from sources
such as solar (mid-day) and wind (at night) do not correspond with times of peak

Agenda Page 25



7.16

7.17

7.18

7.19

consumption. As such there is a growing demand from network operators for a broad
range of services such as energy storage, to balance supply and demand in order to
prevent shortages and blackouts, as experienced in the south-east of England and
Wales in August 2019. It has also been recognised since the commencement of the
war in Ukraine that the UK should seek to be more self-sufficient in its energy supplies
to improve its energy security.

The Design and Access Statement states that through its good design, the proposals
can be delivered in a sustainable manner to meet local and national objectives of
addressing climate change, energy security, biodiversity enhancement and a
prosperous rural economy.

The purpose of the proposed development would be to support the flexible operation
of the Grid and the decarbonisation of the electricity supply by storing surplus energy,
produced by renewable sources, for use when it is most needed. A BESS would
balance peaks and troughs in energy generation without any greenhouse gas
emissions and provide rapid-response electrical back-up, thereby ensuring that the
electricity produced can be used efficiently and be provided to consumers at the
lowest possible cost. When winds are high at night and demand for electricity is low,
instead of that energy going to waste and being lost as currently, it can be transferred
to a BESS and be stored and then provide additional electricity supplies to the grid
when demands are high.

Battery Energy Storage Systems (BESS) and associated works are a key component in
seeking to achieve a low carbon energy system. The batteries can store energy being
generated across the UK’s energy network by renewables, such as solar and wind
farms, when demand is low, so that it is not wasted. This stored energy can then be
discharged to balance the energy network when demand is high. The supporting
information states that the batteries produce no emissions or pollution during normal
operations and are considered to be a low carbon enabling technology.

The Planning Statement sets out that BESS are key enablers necessary for our Net Zero
future and our security of supply. The Statement sets out the following key points:-

Renewable Energy Storage and a more balanced grid — ability to shift demand at
appropriate times and the better integration of renewable energy into the electricity
system.

Valuable Resource — Conventional generators can only supply power, whereas energy
storage can both charge and discharge power and are completely flexible around the
time of charge and discharge. This means it can provide double the resources and
essentially twice the value to the National Grid for the same installed capacity.
Environment and Health — BESS help displace carbon-heavy generators traditionally
used. Displacing CO2 has environmental and health benefits as burning fossil fuels
release pollutants into the air.

Security of Supply — BESS’ fast and dependable response reduces exposure of the
electricity system to black outs and increases security of supply.

Cost savings for energy users — BESS deployment will allow for lower energy costs.
Storing energy from low cost, intermittent renewables for use later, maximises the
energy use from sources.

Agenda Page 26



7.20

7.21

7.22

7.23

7.24

Farm Diversification — to provide a more secure long term sustainable source of
income for farmers.

Site Selection

In terms of site selection, the submission indicates that the ability to connect to a
suitable and viable point of connection is the defining factor in the location of energy
storage facilities.

There are around 180, 400kV substations across Britain and there are 6 in
Nottinghamshire — West Burton, Cottam, High Marnham, Ratcliffe on Soar, Staythorpe
and Stoke Bardolph and the latter two are located within flood zones. Further
justification was requested on the need for this site at Staythorpe in a flood zone area,
and not elsewhere. The applicant has set out that BESS developments are needed
(and planned) at all substations in Nottinghamshire and everywhere in the UK to fulfil
the Energy Security Strategy 2022. Four of the other substations have no connection
capacity before 2033 as they are already committed to substantial generation and
storage projects and furthermore, they have contracted for this particular substation
as capacity has been identified here and they have been successful with their grid
connection application.

Staythorpe Substation (Grid Supply Point, GSP) features 4 x 400kV transmission
circuits and is part of the historic ‘megawatt valley’ area of electricity generation.
Centrally located, Staythorpe substation is connected to four transmission lines and
covers a wide geographic area and is therefore strategically important.
Decommissioning of coal/gas power stations has created available connection
capacity. The ideal geography, meshed configuration and high wider system power
flows greatly benefits any flexible storage scheme.

In terms of site selection, the Planning Statement sets out that energy storage projects
need to be sited in locations where there can be a cost effective and technically viable
connection into the National Grid’s transmission infrastructure, accommodating both
the import (for charging) and export of electricity at the level which can be provided
by the proposed storage facility. By connecting to the Staythorpe Substation wider
works on the networks are avoided and the diversity of constraint management
services that can be provided to National Grid are minimised. Short connection routes
are highly desirable, ensuring efficiency and speed of transmission when required. As
such, sites close to the Staythorpe Substation are most suited and this site meets the
optimum requirements. The Planning Statement states “In order to identify potential
locations for the proposed development within the Site Search Area (which is
considered to be 1km from the Staythorpe substation), matters below have been
considered.” The principle of such an approach was not criticised by the Inspector in
the recent Public Inquiry on the site to the south.

The Planning Statement states that the site selection process identified the proposed
site for the following reasons:
e The site is of an appropriate size to consider and provide for the proposed
development, whilst mitigating its environmental effects;

Agenda Page 27



7.25

7.26

7.27

7.28

e The site is predominantly located within an area of Flood Zone 1 and the most
‘high risk’ substation infrastructure can be located within this area.
Development of battery storage can be sited, mitigated appropriately and safely
as detailed within the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA);

e The site is located adjacent to the existing Staythorpe Substation and a
connection can be made across Staythorpe Road in order to access the Grid
network;

e The land comprises Grade 3a and 3b agricultural land, a lower designation than
prescribed on the Natural England Provisional Agricultural Land Classification
Maps, which identified it as Grade 2;

e Emergency access has been sited to the south onto Staythorpe Road within
Flood Zone 1 meaning that safe means of escape can be achieved on the site in
emergencies.

In seeking to further justify the choice of this particular site above any other nearby
site, the applicant has applied Sequential Testing both in terms of the quality of
agricultural land and flood risk to this application site. A search distance of 1.5km
from the existing substation has therefore been applied.

Effect on the stock of Agricultural Land

Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states planning decisions should contribute to and enhance
the natural and local environment by, amongst other things, recognising the intrinsic
character and beauty of the countryside and the wider benefits from natural capital
and ecosystem services — including the economic and other benefits of the best and
most versatile agricultural land and of trees and woodland. The footnote to paragraph
181 of the NPPF states that where significant development of agricultural land is
demonstrated to be necessary, areas of poorer quality land should be preferred to
those of a higher quality. It goes on to state that the availability of agricultural land
used for food production should be considered, alongside the other policies in this
Framework, when deciding what sites are most appropriate for development.

The most relevant Planning Practice Guidance is the ‘Guide to assessing development
proposals on agricultural land’ which states that the policies to protect agricultural
land and soil ‘aim to protect the best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land and
soils in England from significant, inappropriate or unsustainable development
proposals.” It emphasises the role of Natural England as the statutory consultee in
assessing the likely long term significant effects of development proposal on these
resources. Section 6 of this part of the PPG states that site surveys of land should be
used to: ‘assess the loss of land or quality of land from a proposed development. You
should take account of smaller losses (under 20 ha) if they’re significant when making
your decision. Your decision should avoid unnecessary loss of BMV land.’

A Written Ministerial Statement was made on 15 May 2024 entitled ‘Solar and
protecting our Food Security and Best and Most Versatile (BMV) Land.” The
Government released this statement due to their concern that as large solar
development proceeds at pace, more of our ‘Best and Most Versatile’ (BMV) land
could be used for solar instead of food production and it sets out the Government’s
policy on balancing these competing priorities is intended to be applied. It states that

Agenda Page 28



7.29

7.30

7.31

“For all applicants the highest quality agricultural land is least appropriate for solar
development and as the land grade increases, there is a greater onus on developers to
show that the use of higher quality land is necessary.” So greater weight should be
attached to the loss of Grade 1 land (highest quality), lesser weight to the loss of Grade
2 and lesser weight to the loss of Grade 3a and the Statement observes that “there is
a greater onus on developers to show that the use of higher quality land is necessary.”.
It also refers to the need to consider cumulative impacts. Whilst this is not a solar
scheme, the principle is similar with BESS developments, although solar schemes do
not have the same locational constraints, in that solar development do not need to
consider proximity to substations that feed into the National Grid in their locational
siting. Grade 3a is at the lower end of Best and Most Versatile land.

Policy DM4 is silent on the loss of best and most versatile agricultural land. Policy DM8
seeks a sequential approach in respect to the loss of the most versatile areas of
agricultural land and requires proposal that cause the loss of such land to demonstrate
environmental or community benefits that outweigh the land loss. The Inspector at
the recent Public Inquiry concluded that “This approach does not accord with the
national policy as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. Moreover, it is
unclear as to whether the section on agricultural land within Policy DM8 is intended to
apply to categories of development such as renewable energy that are not referred to
in that policy. The most relevant policy to the appeal scheme is Policy DM4 which
allows for renewable energy schemes subject to certain criteria and does not refer to
agricultural land quality as a criterion. But whatever the intention of Policy DMS, it is
relevant to consider the effect on agricultural land; the National Planning Policy
Framework seeks to protect soils and recognises the benefits derived from natural
capital, including the best and most versatile agricultural land.”

The Agricultural Land Classification Maps define agricultural land quality as being
Grade 1-5 (1 being Excellent’ and 5 Very Poor). The NPPF defines ‘Best and most
versatile agricultural land as being land in Grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land
Classification.

The application has been supported by an Agricultural Land Classification Report (and
Appendices) dated Feb 2023 by Land Drainage Consultancy Ltd, qualified experts in
this field. Natural England’s ALC Map shows the site to be located within an area
identified as Grade 3 land — which is good to moderate quality agricultural land.
Whether the site is Grade 3a — good quality or Grade3b — moderate quality can only
be determined by site and soil examination. The submitted report confirms that the
fields were all in grassland used for conservation and grazing. It identifies that of the
25 ha of agricultural land within the site, 23ha (92%) is of Grade 3a, BMV status and
2ha (8%) is of 3b, moderate quality. A further 11.6ha of land will be retained within
the site area with potential for agricultural use. The quantum of BMV land lost within
the development will therefore be approx. 11.4ha, just under half of the total 23ha of
Grade 3a not being kept within agricultural use (therefore below the 20ha threshold
of consideration by Natural England).

Agenda Page 29



xeY

AGRCULTURAL LAND CLASSIICATION PLAN

PEGASUS
GROUP

Agricultural Land Classification Map

7.32 Thesite layout plan identifies that not of all the site would be developed as some area
within the red line site would be retained for agricultural use. So a proportion (11.6ha)
of land within the red line (which is Grade 3a- BMV land) would continue to be used
for agricultural purposes. The proposal would therefore result in a loss of 12.6ha of
Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land.

7.33 In terms of applying the Sequential Test, the submitted Planning Statement sets out
the following:

“A number of sites within the vicinity of Staythorpe substation were identified by the
applicant and considered for the siting of the proposed development. These land
parcels are located within the flood zone and discounted on the basis of a readily
available, predominately on flood zone site being available (is the application site). In
summary, the application site is considered to be the most preferable location for
development at this time and when having regard to the relevant matters set out
below and was therefore progressed to a planning application. The reasons are as
follows:

e The application site allows for a viable construction to the Electricity Network
by connecting to the existing Staythorpe Substation.

e The site is predominantly located within Flood Zone 1.

e The land owner is willing to enter into an agreement to promote the land for
an energy storage development and the application site is available to
accommodate this development.

Agenda Page 30



7.34

7.35

7.36

7.37

7.38

e This application site has been subject to a detailed Agricultural Land
Classification study which confirms that site comprises 92% Grade 3a and 8%
Grade 3b land. It is acknowledged that the site is predominantly Grade 3a and
therefore comprises best and most versatile (BMV) land. It is however
considered that the significant environmental benefits and location to a viable
grid connection outweigh the loss of land.

The specific land take and land characteristics guiding a battery energy storage
development makes the application site the best and most viable site within the search
area. It is considered that there are no alternatives that are more sequentially
favourable, notably in respect of flood risk. Key to the suitability and viability is grid
access. The site is located adjacent to the National Grid Staythorpe Substation
providing the main point of connection. There are no brownfield sites available that
can accommodate the proposal.”

The Inspector’s decision letter from the recent Public Inquiry states that the Council
argued “that since the general land classification does not distinguish between Grade
3a and 3b, intrusive samples of a wider spread of sites should have to be carried out to
find out whether there are sites with a greater proportion of lower agricultural quality
in the area. But — and notwithstanding other appeal decisions referred to by the
Council — to insist on a widespread exercise of this sort on land not in control of the
appellant would be impractical and unreasonable and would be entirely
disproportionate given the small proportion of Grade 3a land that would be lost on the
appeal site. In any case, the additional data that has been collected from the detailed
surveys of PDAs 4, 5, 16 and 18 shows that it is unlikely that other possible sites would
be better in this respect, even leaving aside their other constraints.”

The appeal site represented a loss of 2.4ha of BMV land. This site represents a loss of
12.6ha of BMV land. A rather limited and very general Sequential Test has been
carried out within the submitted Planning Statement above which seeks to
demonstrate that this site is sequentially preferable in this regard.

The Planning Statement states that it should not be considered that the presence of
BMV land should be a predominant factor in determining the suitability of site
selection and that this should be considered on balance with all benefits arising from
the scheme.

The Inspector in their decision went on to acknowledge that the BESS would be
decommissioned after 40 years and the land restored and the scheme demonstrates
clear environmental benefits in terms of improved biodiversity and community
benefits in supporting the transition to low carbon energy generation. In conclusion
they determined that the loss of a small amount of Grade 3a agricultural land (2.4ha)
during the lifetime of the development would not represent a significant loss in the
stock of agricultural land and does not constitute a sound reason for dismissing the
appeal.

However, in this case, the application would result in a loss of a larger amount of Grade
3a land (12.6ha) and the limited Sequential Testing carried out to demonstrate that
the development could not be located on a lower grade of agricultural land weighs

Agenda Page 31



7.39

7.40

7.41

7.42

7.43

against the proposal (were this latter part of Policy DM8 deemed to be applicable to
this application). However, this negative weight is considered to be tempered by the
fact that the loss would be for a temporary period of 40 years when land would be
returned to agricultural use and that the scheme demonstrates clear environmental
benefits in terms of improved biodiversity and community benefits in supporting the
transition to low carbon energy generation that could be considered to outweigh the
land loss, in line with the wording of Policy DM8. This factor is therefore reduced to
moderate negative harm against the proposal in the overall planning balance, as
discussed at the end of this report.

Impact on Flood Risk

Core Policy 9 and Policy DM5 require that proposals pro-actively manage surface
water and Core Policy 10 and Policy DM5 seek to mitigate the impacts of climate
change through ensuring that new development proposals take into account the need
to reduce the causes and impacts of climate change and flood risk. Policy DM4 is silent
on flood risk.

Paragraph 157 of the NPPF states that the planning system should support the
transition to a low carbon future, in a changing climate, taking full account of flood
risk and that it should support renewable and low carbon energy and associated
infrastructure. When determining planning application for renewable and low carbon
development, para 163 states, local planning authorities should:

a) Notrequire applicants to demonstrate overall need for renewable or low
carbon energy, and recognise that even small scale projects provide a
valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and

b)  Approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable.

The NPPF, Core Policy 10 and DMS5 states that inappropriate development in areas at
risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at
highest risk, but where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing
flood risk elsewhere as set out in the application of the Sequential and Exception Tests.

Annex 3 (Flood risk vulnerability classification) of the NPPF identifies that essential
infrastructure includes “essential utility infrastructure which has to be located in a
flood risk area for operational reasons, including infrastructure for electricity supply
including generation, storage and distributions systems; including electricity
generating power stations, grid and primary substations storage; and water treatment
works that need to remain operational in times of flood.” At the recent Public Inquiry,
the Inspector accepted that this type of development would fall within the definition
of essential infrastructure.

A Level 2 Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted with the application which
identifies that the site has a negligible risk of flooding from surface water,
groundwater, reservoirs, underground services and utilities, flood defence failure or
artificial watercourses.

Surface Water Drainage

Agenda Page 32



7.44

7.45

7.46

7.47

7.48

A Surface Water Management Strategy together with a later Technical Note have also
been submitted. Land having a 1% or greater annual probability of surface water
flooding is limited in nature on the site and appears at the point of lowest elevation
close to the boundary with the A617 and the main access from Main Road. The
development will maintain existing overland flow paths and provide appropriate
sustainable drainage systems (SUDS) as detailed in the Surface Water Management
Strategy to manage any increase in surface water run-off and provide treatment to
these flows.

Access tracks would not be raised above existing ground levels and would therefore
not affect flow routes nor require compensatory storage, however, the access tracks
are to be impermeable and therefore surface water need to be stored and treated
within the SUDS. The access tracks and substation would drain into the SUDS
infrastructure; this would then terminate within the development at the attenuation
pond in the west of the site before a controlled discharge at the appropriate green
field rate into the field drain that runs along the western boundary of the site which
would then feed into Pingley Dyke, via an existing 350mm drain that runs under the
farm track. The controlled discharge would actively manage any increase in surface
water run-off.

However, it has been acknowledged in the later submission of the Technical Note
Addendum to the Surface Water Management Strategy that in the event of a fire
incident, the areas accommodating the battery containers could no longer be fully
permeable, but would be lined with an impermeable membrane (which would have a
penstock release value), in order to contain and isolate any potential contaminants
within the fire suppressing water run-off and prevent contamination of underlying
soils, ground and surface water. Any firewater runoff from the BESS containers would
represent contaminated water. The final drainage solution would be confirmed and
modelling by the final contractor.

However, the case officer raised concern with regard to application of the Drainage
Hierarchy within the submitted Surface Water Management Strategy. The Hierarchy
states that infiltration to ground should be considered prior to discharge to a
watercourse. The Strategy submitted states that infiltration was deemed unsuitable
due to anticipated high ground water levels on site due to the clayey soils in the area,
giving a naturally high water table. It stated that groundwater levels at the site are to
be confirmed on-site by tests conducted at detailed design stage. The agent has
confirmed to the officer during the consideration of the application that these tests
have been carried out now and infiltration is not possible due to the high ground water
levels. Given this, the agent has confirmed that appropriate lining of the SuDS features
proposed on the site will be required to ensure ground water does not infiltrate in and
to ensure the attenuation volume is met. It was also confirmed that the main access
road across the western field would not be connected to the SuDS attenuation feature
due to gradients and instead surface water would be treated and attenuated in
smaller features such as filter drains and discharged to the small ditch along the
western boundary of the development.

The Lead Local Flood Authority has not objected to these drainage principles but
requires the detail of any future development would need to be submitted and

Agenda Page 33



7.49

7.50

7.51

7.52

7.53

approved through a planning condition. The Internal Drainage Board has not objected
but the works would require their separate consent.

Foul Water Drainage

The national drainage hierarchy in the UK Building Regulations sets out the listed order
of priority for discharge in the following order 1) public sewer being top then if this is
not reasonably practical 2) to a private sewer communicating with a public sewer, then
3) either a septic tank or another waste treatment system and 4) finally a cesspool.
The presumption is always to connect to a public sewer if reasonable to do so as this
option represents a much lower risk to the environment than others further down the
hierarchy.

There is currently no foul drainage discharged from the site, being agricultural fields.
No information has been submitted in relation to proposals for new facilities proposed
as part of the development. No doubt during construction foul water would be
disposed of via ‘Port-a-loo’ type facilities and disposed of via a licenced waste carrier.
During the operational phase such welfare facilities would be provided within the
Control Building. Due to the rural setting, it is unlikely that this could be feasibly
discharged to a foul sewer. The development would therefore likely be served by a
cesspit/porta-loo where waste would either be taken off site or managed through an
appropriate permit from the Environment Agency. Ordinarily this type of solution
would not be considered a sustainable option, however once constructed, the facility
would be largely controlled remotely with only occasional visits to the site for
maintenance and inspections. Foul water drainage details can be controlled by
condition. On this basis, this is considered to be acceptable.

Fluvial Flooding

In relation to main river flooding, the submitted Flood Risk Assessment states 70% of
the site is located predominantly within Flood Zone 1 and the remaining 30% within
Flood Zone 3a (this is land having a 1% or greater annual probability of river flooding).

Sequential Test

The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 165), states inappropriate
development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development
away from areas at highest risk. This is done through the application of the Sequential
Test and development should not be permitted if there are reasonably available sites
appropriate for the development in areas at lower risk of flooding.

The NPPG states “For individual planning applications subject to the Sequential Test,
the area to apply the test will be defined by local circumstances relating to the
catchment area for the type of development proposed. For some developments this
may be clear, for example, the catchment area for a school. ‘Reasonably available
sites’ are those in a suitable location for the type of development with a reasonable
prospect that the site is available to be developed at the point in time envisaged for
the development. These could include a series of smaller sites and/or part of a larger
site if these would be capable of accommodating the proposed development. Such

Agenda Page 34



7.54

7.55

lower-risk sites do not need to be owned by the applicant to be considered ‘reasonably

v

available’.

The Planning Statement sets out that in the case for BESS development, it is the
proximity of the site to the Staythorpe substation that is considered to define the
catchment area as the proximity to such a connection (i.e., as short as possible) is a
fundamental site selection criterion this case. Consequently, the Statement confirms
a catchment area of 1km (radius) from Staythorpe substation has been applied. It also
states that “the applicant has considered a range of sites in the area, based on site
selection and environmental criteria. Noting the extent of flood zones within proximity
to the Staythorpe substation, the applicant has sought out a site not with the flood
zone and within the catchment area.” This principle was not criticised by the Inspector
at the recent Public Inquiry.

The Fluvial Flood Map below shows there are only limited Flood Zone 1 sites (in white)
in close proximity to Staythorpe substation, shaded in black. Those that are outside
flood zones tend to be existing residential development, or of a limited size (not
capable of accommodating this development) or close to other constraints (e.g.
residential areas or heritage assets).

770 it Staviwosss sUsSTanON
- ROCD 208 3

FLOCO 208K 2

Fluvial Flood Map

Agenda Page 35



7.56

7.57

gl
ey,

The above Map shows the land included within the pending application
23/01837/FULM, and therefore cannot be considered as ‘reasonably available’ under
the consideration of the Sequential Test.

The Planning Statement states that “In assessing alternative sites...it is clear that the
proposed development site is the most appropriate location for the development for
the following reasons:

The site is of an appropriate size to consider and provide for the proposed
development, whilst mitigating its environmental effects.

The site is predominantly located within an area of Flood Zone 1 and the most
‘high risk’ substation infrastructure can be located within this area.
Development of battery storage can be sited and mitigated appropriately and
safely as detailed within the submitted Flood Risk Assessment.

The site is located adjacent to the existing Staythorpe Substation and a
connection can be made across Staythorpe Road in order to access the Grid
Network.

The land comprises Grade 3a and 3b agricultural land, a lower designation than
that previously prescribed as Grade “.

Emergency access has been sited to the south of the site onto Staythorpe Road
within Flood Zone 1 for use during both construction and operational phases of
development meaning that safe means of escape can be achieved on the site.”

7.58 The inclusion of factors that go beyond flood risk matters or that do not directly relate
to why other sites at lower flood risk are ‘reasonably unavailable’ means that the
Sequential Test has not be applied correctly in this case.

Agenda Page 36



7.59

7.60

7.61

7.62

7.63

However, on the site just to the south of this site, the Inspector in the Public Inquiry
considered that for a similar development, where 70% of the development was to be
located within Flood Zone 3b (functional flood plain) and the rest within Flood Zone 2
(medium risk), and that for a variety of reasons, other sites around the Staythorpe
Substation were not sequentially preferable on flood risk grounds due to: size, access,
difficulty of connection to the grid, unavailability and fragmentation by power lines.
The appellant presented credible arguments as to why there are practical constraints
to combining groups of smaller sites or developing sites fragmented by power lines.
On this basis, the Appellant and the Inspector ultimately concluded that the scheme
passed the Sequential Test. Many of the sites considered during this process would
also be applicable to the application of the Sequential Test at this application site. In
particular, this included the white land to the south of the western field of the
application site which was ruled out on the basis of the site being fragmented by
power lines and the white land between this application site and the application site
under 23/01837/FULM which was not available because of a mines and minerals
option agreement being placed on the land (as identified on the maps above).

Giving material weight to the stance taken at the Public Inquiry and in the light that
70 % of the land within the red line boundary of this application site is located within
Flood Zone 1 and taking into account that without mitigation 86% of the proposed
development would be within Flood Zone 1, resulting in a limited amount of built
development being located within Flood Zone 3a, it is considered a reasonable
pragmatic approach should be taken in this case and therefore the development is
considered to pass the Sequential Test.

Exception Test

Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that to pass the Exception Test, it should be
demonstrated that:-

a) The development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the
community that outweigh the flood risk; and

b) The development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability
of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and where possible, will
reduce flood risk overall.

Both elements of the Exception test should be satisfied for developments to be
permitted.

The Inspector considered at the Public Inquiry that energy storage system
development falls within the definition of ‘essential infrastructure.” Table 2 of the
National Planning Practice Guidance entitled ‘Flood Risk Vulnerability and Food Zone
‘Incompatibility,” sets out that essential infrastructure within Flood Zone 3a needs to
apply the Exception Test and should be designed and constructed to remain
operational and safe in times of flood.

The FRA identifies that the main river flooding on the site comes from the River Greet
with flood levels generally consistent at 13.304m AOD across the site. The map below
shows the resulting flood depth map for the site assuming the above flood level.

Agenda Page 37



7.64

7.65

D Ste Boundary

1% AEP (+50%) Fluvial
\ Flood Extent (River Greet)
| Depth (m)

\ [ 0-0.1
) I o1-025
| I o25-05

B os-075
0 50 100 200 300 400 —

e — P I Contains OS data ® Crown Copyright and database nght 2023.

\.\

The proposed sub-station compound is situated out of the flood extent, however, the
majority of the battery storage units and associated PCS units are at risk of flooding,
as shown on the plan above. To ensure the development remains operational and safe
in times of flood, it is proposed to place all battery and PCS units within Flood Zone 3a
on concrete plinths to raise them 300mm above modelled flood depths. This also
allows flood water beneath the units to limit reduction in floodplain storage. The units
would be a maximum of 0.85m above ground level.

Where new development is proposed within the flood extent, it has the potential to
increase flood risk elsewhere. To counteract reduction on floodplain storage the
National Planning Practice Guidance mandates the provision of on-site compensatory
storage on a level-for-level basis. Contained within Flood Zone 3a (+39% uplift for
climate change allowance) are 42 proposed battery units, each raised on seven 0.5m
wide concrete plinths and 18 PCS units each raised on three 0.5m wide concrete
plinths. In total these will occupy an area of 609m?2. The required volume
compensatory storage has been calculated to be 669.9m3. This is an initial estimate
and will be re-calculated once detailed design is complete, but this shows there is
space on site to accommodate compensatory storage as necessary. To ensure the
compensatory storage for the landscape bunds is provided locally on a level-for-level
basis, the bund is to be created using a cut-and-fill solution. The resulting ‘cut’
excavation will take place adjacent to the location of the proposed bunds and will
remain partially unfilled such to provide the required compensatory storage of 615m3.

Agenda Page 38



7.66

7.67

7.68

7.69

7.70

The black arrow represents the direction of river flooding flow travelling across the
site. In order to accommodate this, the proposed landscape bunds incorporate a
break sufficient in size to maintain the flow path. The need to accommodate this flow
also causes an issue for a continuous acoustic barrier for noise mitigation purposes.
However, as outlined in the Residential Amenity section below, an amended Noise
Impact Assessment has been submitted which demonstrates that by raising the
acoustic screen above a box culvert at ground level (see drawing below), would not
undermine the protective robustness of the acoustic barrier to any significant extent
and would maintain the flow path across the site.

SEENOTES

m
(8]

INDICATIVE ACOUSTIC BARRIER FRONT ELEVATION

Opening required if located within the flow path

The fluvial flood maps of the site show that the main access from Main Road is also
within Flood Zone 3a and at high risk of fluvial flooding. Whilst not ideal, this is not
considered to be fatal to the scheme. It is acknowledged that once operational, the
development would be largely operated remotely and as such an emergency plan
could be conditioned so risk to personnel would be very low. A similar approach was
taken by the Inspector at the Public Inquiry on land to the south.

The fluvial flood risk to the site is deemed high without the implementation of the
mitigation and resilience measures set out above. However, with them it has been
demonstrated that the development is safe for its lifetime without increasing flood
risk elsewhere and therefore, with the community benefits already acknowledged, the
Exception Test is passed.

The agent has confirmed that the site would only be occupied for maintenance
purposes and in normal conditions there would be no operatives on site and an
emergency plan would be in operation so risk to personnel would be very low. An
operational stage flood incident plan and a detailed surface water management plan
can be required by condition. It is noted that the access for emergency vehicles from
Staythorpe Road in the south-east corner of the site that would be used by
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service is located wholly within Flood Zone 1.

To conclude, the scheme passes the Sequential Test and would not cause flooding or
worsen flood risk elsewhere in any practical sense. The scheme is essential
infrastructure, would be safe for its lifetime, and would provide sustainability benefits
to the community in helping to contribute towards the transition towards renewable

Agenda Page 39



7.71

7.72

7.73

7.74

7.75

7.76

7.77

energy and the reduction in carbon emissions. None of the relevant consultees,
including the Environment Agency, the Lead Local Flood Authority or Trent Valley
Drainage Board, object to the proposal. Having regard to all the above, the proposal
would accord with Core Policy 9 and 10 of the Amended Core Strategy and Policy DM5
(9) of the Allocations and Development Management DPD and with the guidance
within the NPPF and PPG.

Landscape Character and Visual Impacts

Landscape Character (effect on the physical and perceptual characteristics of the
landscape and its resulting character and quality).

Paragraph 180 of the NPPF indicates that the intrinsic character and beauty of
countryside should be recognised but does not seek to protect, for its own sake, all
countryside from development; rather it concentrates on the protection of valued
landscapes. The site does not form part of any designated landscape and for the
purposes of the Framework, the site is not considered to be a valued landscape.

Para 180 also states that ‘Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment by: recognising the intrinsic character and
beauty of the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem
services — including the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile
agricultural land, and of trees and woodland.’

Core Policy 9 states that new development should achieve a high standard of
sustainable design and layout that is of an appropriate form and scale to its context
complementing the existing built and landscape environments.

Policy DM4 states that the landscape character from the individual and cumulative
impacts of proposals should be assessed and DM5 states that the rich local
distinctiveness of the District’s landscape and character of built form should be
reflected in the scale, form, mass, layout, design, materials and detailing or proposals
for new development and will be considered against the assessments contained in the
Landscape Character Assessment SPD.

Core Policy 13 requires the landscape character of the surrounding area to be
conserved and created. In terms of the visual impact of the proposed development,
the NPPG advises that in relation to large solar farms, the most comparable
development to battery storage, consideration should be given to the ‘potential to
mitigate landscape and visual impacts through, for example, screening with native
hedges’.

The application has been supported by a Landscape and Visual Assessment (LVA)
together with some photomontages as well as a Landscape and Visual Impact
Assessment Addendum (Cumulative). Landscape and visual impacts are provided by
three photomontages around the site both in the winter year 1 (the year in which the
development is completed) and the summer of year 15. Schematic cross-sections of
the site have also been submitted.

Agenda Page 40



7.78

7.79

7.80

7.81

7.82

The site is crossed by large-scale pylons with associated overhead powerlines which
terminate at the nearby the Staythorpe substation south of the site, on the opposite
side of Staythorpe Road and more visible further along Staythorpe Road to the south-
west. There are other large pylons and overhead powerlines beyond the site to the
south and south-west that cross the open agricultural fields, all heading towards
Staythorpe substation. At the south-east corner of the site, when looking in a south-
east direction where Staythorpe Road splits into two, it is possible to glimpse the very
tops of the chimneys of Staythorpe power station beyond the small group of houses
around Hopwas Close. The site is also influenced by the traffic along the 50mph A617
along the northern boundary and to some degree by Staythorpe Road (to the east)
and Main Road (to the west).

The hamlet of Staythorpe is located to the south-west of the site, with Rolleston
further along Staythorpe Road in the same direction. The village of Kelham is located
over 1km to the south-east of the site and Upton village over 1.5km to the west.

Field boundaries within and around the site are generally well established, with the
exception of the western boundary which is defined by an agricultural ditch, having
an open aspect to the adjacent fields.

The surrounding landscape is generally flat, located within the River Trent valley, with
land rising further to the north-west (Micklebarrow Hill). Pingley Dyke passes close to
the southern boundary and an agricultural ditch runs along the eastern boundary
aligning with Staythorpe Road.

Kelham FP4

Averham FPé&

Upton FP6

Upton FP7

Staythorpe FP2

v
8
g

Averham FP8

Tremt Valey Way

There are no Public Rights of Way within the site although a number are located in
proximity to the site, shown in red lines on the map above. Averham FP6 runs on the
north side of the A617 opposite the site. Averham FP7 and FP8 is located 600m to the
east (the latter forming part of the Trent Valley Way (shown as a dotted blue line on
the map above). There is also, Staythorpe FP2 and FP3 700m to the south-west and
Upton FP6 750m east of the boundary with Main Road which runs up Micklebarrow
Hill on higher ground.

Agenda Page 41



7.83 The highest proposed feature on the site would be the substation which would be a
max of 12m high. Below are elevation drawings of some of that infrastructure.

A

ELEVATION A - A
SOUTH - NORTH

ELEVATIONB -8
EAST - WEST

ELEVATIONC -C
NORTH - SOUTH

Below are elevations of the battery units and PCS units:

BATTERY UNIT SIDE ELEYATION BATTERY UNIT FRONT ELEVATION

PCS UNIT SIDE ELEVATION PCS UNIT FRONT ELEVATION

7.84 The site is not covered by any national, regional or local landscape designations. The
site is not of a nature which is rare in the local landscape. It is therefore not considered
to be a ‘valued landscape’ as discussed within the NPPF.

7.85 The submitted LVA has made an assessment using the Guidelines for Landscape and
Visual Impact Assessment, 3™ edition (GLVIA3) making judgements on susceptibility

Agenda Page 42



7.86

7.87

7.88

7.89

7.90

7.91

to change and its value. Both the susceptibility and value are described as very high,
high, medium, low or very low. These are then combined in order to establish an
overall nature or sensitivity which has also been described as very high, high, medium,
low or very low.

The assessment of Landscape Effects deals with the changes to the landscape as a
resource. Different combinations of the physical, natural and cultural components
(including aesthetic, perceptual and experiential aspects) of the landscape and their
special distribution create the distinctive character of landscape in different places.

Within the submitted Landscape Visual Assessment (LVA) effects are considered in
relation to both landscape features and landscape character during construction, at
Year 1 and at Year 15 and beyond. Sensitivity is a function of both the susceptibility
and value. A summary of landscape effects included within the LVA are set out in the
table below.

Landform and Topography

The landform is generally flat and is not unusual in the locality, being typical of the
area and is therefore deemed to have a medium-low value. The landform would be
subject to some minor changes in level to accommodate access tracks, hard surfaces
areas, gates and fencing, therefore, is deemed to have a medium susceptibility to
change. Overall, the sensitivity is judged to be no greater than medium.

There would be some changes to the landform to accommodate foundations of the
battery storage and substation and other structures, including CCTV. Some artificial
earth bunds and attenuation features to assist with drainage. The magnitude of
change is considered to be medium during construction due to the quantum of earth
moving within the site, resulting in a short-term and temporary Moderate level of
effect.

At Year 1 and Year 15, all proposals would be in place with earth bunds and
attenuation features either seeded or planted. Therefore, the magnitude of change is
considered to be low at Year 1 and Year 15, which would result in a Minor adverse
level of effect.

Water Features and Drainage

The drainage ditches surrounding the site are typical of the local area and have limited
landscape value, deemed to have a low value. Due to existing crossings over the
ditches, the susceptibility to change of these features is deemed to be low. Overall, it
is considered to have a low sensitivity to the type of development proposed. All
drainage would be retained and respected as part of the proposed development with
access tracks utilising existing culverts across them. The proposed development
would have no direct or indirect effects of the River Trent or Pingley Dyke. New
attenuation features would be created within the site, which would receive
appropriate landscape treatment and would be managed to maximise their wildlife
value, offering some benefits. Levels of effect would be Neutral during construction.
At Year 1and Year 15, a very low beneficial magnitude of change is predicted, resulting
in a Minor level of effect.

Agenda Page 43



7.92

7.93

7.94

7.95

7.96

Land Use, Buildings and Infrastructure

Although the site is greenfield, being typical of the nearby agricultural landscape, it is
influenced by the nearby A-road, electricity infrastructure, Staythorpe power station
and residential development, including the pylons and associated overhead power
lines over the site and therefore has limited scenic qualities. The site is not publicly
accessible and therefore has no recreational value in the local area and is deemed to
have a medium to low value. However, the extents of the proposed development do
cover a large proportion of the site leading to a change in land use. Therefore, its
susceptibility to change is deemed to be high. On balance it is deemed to have a
medium sensitivity to the proposed development.

The proposals would represent a change to the current land use from predominantly
agricultural fields to an operational battery storage facility with substation and
associated infrastructure. However much of the peripheral areas would be planted
with native species, therefore, the perception of the primary land use would be
reduced. The magnitude of change is assessed as medium to high upon the site itself,
resulting in a Moderate adverse level of effect during all periods.

Vegetation

The vegetation pattern within the site is similar to the surrounding agricultural
landscape. Although the site features some trees and hedgerows along its boundaries,
these are of limited value and are absent along western edges. Therefore, the
vegetation on site is considered to have no greater than a medium to low value. As
the proposed development respects the location of existing vegetation with the ability
to be managed and enhanced, a low susceptibility of change is assigned. Vegetation is
deemed to have a low sensitivity to the proposed development.

During construction, trees and hedgerows within and surrounding site would be
protected. There would be some limited loss of existing hedgerows as a result of the
proposed development in order to incorporate the proposed access tracks, however,
elsewhere access point utilise existing tracks and breaks in vegetation. The proposed
development is therefore predicted to have a very low magnitude of change during
construction, resulting in a Minor adverse level of effect.

At Year 1, all proposed mitigation planting would be in place, with extensive woodland
planting around the perimeter of the site, including some mature stock providing
instant height and stature. As a result, a low beneficial magnitude of change would
occur at Year 1 resulting in a Minor level of effect. With the benefit of maturing
planting, the proposed vegetation would integrate the development within its
surroundings resulting in further localised benefits within the site. At Year 15, a
medium to low beneficial magnitude of change is predicted, which due to its low
sensitivity would result in a long-term Minor beneficial effect level of effect.

Agenda Page 44



7.97

7.98

Development | Magnitude
Receptor Value Susceptibility | Sensitivity Lewvel of Effect
Phase of change
Landscape Features
Mod=rate
Consbruction Medium
Landform and Medium to adverse
Medium Medium
topography Low Year 1 Low Minor advers=
Ymar 15 Lew Minor advers=
Consbruction ery Low Neutral
Waler fealures
L Low Lo Ymmr 1 Wy Low Mimor bem=fit
and drainage=
Yemar 15 Very Low Minor ben=fit
Medium to Moderab=
Consbruction .
High adwerse
Land use,
Medium to Medium to Moderab=
Building= and High Medium Year 1 .
Lo High adverse
infrastructurs=
Medium to Moderab=
Year 15
High adverse
Consbruction Very Low Minor advers=
Medium to Ymar 1 Lew Minor ben=fit
Vegetation Low .
Low Medium to
Yemar 15 Minor ben=fit
Lew
Landscape Character
Medium to Moderate to
Consbruction
Low Minor advers=
TWPZ 11 - - Medium
Year 1 Low Minor adverse=
Ymar 15 Lew Minor advers=
Medium to Mcderate
Censtruction
High adverse
Medium to Moderate
The site itzelf Low High Medium Year 1
High adverse
Medium to Moderate to
Year 15
Lew Minor adverse

The proposed site is located in Natural England’s National Character Area 48 Trent and
Belvoir Vales. Siting within the Trent Valley the area is generally low-lying and rural in
nature with little woodland cover and long, open views and undulating in form.
Agriculture is the dominant land use, with much of the pasture converted to arable,
although grazing is still significant. There is a regular pattern of medium to large fields
enclosed by hawthorn hedgerows and ditches in low-lying areas, these elements
dominate the landscape. It is a rural and sparsely settled area with small villages and
dispersed farms linked by quiet lanes. The proposed development is not considered
to have the potential to result in any perceptible effects on landscape character at this
national scale and to remain proportionate to the small scale of the site relative to the
National Character Area.

The site is located within the Trent Washlands Regional Character Area in the Newark
and Sherwood Landscape Character Assessment SPD (2013). The majority of the site
falls within the ‘Cromwell, North and South Muskham Kelham, Averham, Staythorpe
and Rolleston Village Farmlands’ (TW PZ 11) character area although the very
westernmost end of the western field falls within the ‘Manor Farm River
Meadowlands’ (TW PZ 13). The landscape generally within the main zone is

Agenda Page 45



7.99

predominantly flat, large scale intensive arable landscape, medium to large-sized
semi-regular fields with hedgerows intact but fragmented in places, landscape
fragmented by busy roads and railway and winding roads between villages within
strong hedgerows. The landscape condition is described as moderate, with a moderate
sense of place and a moderate degree of visibility, leading to a moderate landscape
sensitivity. The policy action for the zone is to ‘Conserve and Create’ with landscape
actions to include:-

Landscape features:-

J Conserve and restore the traditional pattern of hedged fields- seek
opportunities to restore historic field pattern;

J Seek opportunities to restore arable land to permanent pasture/wet alluvial
grassland close to the River Trent;

] Promote measures for strengthening the existing level of tree cover;

J Conserve historic field pattern by containing new development within historic
enclosed boundaries, restoring hedgerow boundaries where necessary;

J Strengthen the continuity and ecological diversity of stream corridors;

J Conserve the historic woodland and parkland setting around Kelham Hall;

Built features:-

J Conserve the character and setting of village settlements of Cromwell, North
and South Muskham, Averham, Staythorpe and Rolleston;

J Conserve the rural character of the landscape by concentrating new
development around above existing settlements;

J Conserve historic sites within the landscape including Scheduled Monuments
and associated earthworks;

J Promote measures for reinforcing the traditional character of farm buildings
using vernacular styles; and

) Create small scale woodlands/tree planting to soften new development,

preferably in advance of development.

In order to mitigate against landscape and visual impacts, the landscape proposals
take account of the identified areas of sensitivity by providing additional planting
where required. Care has been taken to retain existing trees and hedgerows where
possible, to retain the character of the local area, to maintain existing visual buffers
and to maintain biodiversity value. The proposal would result in some loss of existing
hedgerow along the field boundary adjacent to Main Road to the north-west in order
to accommodate the proposed access road and visibility splay.

7.100 Landscape mitigation proposals include the following:

. Retention, protection and enhancement of the existing networks of trees and
hedgerows along field boundaries and temporary protective fencing during
construction;

J provision of new native woodland planting with some evergreen species along
the northern, eastern, south-eastern and south-western boundaries, to
supplement existing field boundary vegetation and provide visual enclosure.
Planting to include a mix of semi-mature planting along with other sizes of
planting;

Agenda Page 46



. Creation of a new tree lined hedgerow along the parts of the western
boundary, with tree planting avoiding the overhead powerline offsets;

J Existing hedgerow planting along the southern boundary to be supplemented
by new native planting to provide additional visual enclosure;

J proposed earth bunds to the east of the development to be planted with new
native planting;

J all existing and proposed native hedgerows managed to a height of 3m or
above to enhance visual enclosure;

J creation of an attenuation pond seeded with appropriate species rich
grassland tolerant of seasonally wet conditions; and

J ongoing landscape management of planting during the lifetime of the

proposed development.

The table above identifies by Year 15 minor benefits to water features and drainage and minor
benefits to vegetation, however, there are minor adverse impacts to landform and
topography and moderate adverse impacts to land use, buildings and infrastructure.

Effectson TW PZ 11

7.101 The site is similar in some aspects to the policy zone being a flat, large-sized irregular
arable field with boundary hedgerow fragmented in places and in proximity to a busy
road. The Landscape Character Assessment SPD defines this policy zone as having a
moderate sensitivity, which is the equivalent of a medium sensitivity within this
assessment.

7.102 Due to the scale of the proposed development within the character area, the
proposals would introduce a man-made feature into an agricultural landscape, albeit
one that is already influenced by existing electrical infrastructure within the site and
by road, rail and energy infrastructure, as well as residential development in proximity
to the site. The proposed development would change the physical and perceptual
attributes of the site and immediate surrounding landscape however would retain and
enhance existing features, with the proposed landscape mitigation strengthening the
level of tree cover, a specific landscape action for this landscape policy zone. Bearing
in mind the size and scale of this landscape policy area, it is predicted that the
proposed development would give rise to a medium to low magnitude of change upon
the wider character area during construction which would result in a Moderate to
Minor adverse level of effect.

7.103 The existing landscape features within the site would be retained and protected with
the proposed development introducing extensive areas of tree and woodland planting
around the periphery of the development providing longer term enclosure. However,
the proposals would introduce a man-made minor alteration to the physical and
perceptual attributes of the character area. However, a low magnitude of change is
predicted upon the wider character area at Year 1 and Year 15 resulting in a Minor
adverse level of effect.

7.104 The sensitivity of the site itself and immediate surroundings is similar to the landscape
policy zone with the susceptibility to change of the site and immediate surroundings

Agenda Page 47



is judged to be high, however with a low value. Therefore, on balance, the overall
sensitivity is assessed as medium, which matches the SPD.

7.105 The landscape character of the site and surroundings has the potential to be
influenced by the proposed development. The proposed development would
introduce a new man-made feature into the landscape which would incorporate most
of the site area, therefore adversely alter the physical and perceptual attributes of the
site. Itis acknowledged however that the layout would allow retention of all valuable
features within and surrounding the site and reinforced with extensive areas of tree
and woodland planting around peripheral areas of the site. The influence upon the
surroundings would be limited by the flat nature of the landscape, by the network of
surrounding vegetation and by nearby built form including nearby substation and
power station. That magnitude of change to the site and surroundings is assessed as
medium to high, which when combined with its medium sensitivity would result in a
Moderate level of effect upon the landscape character of the site during construction
and at Year 1. With the introduction of extensive areas of tree and woodland planting
around peripheral areas of the site, including areas of mature plant stock, there would
be some improvements to the physical and perceptual attributes of the site in the
longer term, a medium to low magnitude of change would occur at Year 15, resulting
in a Moderate to Minor level of effect.

Agenda Page 48



7.106

7.107

7.108

p G
— - = ORieti SR Siythaye ey o
= . -— N ————— . Qe AT 200w
It .. — - -= llustrative Landacape Masterplen >ww=s = ~szzesz il

T m B —e = N Cew TToTIIT PEGASUS
- — i Bl el = Staythorpe Battery Ltd. Skt S0 58 GFOU

Landscape Masterplan

Visual Impact (effects on specific views experienced by visual receptors and on visual
amenity more generally)

The aim is to establish the area in which the development maybe visible, the different
groups of people who may experience views of the development and places where
they will be affected, and the nature of the views and visual amenity (meaning the
overall quality and pleasantness to a view).

A Screened Zone of Theoretical Visibility (SZTV) is shown below and identifies the
potential locations from which the development may be visible. Existing built
development (8m tall) and larger blocks of woodland (15m tall) has been modelled to
take account of the screening effect that these would provide. However, the screening
effect provided by smaller blocks of woodland and hedgerows and trees, particularly
those surrounding the site, have not been taken into account and consequently the
actual extent of the area from which the proposed development is visible is likely to
be smaller in reality than depicted. The SZTV has been run at two main heights - 12m
for the substation located at the south of the site which represents the highest part of

Agenda Page 49



any structure within the application site and 4m for the battery storage units to the
north of the site, which provides scope for the units to be raised to avoid flooding
issues as well as taking account of fence heights. The theoretical visibilities then
divided into three main categories which include:

- theoretical visibility of the substation only (yellow)

- theoretical visibility of the battery storage units only (orange) and

- theoretical visibility of both the substation and the battery storage units (blue).

Substation and Battery Units Valble

7.109 Residential receptors, users of the public rights of way (PROW) network including the
Trent Valley Way and visitors to the parkland surrounding Kelham Hall are considered
to have a high visual sensitivity to the change proposed. In all cases they were
considered to have a high susceptibility to changes in their views and that these views
were of a high value. Users of local roads, where the view is not the focus of the
activity are considered to have medium sensitivity which is a combination of medium
susceptibility and medium value associated with the views from these routes. People
using the A617 are considered to have low sensitivity reflecting the low susceptibility
and value associated with the views from these routes.

Residential Receptors

7.110 Despite the proximity to the site, there is no visibility from residential properties to
the east of Staythorpe Road within Averham, due to intervening properties and their
associated surrounding vegetation and fencing obscuring direct views. Therefore,
these properties have not been considered any further in their LVA.

Agenda Page 50



7.111

7.112

7.113

7.114

White Cottage located off Staythorpe Road to the south of the site, directly adjacent
to Staythorpe substation, despite the SZTV showing theoretical visibility, the property
is surrounded by mature vegetation, preventing outward views. Visual effects are
likely to fall below the level of effect required to register even a minor adverse level
of effect, therefore it has not been considered further in the applicant’s assessment.

Although theoretical visibility covered parts of Rolleston and surrounding farmsteads,
due to the distance from the site and intervening buildings and areas of vegetation,
again visual effects are likely to fall below the level of effect required to register even
a minor adverse level of effect and therefore these properties have not been
considered further in the applicant’s assessment.

Again, effects are considered during construction, Year 1 and Year 15 and beyond. A
summary of visual effects is included below, on particular residential receptors that
have been identified a being main affected properties. Recreational Receptors on
Public Rights of Way and Kelham Hall parkland have been identified and assessed as
well as Road Users (Staythorpe Road, A617 and Main Road).

The NPPF highlights the important of public rights of way and access, as the effect of
a development on a right of way is a material planning consideration. Public Rights of
Way (PRoW), although the minor highway element of the public highway network, is
afforded the same level of protection and control as the major highway network.

Agenda Page 51



Devslopment Magniude
Recepbar Sansitivity Lawvel of Effect™
Fhasa of change>
Resldantial receptors
Avarftam
Construcson Midium to Moderates 20 Major
High A g
Almfald Cobbsges, High —— Miadlum to Mioderabs oo Major
Byerham L == High aichrsrgs
——— Miadlum to Mod=rats bo Minos
== Ly a g
Miadlum to Mioderabs oo Major
Constnuction !
Aropertiss alan =lEn nehVETEE
- r':|.:| = e e ame o Madlum to | Moderats to Major
.ﬁ.:;har:lar-.’ L = High achrsrgs
. Miadlum to Modsrats bo Minos
fear 1S
L a g
Conztucton Medium to Moderate o Minos
Aroperties along —aw a':_"'t-it -
Tha Cloca, High Yaar 1 MadLlnum to Moderate to Mino
JR—— W aicverss
Tear 15 Lo Minosr &dwverss
- cH Midium ba Mioderake ta Major
S —— e High a e
: B Madium to Moderak= to Major
alf Staythorps High Year 1
Soar, Auarmam =lgn BT
) Madiurm to Madsrate to Minor
Year 15
Lo Ay ergs
- 5 Mdium ba Maderate ta Minos
onstructan Law —
Properiies off i Madhum to Maod=rat= to Minor
Hopwass Chse RiGr fear 2 Low achrsrgs
Tear 15 Lo Mingr sdwverse
Eaythorpa
- - Miadlum to Mioderabs o0 Major
Erorisaicy High achrsrgs
Staythorps= _ Midium to Moderats 20 Major
High Year 1
House Caottage - High A e
vaar 15 Miadlum to Modsrats bo Minos
== Lo adhverge
ConstrucHon Midlum o Mod=rats bo Minos
Laiw A g
Staythorps Miadlum to Mod=rats bo Minos
- High Tear 1
House Famm " Loy g ichy s
Fear 15 Lo Minior averss
Constucton Msdlum Moderabe adyergs
Aroperties
writhin High Year 1 Misdium Moderabs adverns
Staytho
s ~ Midium to Moderate o Minor
Year 15
Lo Achyergs
Ohhar proparties within the swrrownding anaa
Constructon L Mingr sdwerse
Slazhn Farmi High Fear 1 Lo Minior adverse
Year 15 Lo Minor sdverse

Agenda Page 52




Developmant Magnitude
Receptor Sensithrlty PR of - Level of Effect™
Constructian Low Minor acdveres
Frop=rtles on
[l ] g e High Taarl Low MEnor adhvesrgs
Him
Year ls Low Minor acdveres
P ——— Meadhum ko Maoderate to MEor
Law BLWErRE
Horth-sachemi Hiok - 1 Maghum B Maderate to MEnor
soge af Upton =0 Low Bivarse
Yearls Law Minor acdveres
Constructian Low Minor acdveres
Behiay Cardens High Yearl Low Minor acdveres
Yearls Low Minor acdveres
Meohurm ko Maoderate to Minar
Samatru " Law adwerse
Frap=riles alon
== = Mazum tn | Mocsrats o Miner
Eroacgate Ran fRarl Law BOWErRE
Lan=, Keinam
Yearls Law Minor acdveres
Constructian Law Minor acysres
Brickyard
Cottapes, High Yearl Low Minor acdveres
Broadgats Lane
Tear 15 Law Minor acysres
Constructian Law Minor acdveres
Fraperiles at
Averham Fark High Yearl Law Minor acdveres
Yearls Law Minor acveres

Constructian Madhum Maoderate adverss
Trent Valley
Way (o Bhe High Yearl Me=dburm Maocerate adverss
nori-ssst]
Taar 1ls Law Minor acyercs
ConstrucEian Low Minor acdveres
Tr=nt Valley
Way [ Bhe High Yearl Low Minor acdveres
sauth-east)
Tear 15 Law Minor acysres
Corstructian Mechum B Maderate to MEnor
Law BOWErRE
FROW E=lhaim High - 1 Maghum Eo Maoderate toe Minar
FFa =20 Low Bovarss
- 1z Mechum B Maderate to Minar
== Law adwearse
Constru - Medhum Eo Maoderate te MEnar
LOw SLWErSE
PROW Averham Hiok Mechum to Moderate to Minor
FFE e Low aovarse
Year 15 Low Minor acdveres
Constructian Law Minor acysres
?Ew Averham High Tearl Low Minor adverss
fearis = AgentaPage 53




Developmant Magnibude
Receptar Sonshhity Lewel of Effect™
- Fhase of change®
1| e e
ConchrucHon Medum bo odsrates o Minar
Low | adyerss
=F-DII‘II 1| el .
e _ High — Medum Bo aderats o Minar
Staythorps FRZ Low adwerss
Tear 15 Lo MEnor acverse
o E el T T W
ConctrucHon Medburm b oderats o Minar
Low | advErss
PROW Lipion H E A mrwtm. Fr
Tl E High — Medum o Hoderate to Minar
FFT Low { advarss
Year ls LOw Minor adverss
ConchrucHon Medum Bo Mode=rate to Madar
High | adverse
:F-_l:"-"-' -pton High vmar 1 Me=dium b Maderate to Majar
FFa =lgh Bivarss
T=ar 15 Medbum Maoderatbe adverse
elham Hall E
High All periods 2y Low Minor adverse
Parkland - s '
Road Usars
Constructon High Mod=rate adverss
:?_1’__'1'"“ Sellm || LUET Tear 1l Hiigh Moderatbs adverse
i | el T T
vmar 15 M=dium o oderste o Minar
Low | advErss
Consbructon Hes J: = Moderate adverse
Staythore= - j_l -
Ho=d [(Hirowgh o= lum Tearl '_ an ’ Mocerate adverss
Aysrham) 1
. Medburm b Maoderate: fo Minar
=ar ls
Low | aOvErss
Maoderste to Minar
Coinsbruction High e —
Maoderste to Minar
E1°T P . I
BELT Lo sarl ah e
Year 15 ez :: = Minor adwvercs
Consbruction Mdium Moderate adverse
Haln Road/Main T
Street [ bebare=n g lm Tearl Medium Moderate adverse
BE1T B Upton] |
Tear 15 Law Minor adverse

7.115 There are some residential properties in Averham and Staythorpe that during
Construction and Year 1 the visual effect is moderate to major adverse. By Year 15
the effect is moderate to minor adverse effect, which means the harm is not totally
removed. The general pattern seems to be that whilst there are mostly Moderate
impacts during construction and Year 1, by the time the development reaches Year
15, it is stated that all mitigation planting would be successfully doing its job and the
visual harm consequently reduces. This is apart from Upton FP6, where the initially at
construction and Year 1 it is defined as Moderate to Major adverse, at Year 15 it is
assessed to be Moderate adverse due to its elevated position on Micklebarrow Hill.
Below are three cross sections across the site showing the predicted Year 1 and Year
15 scenarios.

Agenda Page 54



Landscape Boundary Sections, Year 1

Staythorpe Battery Storage Ltd.
Ciiant SSE Steythorpe Sattary Ltd
DWG No: P22-1211-EN-0002 Shest 1

Drawnby:VR  Approved by: HS/DT

T b Dst=14/02/23 RevA m
Scsle: 11000 @ A3
e
Sattery storags unts Praposad 2577 5 : e e s

woodiand :

! o
sorage Ty ot
s ety Frfoic Lane
e
Zarth bund with Yesr 1 ~mw Wm
isckzhom pisnting stop to
rovise s dense thicket and . .
I —— Exstng Eosting = Sxsting
vegetszion Legmtaton Lezemmtioe vegetstion

Agenda Page 55



Landscape Boundary Sections, Year 15
Staythorpe Battery Storage Ltd.

Clisnt: SSE Staythorps Bstrary Ltd

DWWG No: P22-121-EN-0002 Shest 2

Drawn by- VR Approvad by: HS/DT

S O 402770 PEASUS )
‘ N GROUP
Scele 11000 @ A3
.
Sattary storsge it Frapoted 287 oy — « A - 2732 400KV U2 04 LADLUT - Desg Preace - TT22IT
uand_ma I -nTEIEe DoLrIa 3eITIAE 3 ILITETLe SoTIaes 3o
=t Veer 5
Existing Existing
vegetstion egemian
A |DB0S24 | VR | Minoramend to snnctation k
fov | Dats | Neme | Cranges Sidpee
B-B, Year 15
B
¢ — o @ %
Satrery Froposes s: i
storage woodisnd Roed :3?3’"*
unizs. cianting. F
2t Vear B |
- ; = Bdsting Eesirg
Earth bund with Yeer 18 < b,
oo Pt vegeteton egetsron
rovide = dense thickst and 2o e e v
screen scoustic barier Soutng Sxsting Existing Exating
vegetation vegetstion vegention vegetstion
C-C, Year 15 =2
c c
SGT  Substetion Sroposeg woodiend  Steytrorpe Property off
serarn plenting st Yeer 15 Fosz Staythorpe Rosd
.

* = pattery storage units

** = earth bund with Year 1

blackthorn planting atop to
provide a dense thicket

* = battery storage units

** = earth bund with Year 15
blackthorn planting atop to
provide a dense thicket

7.116 To conclude in terms of the impact on landscape character, the relevant table above
recognises that there are a range of impacts at Year 15, ranging from minor benefits

Agenda Page 56



7.117

7.118

7.119

7.120

to moderate adverse. Although the proposed development would introduce
extensive areas of tree and woodland planting around the periphery of the
development providing longer term enclosure, the proposals would form a man-made
alteration to the physical and perceptual attributes of the character area. Therefore,
a Minor adverse level of effect would occur in the longer term, which weighs against
the proposal and is discussed in the planning balance at the end of this report.

The site’s landscape quality is not especially high and is already influenced by existing
power infrastructure. The Landscape and Visual Assessment states in term of
landscape character, the harm ranges from Minor adverse effect (to landscape
character) to Moderate adverse level of effect (upon land use in the longer term). The
Assessment also identifies benefits through the introduction of new woodland and
hedgerow planting around the site as well as local watercourse through the creation
of new attenuation features. Limited adverse effect was found to local landform and
topography.

In visual impact terms, the proposed layout has sought to retain and augment existing
field boundary vegetation and would introduce new trees, hedgerow and woodland
around peripheral areas of the site in order to minimise harmful visual effects. Due to
the generally flat nature of the surrounding landscape network of surrounding
vegetation and woodlands, the visibility of the proposed development is limited in
nature, the exception being the locally elevated land to the northwest.

Some inevitable adverse effects would occur to residential properties along the
western edge of Averham, the northern edge of Staythorpe, the Trent Valley Way
(where it follows A617) and to adjacent roads including the A617 and Staythorpe
Road, especially in the short term. However, with the benefit of trees and woodland
around the periphery of the site, most views of the proposed development would be
filtered in the longer term.

Due to the elevated nature of Upton FP6, the proposed development would be
notable feature within the landscape, albeit seen in context of the numerous
electricity pylons across the landscape as well as other features such as Staythorpe
power station and substation. With the benefit of new planting along site boundaries
particularly along the western edges, some direct views would be filtered towards the
proposed development however a Moderate level of effect would occur in the longer
term which represents a negative in the planning balance.

The submitted LVA concludes “From a landscape and visual perspective, any notable
effects on landscape character or visual receptors as a result of the proposed
development would be confined to surrounding local areas with visual effects reduced
by the retention of the existing vegetation and the proposed mitigation planting
around the periphery of the site. Overall, and despite the extent of the proposed
development, the total extent of the landscape and visual effects would be localised
and limited in nature.”

Notwithstanding, this conclusion, Officers conclude overall, that there would be an
average moderate-minor adverse impact on landscape character and an overall
average minor effect on visual impact that weighs against the proposal in the overall

Agenda Page 57



7.121

7.122

7.123

7.124

7.125

7.126

7.127

balance below.

Impact on Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees

Core Policy 12 of the Core Strategy seeks to secure development that maximises the
opportunities to conserve, enhance and restore biodiversity and geological diversity
and to increase provision of and access to, green infrastructure within the District.
Policy DM5 of the DPD states that natural features of importance within or adjacent
to development sites should, wherever possible, be protected and enhanced.

Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states planning decisions should contribute to and enhance
the natural and local environment by:

a) Protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological
value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or
identified quality in the development plan);....

d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current
and future pressures.

Paragraph 186 of the Framework states that when determining planning applications,
local planning authorities should apply the following principles:

a) If significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be
avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts),
adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning
permission should be refused;

The following documents have been submitted with the application in this regard:

e Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (and sensitive version) BG22.267 Rev 1 by
Brindle and Green Feb 2023

e Ecological Impact Assessment Rev2 by Brindle and Green Sept 2023 (EclA)

e Addendum to Ecological Impact Assessment by Wright Environment Ltd dated
May 2024

e Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment Letter (Doc Ref: 201977 dated 1 December
2023)

e Biodiversity Metric 4.0 Calculation Tool by Wright Environment Ltd

There are no National Site Network sites within 5km of the site and there is one
Statutory Designated site within 2km — Farndon Ponds Local Nature Reserve (1.4km
to south-west; includes priority deciduous woodland habitat and large pond
supporting kingfisher and common frog).

The nearest Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is located approx. 5 kilometres to
the north-west of the site (Mather Wood).

Survey Results and Mitigation

The PEA identified the site as three fields (two arable and one smaller unmanaged

Agenda Page 58



field of improved grassland in the centre of the site). It recognises that the hedgerows
around the site are “likely to qualify” as “Important” hedgerows under the Hedgerow
Regulations, and lists the species found within the hedgerows. It identifies that only
3 of the 8 hedgerows could possibly be “Important” due to the presence and number
of different “woody species.” These are H1 (eastern half along A617), H2 (along
Staythorpe Road) and H5 (along southern boundary of small central field), as shown
on the plan below. However, in order to create the proposed access from Main Road
a 114m section of hedgerow needs to be removed to create the required visibility
splay and the hedgerow to the west of the proposed access is not included within the
PEA. Therefore, there was no information submitted to confirm whether this
particular part of hedgerow is “Important” or not under the Hedgerow Regulations
1997. A matter identified by the Council’s Tree and Landscape Officer. It was
therefore requested that a survey be undertaken to clarify this factor. This has been
undertaken and the agent has confirmed that the surveyor found the hedgerow to be
removed was predominantly hawthorn with some blackthorn, mixed with ivy and
brambles. This demonstrates that because of the lack of “woody species” this
hedgerow does not fall under the definition of “Important.” However, in any event,
rather than loose the ecological value of this hedgerow altogether, the applicant has
confirmed that this hedgerow would be translocated, rather than replaced altogether
with new hedgerow. This matter is discussed further in the Trees section of the report
below. The PEA acknowledges that the site provides habitats suitable for supporting
breeding and wintering birds, reptiles, badgers, water vole and otter as well as
considering the usual impacts associated with other species of principle importance
listed under Section 41 of The Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC)
Act 2006.

Agenda Page 59



7.128

7.129

Further protected species surveys carried out during the active season of 2023 did not
record presence of otter or water vole within the zone of influence (within 500m) of
the application site. However, constraints were recorded for breeding birds, reptiles
and badger. Despite these identified constraints the EclA states that subject to
appropriate mitigation, the scheme is not considered to negatively impact these
species groups.

Three skylark territories were identified within the site. Two of these will be lost to
facilitate the scheme. The EclA identifies how two of the three recorded skylark
territories will be lost and a third one will be retained. The inclusion of the existing
cropland within the red line site, means that there is no need for the proposed two
skylark plots to be in sub-optimal locations as set out in para 6.2.9 of the EclA, as the
retained cropland would provide a more suitable location. From the report, the
locations of these retained and proposed territories are not clear, but it is understood
that created territories will be located in the narrow field forming the northwest part
of the site, and the retained territory will be in the area of ‘retained grassland’ located
to the east of the battery storage area and sub-station, as shown on the lllustrative
Landscape Masterplan. The report indicates that this mitigation would reduce the

Agenda Page 60



7.130

7.131

7.132

7.133

7.134

7.135

7.136

residual impact arising from the scheme to Neutral (not significant).

A low population of grass snake was identified associated with the grassland margins
to the western boundary of the site. Mitigation is proposed through a Reptile
Mitigation Strategy, detailing Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMs) that must be
adhered to by all site personnel during clearance and construction activities. This will
reduce the residual impact on this species arising from the scheme to Neutral (not
significant).

There is evidence of impact to badgers which, with appropriate mitigation would
cause a negative (Not Significant) impact. This mitigation would include prior to works
commencing on site, a Site Specific Method Statement to be submitted and approved
which will outline the mitigation requirements, works schedule and Reasonable
Avoidance Measures (RAMs) to be followed during construction to safeguard badgers
both during construction phase and site operation.

The Council’s Biodiversity and Ecology Lead Officer (BELO) considers that the
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been undertaken in accordance with best practice
guidelines and reported accordingly, which recommended that additional ecological
surveys be carried out. These have been undertaken and reported via the Ecological
Impact Assessment (EclA), in accordance with best practice, except for the way the
BNG was initially undertaken.

The EclA has identified a range of measures required to mitigate the potential impacts
of the proposal on a range of notable habitats and species. The Council’s BELO
confirms that overall, these are proportionate and acceptable. Provided the above
mitigations are secured by condition, it is therefore concluded that the development
would not result in any significant impact on Biodiversity and protected species.

Biodiversity Net Gain

In England, BNG became mandatory (under Schedule 7A of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by Schedule 14 of the Environment Act 2021)) from
February 2024. BNG is an approach to development which makes sure a development
has a measurably positive impact (‘net gain’) on biodiversity, compared to what was
there before development. This legislation sets out that developers must deliver a
minimum BNG of 10% - this means a development will result in more, or better quality,
natural habitat than there was before development. However, this application was
validated prior to February 2024 and is therefore exempt from mandatory BNG but as
set out below, in any event, the applicant has chosen to provide BNG for habitats and
hedgerows above the 10% minimum requirement and which can be secured,
maintained and monitored through a S106 obligation.

The Biodiversity Metric 4.0 Calculation tool submitted, demonstrates that the
proposal would provide an on-site net gain change of 15.96 units (28%) of habitat,
9.22 units (40.9%) of hedgerow but no watercourse units.

The Council’s Biodiversity and Ecology Lead Officer requested a second BNG
calculation be submitted to include the c.6.5ha of agricultural land within the red line
application site. The initial iteration included the creation of arable field margins using

Agenda Page 61



7.137

7.138

7.139

a game bird mix, however this has now been removed from the current calculation.
The initial calculation involved the creation of areas of mixed scrub, now the proposal
is for a single species of ‘blackthorn scrub’ to be planted. The initial calculation
involved the inclusion of ‘modified grassland’ in ‘good’ condition within the suite of
proposed habitats. The current calculation has no ‘modified grassland’ but higher
value ‘other neutral grassland.” This would be delivered in two forms:

J 3.81ha, created with a target ‘moderate’ condition; and
J 0.72ha, with a target of ‘good’ condition by enhancing existing ‘modified
grassland’ in ‘good’ condition.

The latter would be delayed for 5 years as the area would be used as a temporary
construction compound. It is considered this is unrealistic as use of this area for this
period of time will likely destroy the existing habitat and may need temporary loose-
fill surfacing. Consequently, this 0.72ha should represent a loss, with a subsequent 5-
year delay before creating ‘other neutral grassland,” according to the Council’s
Biodiversity Officer. In addition, they do not consider creation of this habitat type in
‘good’ condition to be realistic without the need for significant effort to reduce
nutrient levels given the long term existing use of the land for agriculture — ‘moderate’
condition would be more realistic. If this 0.72ha were changed to be more realistic,
the calculated net gain for the area Habitats would be reduced from 28.09% to
23.86%.

The Biodiversity Officer considers it important that any proposals relating to a BNG
calculation must be realistic and deliverable and it is evident that irrespective of a
satisfactory resolution of these issues, the proposal will be able to deliver an
acceptable level of net gain that would meet the requirements of the NPPF and CP12.
This is welcomed given that this application is not bound by the provision of
mandatory BNG given that it was submitted before the legislation came into force.
However, it is still expected that all matters must be resolved as part of the process of
approval of a Biodiversity Management Plan, which must be secured through a
planning condition and this Plan would have to be supported by a final BNG calculation
and plans reflecting the proposals within the scheme. The Biodiversity Management
Plan condition would also need to reflect the more appropriate location for the
proposed two skylark plots, to be acceptable. Furthermore, the applicant would need
to enter into a S106 Agreement requiring the retention, long term maintenance and
monitoring of Biodiversity Net Gain, landscape and ecological mitigation measures.
The monitoring fee will be £3,420 to cover the Council’s costs over a 30 year period.

Trees

Policy DM5 of the DPD states that natural features of importance within or adjacent
to development sites should, wherever possible, be protected and enhanced.

The following documents have been submitted in this regard:-

e Arboricultural Impact Assessment Rev2 by Brindle and Green

Agenda Page 62



Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report Addendum: Landscape Note by
Pegasus dated 21.05.2024

Staythorpe P22-1211 Indicative Measurements Based on Landscape
Masterplan Rev E dated 23 May 2024

Landscape Note from agent dated 21.05.2024

7.140 The existing hedgerows on the road sides would be maintained at a height of 3m.

7.141 The Arboricultural Impact Assessment Survey (Feb 2023) set out the following
removals would be required to facilitate the development:-

Removal of Trees T14 and T15 in order to provide the necessary access
improvements at Staythorpe Road. One is a young field maple and the other a
young horse chestnut. They have both been identified as Category C trees
within the Arboricultural Report. The Staythorpe Road access is already a field
access and so would not require the removal of any of the hedgerow identified
as having a potential to be “Important” in relation to the Hedgerow
Regulations.

Extract of Pegazuz Group Road Accezs
Extract of Brindle & Green Tree Protection Plan Geometric Parameterz TR-SKO5C

Hedgerow 1 — remove a section (approx. 5m) to allow upgrading works to the
A617. This proposed access has been removed through negotiation from the
scheme and therefore, this hedgerow does not need to be altered in any way.
Hedgerow H3 — removal a small section (13m). This hedgerow sits internally
within the site and is required to allow vehicular access from one agricultural
field to the other.

7.142 A Landscape Note has been submitted that states in order to form the main access to
the site on Main Road, that 114m of hedgerow is required to be removed (86m for the

Agenda Page 63



western visibility splay and 28m for the access itself — see extract of plans below). The
plan states that the hedgerow lost to form the access itself would be replaced with
new hedgerow to be planted behind the visibility splay to line the entrance way on
each side.

Extract of Pegazuz llluztrative Mazterplan - Main Road Accezz RevE

7.143 As stated in the Biodiversity/Ecology section of the report above, in relation to the loss
of 86m of hedgerow to the west of the proposed new access, a survey has now been
carried out that demonstrates that this section of hedgerow is not “Important” as
defined within the Hedgerow Regulations 1997. In any event, a condition requiring
the existing hedgerow to be translocated, can be imposed which would maintain any
inherent biodiversity value the existing hedgerow may have, and it can include an
increased wider variety of species that can also add betterment. This was an approach
accepted by the Inspector at the Public Inquiry. The long-term maintenance and
monitoring of the new hedgerow could be secured through a planning obligation.

7.144 In addition to confirmation of trees/hedgerow that is proposed to be lost, the

application has also submitted the table below, which outlines planting to be

removed, as well as new trees and hedgerow that are proposed to be provided as part
of the landscape mitigation scheme. This demonstrates significant benefits over and
above the existing planting on the site.

Total site area of
proposed planting

( ber of large |Number of native | Number of Linear metre of |Linear metre of Linear metre of

Non-developable

perimeter, bunds
and hedges etc)

shrub plants in
bund planting

T

scrub

i

Linear metre of

laeated

plants

hedgerow

' q
hedgerow

hedgerow

new hedgerow

area
(Grass/meadow)

32390

3131

16,835

1384

2319

114

754

124987

Agenda Page 64




7.145

7.146

7.147

7.148

7.149

7.150

The comments of the Council’s Tree and Landscape Officer have been noted, and
additional survey work undertaken as a result. | also note the concern that the
Landscape Masterplan does not contain sufficient detailed information. This
Masterplan provides an overall planting strategy for the location and scale of the
proposed mitigation planting. It is considered that full details of the species, size,
density etc of vegetation can be secured through condition and a S106. Subject to the
translocation of the existing hedgerow to the west of the Main Road proposed access,
which would be secured through condition/S106, it is considered that there would be
no significant harm to trees and hedgerows as a result of the proposed development
in accordance with Policy DM5 and substantial mitigation that provides betterment.

Impact on Heritage Assets

By virtue of the scale, form and appearance of the proposed development, it is capable
of affecting the historic environment. As the application concerns the settings of
designated listed buildings, section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the ‘Act’) is particularly relevant. Section 66 outlines
the general duty in exercise of planning functions in respect to listed buildings stating
that the decision maker “shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which
it possesses.”

The duty in .66 of the Listed Buildings Act does not allow a local planning authority to
treat the desirability of preserving the settings of listed buildings as a mere material
consideration to which it can simply attach such weight as it sees fit. When an
authority finds that a proposed development would harm the setting of a listed
building, it must give that harm considerable importance and weight. Section 66
places a high duty on the preservation of the settings of listed buildings.

The NPPF defines the setting of a heritage asset as: “The surroundings in which a
heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and
its surrounding evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative
contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that
significance or may be neutral.”

CP14 and DM9 of the Council’s LDF DPDs, amongst other things, seek to protect the
historic environment and ensure that heritage assets are managed in a way that best
sustains their significance. The importance of considering the setting of designated
heritage assets, furthermore, is expressed in Section 16 of the NPPF and the
accompanying PPG. The NPPF advises that the significance of designated heritage
assets can be harmed or lost through alterations or development within their setting.
Such harm or loss to significance requires clear and convincing justification. The NPPF
also makes it clear that protecting and enhancing the historic environment is
sustainable development (paragraph 8.c).

In relation to heritage assets, there are some features identified in the Historic
Environment Record (HER) on the site itself which are of potential archaeological
interest and this is considered in the Impact on Archaeology section below.

Agenda Page 65



7.151 There are also a number of designated heritage assets within nearby settlements,
including the Conservation Areas of Averham (130m to east), Upton (1.3km to south-
west) and Kelham (800m to north-east), outlined in red on the map below relative to
the application site.

7.152 Heritage assets within Averham Conservation Area:

J Averham moat and enclosure - Scheduled Monument (380m to east of
application site);

. Church of St Michael - Grade | listed (720m to east of application site);

. Lyche Gate at Church of St Michael — Grade Il listed (710m to east of application
site);

J Yew Tree Cottage — Grade Il listed (435m to east of application site);

) Rectory Cottage — Grade Il listed (595m to east of application site);

) The Old Rectory — Grade Il listed (665m to east of application site);

High Grade heritage assets within Kelham Conservation Area:
) Kelham Hall — Grade | listed (1.5km to north east of application site);
) Church of St Wilfrid — Grade | listed (1.4km to north east of application site);

High Grade heritage assets within Upton Conservation Area:
) Church of St Peter and St Paul — Grade | listed (1.77km to south west of
application site);

Other Heritage Assets:
. The Manor House in Staythorpe — Grade Il listed (630m to south-west of
application site).

7.153 The proposal is situated in close proximity to Averham Conservation Area and within
the wider setting of Upton and Kelham Conservation Areas and various Listed
Buildings. There are no registered parks and gardens within or close to the site. Below
is an extract from Magic Map showing listed buildings and scheduled monuments in
proximity of the site —there are none within the application site.

Agenda Page 66



7.154

7.155

7.156

Ll Aok

Conservation Areas

Averham Conservation Area was designated for its medieval origins some
archaeological remains, linear layout of the village, retention of 18th and 19th century
houses and cottages, medieval church, overriding traditional vernacular character of
buildings primarily constructed in red brick walling and pantile or slate roofs. To the
north and west, setting is characterised by open agricultural fields which make a
positive contribution to the significance Conservation Area as they enhanced and the
area’s rural character.

Kelham Conservation Area was designated for its medieval origins, radial plan form
with two distinctive parts; the fine grain of traditional 17th to 19th century
farmhouses, barns, cottages and pub to the north of the village and the sparsely laid
out buildings for Kelham country hall (including ancillary and associated buildings and
structures) to the south. Predominantly, buildings are constructed in brick walling,
with some rendered and lime washed buildings to the north with pantile and slate
roofs. The Conservation Area is also characterised by the abundance of greenery
which enhances the designed seclusion of Kelham Hall. The setting is provided by the
proximity to the river and surrounding open agricultural fields, the openness of which
accentuates the landmark dominance of Kelham Hall.

Upton Conservation Area was designated for its medieval origins as a manor, curved
linear arrangement, retention of medieval church (Grade 1), retention of late-Georgian
houses and cottages following period of enclosure, overriding vernacular impression
with modest size buildings constructed in red brick and pantile roofs interspersed with
some grand landmark buildings such as Upton Hall (Grade II*) and Upton Grange
(Grade 1l). The setting is surrounded by open agricultural fields which contribute to
the rural character and significance of the Conservation Area. The village is situated
on raised topography and within the Conservation Area there are key views looking
south and east over the surrounding open agricultural landscape.

Listed Buildings

Agenda Page 67



7.157

7.158

7.159

7.160

7.162

7.163

7.164

There are a number of listed buildings within the wider setting of the application site,
the below is not an exhaustive list but are ones identified from their prominence in
the landscape or proximity to the site.

Kelham Hall consists of the principal hall (Grade 1) which is a mid-19th century Gothic
revival country house designed by notable architect Sir Gilbert Scott. The building is
constructed in red brick with stone ashlar dressings, slate roofs, stone parapets and
tall chimney stacks. The irregular skyline created by the towers creates an impressive
silhouette in the surrounding landscape. Immediately adjacent to the hall is the
former monastic buildings (Grade Il) dating ¢.1927-29 and designed by Charles Clayton
Thompson in a Byzantine style with a prominent dome structure.

The Church of St Wilfrid at Kelham Hall (Grade 1), and Church of St Michael at Averham
(Grade 1) and Church of St Peter and Paul at Upton are all medieval parish churches
which have been restored in the 19th and 20th centuries. Their significance relates to
their retention of historic fabric, illustrative phases of development, Gothic detailing
and designed prominence. For St Wilfrid’s views of the church are secluded and
screened by mature trees and vegetation. St Michael's is in quite a prominent position
along the River Trent and, whilst, views within the village are limited, there are wider
views and appreciation of the building looking over the river. St Peter and Paul’s at
Upton is situated on higher topography and there are wider vantage points from the
churchyard and the surrounding landscape to appreciate the building’s architectural
interest.

Within Averham, there are a collection of Listed Buildings situated to the north and
east of the village. Yew Tree Cottage (Grade Il) is a former pair of cottages, now one
house, dating from the 18th and 19th centuries and constructed in brick with a pantile
roof. Rectory Cottage (Grade Il) is a 18th century house constructed in brick, some
render, with a tiled roof. The Old Rectory (Grade Il) is a ¢.1838-39 rectory house
constructed in brick, stuccoed finish with a slate roof.

Scheduled Monument

Averham Moat and Enclosure are situated to the south-west of the village and include
visible earthworks and brick remains, possibly from a building. The site is protected
for its remains as a medieval moated dwelling which often served aristocrats and were
used as a status symbol for the residents, rather than a military defence purpose.

Non-designated Heritage Assets

Within the site and adjacent fields there are a number of features identified on the
Historic Environment Record, including the Farmstead at Averham (HER ref: M8312),
Enclosure and Linear feature (HER ref: L2999) and Linear feature (HER ref: L3159).

The application has been supported by a Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) and a
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). The former has made an assessment
of the impact on the setting of Averham Conservation Area. It concludes that “the site
has been divorced from its historic relationship with Averham, due to effective
screening into the Conservation Area, changing field patterns and the construction of
relief road between the site and the asset. Furthermore, proposed screening

Agenda Page 68



7.165

7.166

7.167

7.168

measures will limit any co-visibility or intervisibility between eh Conservation Area and
the proposed built form within the site. As such, the proposed development will not
result in any harm to Averham Conservation Area through changes to setting.”

The Council’s conservation officer has made comments on the proposal, as set out
below.

Impact on Averham CA:

The proposed substation would be situated to the south-east of the development site,
immediately alongside Staythorpe Road. It would be a large, dominant structure up to
12 metres in height. The height and scale of this structure would overbear the modest
scale of the traditional style buildings in Averham CA. The proposed development
would negatively impact wider views looking north-west from southern edges of the
Conservation Area and on the approach to the village from the A617. Whilst there
have been modern 20th century alterations within the setting of Averham village (with
the development of Staythorpe power station and substation), these features are
situated at a distance whereas this proposed development would be situated in close
proximity to and in more prominent views of Averham Conservation Area.

The proposed battery storage units are lower rise than the substation but their form,
appearance and regular arrangement in the site would create an engineered
landscape and this would erode the rural setting of the adjacent Conservation Area.
It is noted that the battery storage units would be situated to the south-west of the
site and there would be lots of trees planted along the northern and eastern edges to
reduce the impact on views from Averham. However, views on the approach from
Upton and Hockerton would still be disrupted by the storage units in the longer term
as there is limited screening proposed on this aspect.

Impact on Kelham CA:

The centre of the village and Conservation Area, including Kelham Hall (Grade 1) and
St Wilfrid’s Church (Grade 1) is screened by mature trees which limits inter-visibility
with these particular heritage assets. From the south-west of Kelham, the character
of the Conservation Area starts to transition into more open agricultural context
surrounding the village. There is a field to the south-west of the Conservation Area
where it is possible that this proposed development would be visible from, notably
the substation. This does not appear to have been assessed in the Landscape and
Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) or the Heritage Impact Assessment (although the
latter provides limited acknowledgement in para 6.6 HIA). In response to this
omission, the agent has responded by saying this is because this is an agricultural field
with no public access and so there are no visual receptors located in the area. Whilst
this is noted, Historic England’s guidance in the ‘The Setting of Heritage Assets” it
states that impact on setting is not limited to public vantage points and there is still
potential for the proposed development to affect the experience/appreciation of this
part of the Conservation Area. It is likely that this dominant engineering and industrial
feature would have harmful impact on the setting and experience of the Conservation
Area as it would be starkly contrasting feature to Kelham’s character and appearance.

Agenda Page 69



7.169

7.170

7.171

7.172

7.173

7.174

7.175

Impact on Upton CA:

As noted in the LVIA and HIA, there may be some intermittent views form the south-
east part of Upton Conservation Area but this would be quite limited. The
development would still have some impact on the wider setting of the Conservation
Area as it would erode and encroach upon the open agricultural character, but this
would be a minor harmful impact due to the distance from the application site.

Impact on Listed Buildings and Scheduled Monument:

Due to the height and form of the proposed substation, this structure has the potential
to be disruptive to wider views and appreciation of prominent Listed Buildings in the
landscape. This aspect of the proposed development may impact brief or transitional
views of the Listed Buildings identified above, such as views looking across the river
towards the Church of St Micheal (Grade I) and the Olde Rectory (Grade IlI) and
glimpses of Kelham Hall (Grade 1) from various vantage points within the vicinity. This
would likely cause a degree of harm as it would compete with their designed and/or
fortuitous prominence and district from their high architectural value. It is, however,
recognised that some of these wider views have already been negatively impacted by
the industrial appearance of Staythorpe power station and substation.

The proposed development would unlikely impact the setting of the Scheduled
Monument at Averham as its significance primarily relates to earthworks and,
therefore, would not distract from the appreciation of this interest.

Impact on Non-designated Heritage Assets
This is set out in the Impact on Archaeology section below.

To conclude, the proposed development would result in overtly industrial character,
the buildings/structures contrasting in form and scale in the landscape which would
dominate and distract from the surrounding designated heritage assets by
encroaching upon their historic, open, agricultural setting. Due to the proximity to
Averham Conservation Area, the visual harm to its setting would be moderate-high in
the short-medium term. There would likely be a moderate level of harm to the setting
of Kelham Conservation Area and very minor harm to the wider setting of Upton
Conservation Area.

It is noted that the proposed development seeks to minimise and reduce the visual
impact of these structures in the long-term by siting them to the south-west of the
site and providing screening to the north and eastern boundaries. These measures
would reduce some of the visual contrast from the industrial-looking structures in the
long-term. However, as noted in Historic England’s ‘The Setting of Heritage assets,’
often the screening of development can have an intrusive impact on the landscape
character itself. In this instance once matured, the proposed trees to screen the site
would alter and diminish this open agricultural character itself and its association with
the nearby Conservation Areas and setting of heritage assets in the longer term. This
would diminish some of the historic association with these settlements.

In summary, the proposed development would negatively impact the rural and

Agenda Page 70



7.176

7.177

7.178

7.179

7.180

agricultural character of the setting of a number of Conservation Areas and possible
Listed Buildings. The proposal would likely result in a moderate level of harm to the
setting of Averham and Kelham Conservation Areas and very minor harm to the
setting of Upton Conservation Area. With reference to the planning policies, this
would be ‘less than substantial harm’ to the designated heritage assets. Any harm to
the significance of a designated heritage asset should require clear and convincing
justification. Less than substantial harm should be weighed against the public benefits
of the proposal. This harm weighs against the proposal. A clear and convincing
justification has been provided in terms of the need for this development to be in close
proximity to Staythorpe Substation and any identified public benefits are considered
and weighed in the overall planning balance in the conclusion below.

Impact on Archaeology

Core Policy 14 sets out that the Council will seek to secure the continued preservation
and enhancement of the character, appearance and setting of the District’s heritage
assets and historic environment including archaeological sites. Policy DM9 states that
development proposals should take account of their effect on sites and their settings
with potential for archaeological interest. Where a site on which development is
proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological
interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate
desk-based assessment and where necessary a field evaluation'.

There are some features identified in the Historic Environment Record (HER) on the
site itself which are of potential archaeological interest. The application is
accompanied by an Archaeological Evaluation Phase 1 Report which sets out trial
trenching excavations that have taken place on the site, following a geophysical survey
to assess the archaeological impact of the proposed development. This report
acknowledges that the site is in an area of some archaeological interest, with activity
from the Iron Age and Romano-British periods up to the medieval era represented by
several scattered pottery sherds and features, primarily observed to the east of the
proposed development area. A geophysical survey of the proposed development area
suggested limited archaeological interest, mostly revealing architectural features,
ferrous debris and a potential former watercourse.

The Council’s Archaeology Consultant has advised that there is one small area of
archaeological sensitivity which should be subject to further mitigation work
comprising either avoidance or excavation. This is focused around trench 53 in the
southern part of the site. The Council’s Archaeology Consultant raises no objection to
the application subject to the further work being required by planning condition.

Overall, subject to conditions, the proposal is not considered to result in any adverse
impact upon archaeological remains in accordance with Policies CP14 and DM9.

Impact upon Residential Amenity

Policy DM5 of the DPD states that the layout of development within sites and
separation distances from neighbouring development should be sufficient to ensure
that neither suffers from an unacceptable reduction in amenity including overbearing

Agenda Page 71



7.181

7.182

7.183

7.184

7.185

7.186

impacts, loss of light and privacy.

Paragraph 135 of the NPPF (2023) seeks to ensure a high standard of amenity for
existing and future users and do not undermine the quality of life or community
cohesion and resilience.

The nearest dwellings are those on the opposite side of Staythorpe Road to the south-
east of the site. The shortest distance between the substation compound boundary
and a residential dwelling is approx. 195m which forms part of a group of dwellings
that front Staythorpe Road and extend into Hopwas Close to the south-east of the
application site. There are also dwellings directly to the east on Church Lane and The
Close which face away from the site and comprise part of the main built-up area of
Averham, the closest of which is approx 220m from the site compound. Further
residential dwellings are found to the south-east on Pingley Dyke and to the south-
west on Pingley Lane.

A Noise Impact Assessment (NIA) dated May 2024 has been submitted which
describes existing noise sources in the area as being from the A617 to the north and
Staythorpe Road to the east. Further noise sources in the vicinity include the
Staythorpe substation which lies approx. 80m south of the site boundary.

The NIA has included the following fixed plant within their noise modelling:

e 82 PCS Inverter units — 87 dB LwA

e 360 battery storage units — 83 dB LwA

e 4x132/33kV transformers — 73 dB LwA
e 2x400/132kV transformers — 77 dB LwWA

Clearly this does not reflect the current site plan which only shows 82 battery storage
units. The applicant wanted to model the worst case scenario (up to 360 battery
storage units), even though this is not what is currently proposed. The Assessment
states sound power levels data for each item has been derived from information
supplied by the equipment manufacturers. Noise emissions from the battery
containers and transformers are primarily a result of the fans to cool the equipment.
The transformers will include attenuators and/or enclosures to reduce noise levels at
source. Noise barriers are included in the noise model with a height of 4m above
ground level (acoustic fence); this also includes a drainage culvert at low level, approx.
30cm deep with a length of approx. 50m. This culvert will provide an unobstructed
path for water to flow beneath the noise barrier. The Assessment states that direct
noise transmission through the culvert is relatively low and is not significant in
comparison with noise transmission over the barrier. A small increase in noise level
may occur within 1m of the noise barrier, however, for distances greater than 1m from
the barrier it is predicted that no increase in noise is predicted compared to the barrier
without the culvert.

The Assessment concluded that provided the mitigation measures outlined within the
report are incorporated in the development design, Rating Levels due to noise from
the development would not exceed the respective background sound levels by more
than 5 dB at the nearest, and therefore all noise-sensitive receptors, either during day

Agenda Page 72



7.187

7.188

7.189

7.190

7.191

7.192

7.193

7.194

7.195

or night-time periods.
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer raises no objection to the proposal.

In terms of external lighting the agent has stated “the design and specification of the
complete light system has not been completed at this phase of the project. However,
lighting at access points would be of passive infrared kind [motion sensitive], with a
suitable distance of sensitivity to reduce nuisance lighting when not required.
Additional lighting through-out the site shall be only active whole there is a need eg
workers on site, and this will be controlled via switch at the access points of the site.
All external lighting will be in accordance with CIBSE LGO6 [Lighting Guide for the
Outdoor Environment by the Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers] and
use appropriate LUX levels for use. Ultimately this matter can be subject to a planning
condition.”

It is acknowledged that the development has potential to cause particular amenity
impacts to local residents during the construction process. Dust control measures,
general construction traffic and deliveries to site, hours of operation and these aspects
can be controlled to a certain extent by conditions requiring Construction Traffic and
Environmental Management Plans to be submitted and approved. The submitted
CTMP states that the construction phase is anticipated to take between 20-24 months.

All construction traffic will access the site using the main access point on Main Road,
apart from the 6 Abnormal Loads, which would only access the site via the Staythorpe
Road access.

In principle the operational phase would be automatically/remotely controlled so
operational traffic would be very limited relating to maintenance and inspections. The
operational phase would not result in any emissions and a condition can be imposed
which would control external lighting in this countryside location.

It is not considered that the proposal would have a significant adverse impact on
neighbouring land uses in accordance with the aims of the NPPF and Policy DM4 and
DMS5 of the DPD.

Impact upon Highway Safety

Spatial Policy 7 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure that vehicular traffic generated
does not create parking or traffic problems. Policy DM5 of the ADMDPD requires the
provision of safe access to new development and appropriate parking provision.

Paragraph 110 of the NPPF (2023) states, amongst other things, that in assessing sites
that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific applications for
development, it should be ensured that safe and suitable access to the site can be
achieved for all users.

Paragraph 111 of the NPPF (2023) states that development should only be prevented
or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

Agenda Page 73



7.196 The proposal seeks to provide the main access (both for construction and operational

7.197

7.198

purposes) to be via Main Street. As originally submitted the proposal also sought to
provide a temporary access from the A617 just for the 6 abnormal loads. However,
concern was raised with regard to the environmental harm of this, including taking
out of hedgerow for such a temporary process. Through negotiation, therefore the
abnormal loads are now going to use the access from Staythorpe Road for emergency
purposes only, for the 6 abnormal loads during the construction and decommissioning
periods.

A Construction Traffic Management Plan has been submitted with the application,
which shows the following compounds/parking provision during the construction
process. Traffic to and from the site during the 20-24 month construction period
would be considerable but after that visits to the site would only be for
maintenance/inspection purposes.

“~Averham~4
./ Ay

N QN e

The Highway Authority raise no objection subject to a number of conditions. One of
the conditions relating to the need for Conditions surveys to be carried out before and
after the construction process relating to the section of Main Road between the A617
and a point 20 metres to the west of the development access has been undertaken
and any damage created to the road any defects made good. However this was not
considered to pass the tests for conditions det out in legislation and so therefore this
is recommended to be added to the S106 legal agreement. As such, on this basis, it is
considered that the application is acceptable in relation to highway safety and is
considered to be acceptable when having regard to the requirements of Spatial Policy
7 of the Amended Core Strategy, Policies DM4 and DM5 of the Newark and Sherwood
Allocations & Development Management Development Plan Document (2013) and
the guidance set out at paragraph 110 of the NPPF (2023).

Agenda Page 74



7.199

7.200

7.201

Other Matters
Cumulative Impacts

Given that the proposed BESS development on land to the south of this site
(22/01840/FULM - Construction of Battery Energy Storage System and associated
infrastructure) has been granted planning permission on appeal, this application must
now consider the cumulative impacts of potentially having two BESS developments in
relatively close proximity to one another would be acceptable. The submitted LVA
acknowledges that there would be an inevitable increase in impacts on landscape
character, however, these would be limited to the local area and would not impact
widely to the surrounding countryside. It also considers that there would be relatively
limited additional visual effects if both schemes were to come forward, although it
recognises that Staythorpe House Farm and Staythorpe House Cottage has the
potential for both developments to be visible in opposing directions from these
receptors. This would represent visual harm at a moderate level, given the distance.
It considers that due to the proximity of both sites to Staythorpe and associated
properties, that neither development would be the cause of additional visual effects
over the other. The table below sets out the cumulative impact of both schemes. With
the addition of both scheme in totality, the report states there would be additional
visual affects upon Averham village, the A617 and Trent Valley Way, however, the
proposed mitigation associated with both schemes would reduce the visual effects in
the longer term.

Lewvel of Effect for Level of effect for Land South -
Broposed Development of Staythorpe Road frenlEreEs
Receptor
Year 1 Year 15 Wear 1 Year 15 Wear 1 Year 15
Procerti=s off
TOREries o ; Modmralm . . . ioadmrmim to .
Hopwa=s Close | to Minor Minor legligible Megligibl= Minor Mimor
Fingley Bridge (R1) - " B
White Cothage [R2) _:__':;:5::5;2 Negligible Megligible Megligibl= Negligible
Staythorpe Houss=
Farm /f Staythorps= Moderate to Moderate= to Moderate= to Moderate to Moderate o
House Coltsge Minor/Minor Major Minor Major Mimor
(R3]
Stathoroe Maoderate to Moderate to Minor- Moderate to Minor-
il Minor Major Moderate-Major Major Mod=rabe-Majo
A Moderate Moderate to PR R Moderate to Moderate to
fashizm to Major Minor I=gligite I=gligibie Majar Minor
Trent Valley Wy Moderate Minor MNegligill= Megligible Moderats Mimnor
PROW Stavthoroe Modmrate Modmrates to
ROW '_;_:"I AP _1"..' . Minor Minor Minor ':.'.'t't' Mimor
FP2 to Minor Minor
Moderate . Moderate to .
BELT Mino Hm e F=gligibl= Mimor
AE17 to Minor nor legligible legligibl= Minor limo:
Modmrats To FModmrats to
Staythorp= Bosd Moderals 1'?.’“'_ o Moderate Minor “Moderabs 'd_. al= to
Minor Mimor
Y M mim
12 r::-r:;[ =i Moderate Minor Negligitd= Megligibl= Moderat= Miror

In relation to the pending scheme to the north-east of this site, under refence
23/01837/FULM for ‘Proposed ground mounted photovoltaic solar farm and battery
energy storage system with associated equipment, infrastructure, grid connection and

Agenda Page 75



7.202

7.203

ancillary work’, the agent has submitted an LVA Addendum to deal with the
cumulative effects of this scheme at Kelham with this proposed scheme. Below is a
plan that shows the relationship of this application site to proposed development
under ref 23/01837/FULM that is pending consideration. The southern-most part of
the red outlined site is where the proposed sub-station compound as well as solar
panels would be sited. This would result 12m high transformers being located both to
the north and the south-west of the village. If both were visible in both directions
from Averham, this has the potential to result in some cumulative visible harm,
however, little weight can be given to this within the consideration of this application,
as no permission has been granted on this proposal at the current time.

Length of Temporary Consent

The BESS would be a temporary use of the land as the equipment would be removed
and the land returned to its former condition when the development is
decommissioned following 40 years from the date of the first export of electricity to
the electrical grid. There is no government imposed limit on the lifetime of BESS set
out in national guidance. Whilst this, in its own right, is not necessarily a material
planning consideration, the economic and environmental benefits of increasing the
length of operation of the BESS and the benefits of renewable energy support could
be a benefit for longer as a consequence. Nevertheless, 40 years should not be
regarded as an insignificant amount of time. A condition/S106 would be imposed on
any consent relating to the decommissioning and restoration of the site at the end of
the 40 year period.

Minerals

The proposed development falls within a Minerals Safeguarding and Consultation
Area for sand and gravel and therefore Policy SP7: Minerals Safeguarding,
Consultation Areas and Associated Minerals Infrastructure of the Nottinghamshire
Minerals Local Plan needs to be addressed. This policy along with para 212 of the
NPPF requires non-mineral development within the minerals safeguarding area to

Agenda Page 76



7.204

7.205

7.206

7.207

7.208

7.209

demonstrate it will not needlessly sterilise the minerals resource. Where this cannot
be demonstrated and there is a clear need for non-mineral development, prior
extraction will be sought where practical.

The applicant has submitted a brief Mineral Resource Assessment, which states that
considering the scale of the development, and that it is a temporary permission for 40
years and the restricted nature of the scheme in needing to be in close proximity to
the existing substation, there would be no unacceptable impact on the potential to
extract the sand and gravel from the site at the end of the 40 years period. Therefore,
provided the development is only for a temporary period and there is a condition that
requires the total restoration of the site at the end of the life of the development,
there would be no undermining of the future mineral resource on the site.

Health, Safety, Fire Risk and Pollution

It is clear from the comments received from local residents that there is significant
local concern in relation to fire risk, thermal runaway in the scheme, and about the
discharge of fumes and groundwater contamination from such an event.

The applicant has submitted a Fire Strategy Management Plan, a Fire Strategy
Management Plan Addendum, a Fire Safety Statement from the applicants as well as
the applicant’s responses to specific queries raised by the Nottinghamshire Fire and
Rescue Service.

It is clear from these documents that the final supplier of this development has yet to
be chosen. However, the proposed development has had regard to all the relevant
British Standards, guidance and policy is respect of fire safety and is considered to
comply with all current legislation, guidance and best practice. The applicant is
committed to only selecting suppliers with battery systems certified under UL9540,
which is subject to tests under UL9540A at system level. UL9540A is a test
methodology at battery cell, battery module and battery system level to assess the
level of fire propagation between subcomponents. This is the strictest test under the
UL9540A test group.

The scheme would be in a secure compound and would be a considerable distance
from the nearest home. (195m to the south-east of the site). It would not contain
hazardous substances. Any fire would be contained to a single container, which is a
robust structure. Fire propagation would be mitigated by the current spacing of 2.5m
between containers together with 1 hour fire walls to be included within the BESS unit
designs to support these spacings and prevent internal fire propagation. This would
result in adjacent containers being unaffected by such an event and the incident would
remain within the confines of the site boundary. This builds on best practice and
lessons learnt from past incidents such as the 2019 McMiken and 2020 Carnegie Road
incidents which have been referred to by residents.

Best practice for managing a fire event is for the Fire Services to let the container burn
from a safe inaccessible distance. As regards the smoke plume from burning lithium-
ion batteries, the toxicity of the fumes from a burning BESS are generally accepted as
being comparable to those from burning diesel or petrol vehicles. There would be

Agenda Page 77



7.210

7.211

7.212

7.213

7.214

more hydrofluoric gas, but this is highly reactive, and residues have not been found in
the analysis of fire incidents at BESS sites. There is no evidence of contamination or
high concentrations of toxic gases from either the limited number of BESS fires that
have taken place or in laboratory assessments, including large-scale tests by a leading
expert in the field. The only recorded BESS incident in the UK at Carnegie Road,
Liverpool in 2020 which led to no damage to the environment or any personal injury.
The Hazardous Materials Environmental Protection Officers undertook a
comprehensive assessment following the event and did not record any high
concentrations of toxic gases.

The BESS is designed to remain fully operational during a flood event and would be
designed so that it could be safely accessed by the fire and rescue services. If a
container were to enter thermal runaway during a flood event, the project would have
a detailed management of State of Discharge, where the number of BESS containers
at 100% charge would be minimised. The affected container alongside its power
control system would be isolated and electronically disconnected from the grid and
the fire services would cool the area with water surrounding the container. An
impermeable membrane would capture fire water, which would be pumped away in
a controlled manner by a licenced operator. The Fire Management Plan estimates
that the probability of a container fire and design flood event (an event that would
occur on average once in 100 years) occurring at the same time would be very small
indeed.

A Fire Strategy Management Plan has been evolved through collaborative working
between the applicant and Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS). The plan
includes consultation, pre-fire planning, signage, emergency response plans and
provision for a post-incident and recovery plan.

Table 6 and of the Fire Strategy Management Plan and the response to the NFRS
received 10 November 2023 demonstrates that the proposed development and
accompanying fire safety management plan would meet, and in a number of
instances, go beyond, the recommended good practice measures set out in para 3.4.1
of the newly issued good practice guidance document “Health and Safety Guidance
for Grid Scale Electrical Energy Storage Systems,” listed in paragraph 5.5 of this report.

NFRS has no objection to the scheme subject to a condition requiring an updated Fire
Safety Management Plan. The same approach to this aspect was taken by the
Inspector during the recent Public Inquiry. Subject to the condition, the scheme would
be acceptable in terms of fire safety and would accord with Policy DM10 of the
Allocations and Development Management DPD which seeks to control the potential
for pollution from development proposals.

$106 Obligation

Any permission granted should be subject to a S106 obligation to which would secure
the long-term maintenance of the proposed landscape and biodiversity mitigation
measures (including the provision of two sky lark breeding areas and translocation of
the hedgerow along Main Road), proposed until the development is decommissioned
or for a period of 30 years from the date of the full implementation of the biodiversity

Agenda Page 78



8.0

8.1.

9.0

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

9.5.

net gain measures, whichever is the later. The applicant would need to enter into a
S106 Agreement requiring the retention, long term maintenance and monitoring of
Biodiversity Net Gain, landscape and ecological mitigation measures. The monitoring
fee will be £3,420 to cover the Council’s costs over a 30 year period. The obligation
would also include decommissioning details.

Implications

In writing this report and in putting forward recommendations officers have
considered the following implications; Data Protection, Equality and Diversity,
Financial, Human Rights, Legal, Safeguarding, Sustainability, and Crime and Disorder
and where appropriate they have made reference to these implications and added
suitable expert comment where appropriate.

Conclusion

The significant concerns raised within the objections received both from local Parish
Councils and local residents have been read and understood.

Both national and local planning policy place great emphasis on the creation of energy
through renewable schemes where the impacts of the development are (or can be
made through appropriately worded conditions) acceptable.

The scheme would have very significant benefits in supporting the transition to net
zero and in helping to secure stability and security in energy supply. This attracts
significant positive weight. Planning policies both nationally and locally support such
development, subject to its impacts being acceptable. The scheme would accord with
Core Policy 10 of the Amended Core Strategy and Policy DM4 of the Allocations and
Development Management DPD and paragraph 157 of the Framework.

The site consists of 25ha of flat agricultural land mainly laid out in two fields. It would
largely be contained behind hedgerows along its public facing boundaries, although
where occasionally sporadic and through the 3 existing field accesses, the site can be
glimpsed. Its open agricultural character is also influenced by the presence of nearby
Staythorpe substation and associated electricity infrastructure, including overhead
wires and pylons, one of which crosses the site with others on adjacent fields. Its main
visual contribution to the character and appearance of the area are therefore its
agricultural use, its openness and associated electrical infrastructure.

The proposed BESS scheme would be substantial and it would clearly change the visual
appearance of the site, taking away its open agricultural character and giving it an
industrial appearance. This has been found to have a Moderate adverse impact on
the landscape character that reduces to Minor in Year 15 due to the impact of
mitigating landscaping. The impact visually would be reduced to a certain extent by
the flat topography; however it would be clear from FP6 on raised ground to the north-
west. Overall, the visual impact is Moderate-Major adverse from some receptors
during construction and Year 1, however this largely reduces to Moderate-Minor once
the proposed mitigating landscaping around the site boundaries is established by Year
15. Although the harm to FP6 would remain as Moderate adverse harm. The harm
identified would be for a temporary 40 year period. The proposal is therefore

Agenda Page 79



9.6

9.7

9.8

9.9

9.10

considered to result in an overall moderate-minor landscape character and minor
visual harm, that would be higher during the construction period and Year 1 but
reduced to these levels over time as planting matures. This moderate-minor effect
and minor effect level weighs negatively against the proposal.

The loss of 12.6ha of Grade 3a (BMV) agricultural land and the limited Sequential
Testing carried out to demonstrate that the development could not be located on a
lower grade of agricultural land weighs significantly against the proposal (were this
latter part of Policy DM8 deemed to be applicable to this application). However, this
negative weight is considered to be tempered by the fact that the loss would be for a
temporary period of 40 years when land would be returned to agricultural use and
that the scheme demonstrates clear environmental benefits in terms of improved
biodiversity and community benefits in supporting the transition to low carbon energy
generation that could be considered to outweigh the land loss. This harm is therefore
reduced to moderate.

In flood risk terms, the scheme passes both the Sequential Test and Exceptions Test.
With appropriate mitigation, the scheme would not cause flooding or worsen flood
risk in any practical sense. The proposal would therefore accord with Core Policies 9
and 10 of the Amended Core Strategy and Policy DM5 (9) of the Allocations and
Development Management DPD and with paragraphs 165 to 175 of the NPPF.

The scheme would be acceptable as regards fire safety and potential pollution and
would accord with Policy DM10 of the Allocations and Development Management
DPD.

With appropriate mitigation for skylarks and the translocation of the hedgerow
required to be moved for a visibility splay along Main Road, protected species would
not be adversely affected and there would be significant enhancements to biodiversity
through the provision of Biodiversity Net Gain. The proposed woodland and
hedgerow planting would provide betterment as and such the proposal is in
accordance with Core Policy 12 of the Amended Core Strategy and Policy DMS5 (7) of
the Allocations and Development Management DPD.

The proposed development would result in moderate-high harm to the setting of
Averham Conservation Area, moderate harm to Kelham Conservation Area and minor
harm to the setting of Upton Conservation Area and possible listed buildings, which
would be less than substantial. Clear and convincing justification has been made for
the need for this type of development to make better, more efficient use of energy
generated by renewables. Furthermore, considering the scheme demonstrates clear
environmental benefits in terms of improved biodiversity and community benefits in
supporting the transition to low carbon energy generation, it is considered that the
harm identified would be outweighed by these identified public benefits.
Furthermore, the harm would for a limited time only, for the 40 year lifetime of the
development. Therefore, overall, the proposal would accord with Core Policy 14 of
the Amended Core Strategy and the policy guidance set out with the NPPF in this
regard.

Agenda Page 80



9.11

9.12

9.13

10.0

01

Other neutral impacts include highway safety, residential amenity, archaeology,
drainage, minerals, noise and lighting which are matters that can be acceptably
controlled through the imposition of conditions and/or S106 agreement. All concerns
and objections raised within the representations received, including from the Parish
Councils, have been fully considered.

Moderate harm has been found with regard to the loss of BMV land, landscape
character and visual impact (including cumulatively) and a range of less than
substantial harms to the setting of heritage assets. However, the benefits of the
proposal would be very substantial both in terms of energy efficiency, reducing carbon
emissions and biodiversity and trees and hedgerows, and none of the scheme’s
impacts, taken either individually or together, would be so significant so as to justify
refusal of planning permission. All material planning considerations, including the
recent appeal decision on land to the south of this site, have been considered and
weighed within the planning balance in the recommendation reached.

Approve, subject to:

a) the completion of a $106 Agreement for the following:-

i) to secure, maintain and monitor Biodiversity Net Gain, landscape and
ecological mitigation measures (provisions for skylarks and translocation
of the hedgerow),

i) decommissioning details and

iii) details of a Highway Condition Survey of Main Road between the A617
and a point 20 metres to the west of the development access to be
undertaken and once construction has completed and the site is
operational, a further Condition Survey report be submitted, together
with measures to address any defects identified, and a timetable for
implementation, and

b) subject to the conditions set out below.

Conditions

The development hereby permitted shall not begin later than three years from the date of
this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

02

The planning permission hereby granted shall be for a temporary period only, to expire 40
years after the date of the first import of electricity to the development (“the first import
date”). Written confirmation of the first import of electricity date shall be provided to the
Local Planning Authority within one month after the first import date.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of the submitted application.

Agenda Page 81



03

No later than 12 months prior to the expiry of the planning permission, or within 18 months
of the cessation of electricity storage in the site, whichever is the sooner, a decommissioning
scheme shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The
decommissioning scheme shall include a programme and a scheme of work and shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.

The operator shall notify the Local Planning Authority in writing within five working days
following the cessation of electricity storage.

All buildings, structures and associated infrastructure shall be removed within 12 months of
the approval of the decommissioning scheme, and the land restored, in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, visual and residential amenity, landscape
character and environmental protection.

04

The battery containers, substation, fencing and associated structures shall not be installed
until details of the external materials have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The details shall include an updated site layout plan that shall be in
accordance with Site Layout Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1001 Rev C) and
at a scale of not less than 1:500. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.
05

No development shall be commenced until a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP)
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CTMP
shall be prepared in accordance with the Construction Traffic Management Plan Rev C by
Pegasus Group and shall confirm the following details:

i) deliveries shall not take place outside 08:00 to 18:00 hours Monday to Fridays and
08:00 to 14:00 hours on Saturdays,

i) an indicative programme for the number of HGV and Articulated Indivisible Load
(AIL) movements;

iii) approved access and egress routes for HGV and AlL movements;

iv) Traffic Safety Management Plan showing the location and type of traffic

management signage and the location of any traffic marshals required to oversee
the access and egress of HGVs and AlLs;

v) Parking details of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;

vi) Wheel washing facilities to prevent mud and debris from migrating on to the
adjacent highway; and

vii) A timetable for the implementation of each constructional element of the plan.

The construction of the site shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved CTMP.

Agenda Page 82



Reason: In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity.
06

No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental Management Plan
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
CEMP shall contain the following details:

i) A scheme to control noise and dust;
ii) Construction working hours, which shall be limited to 08:00 to 18:00 hours
Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 to 14:00 hours on Saturdays;

iii) Loading and unloading of plant and materials;

iv) Storage of plant and metal used in constructing the development;
V) Details of the temporary compounds area, including fencing;

vi) Full details of any temporary external lighting;

vii) A construction stage flood incident plan;

viii)  Measures for the protection of habitats and species before and during
construction and a timetable for provision in accordance with the submitted
Ecological Impact Assessment by Brindle and Green dated September 2023;

ix) Construction stage emergency response plan and incident response system(s),
including responsible persons and lines of communications.

The construction of the site shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved CEMP.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety and biodiversity.
07

Prior to commencement of development, a detailed hard and soft landscaping scheme for the
site has been submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The submitted
landscape scheme shall be in accordance with the details set out in the Landscape Master
Plan (Drawing No: P22-1211-EN.0003 Rev E) and shall include details of proposed landscape
and ecology works, including:

i) Soft landscape details (to include the western and southern boundaries);
i) Harding surfacing materials;

iii) Proposed finished ground levels;

iv) Species, type, size and planting density;

V) Vehicular and pedestrian access;

vi) Soil management measures;

vii) Tree protection measures set out in an Arboricultural Method Statement and a
Tree Protection Plan prepared in accordance with BS5837;

viii)  How a biodiversity net gain of at least +23.86% net gain for habitat units and
+40.9% net gain for hedgerow units calculated using Metric 4.0 published by the
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs will be achieved;

ix) A landscape and ecological mitigation, management and maintenance plan in
accordance with the submitted Ecological Impact Assessment by Brindle and
Green dated September 2023; and

X) An implementation timetable.

Agenda Page 83



The planting proposed adjacent to Staythorpe Road shall be implemented in the first available
planting season following the approval of the landscaping scheme, and the remainder of the
approved landscaping scheme shall be implemented in its entirety no later than the first
available planting season following completion of the development. The approved
landscaping scheme shall be retained and managed in accordance with the approved
landscaping scheme for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of landscape character, rural visual and residential amenities and
biodiversity.

08

No development shall be commenced until a statement of Reasonable Avoidance Measures
Statement (RAMS) and timetable has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall identify appropriate measures for the safeguarding of
protected and locally important species and their habitats and shall include:

a) an appropriate scale plan showing protection zones where construction activities are
restricted and where protective measures will be installed or implemented,;

b) details of protective measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid impact during construction;

c) a timetable to show phasing of construction activities to avoid periods of the year
when sensitive wildlife could be harmed (such as the bird nesting season);

d) details of a person responsible for the management of the protection zones.

The content of the Statement should be guided by BS42020:2013: Biodiversity - Code of
Practice for Planning and Development.

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and timetable.
Reason: In the interests of maintaining and enhancing biodiversity and ecological assets.
09

The proposed new access to Main Road shall not be commenced until details of the Hedge
Translocation (shown on Drawing No:**) [to be inserted by Late Items Schedule] including a
translocation method statement and timetable for the works, which shall be prepared in
compliance with BS5837, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The translocation of the hedgerow shall thereafter be carried out only in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the biodiversity, landscape character and visual amenities.
010

No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surface water drainage
scheme shall be in substantial accordance with the principles set out in the Surface Water

Agenda Page 84



Management Strategy Rev P02 (dated February 2023), as amended by the Technical Note
Staythorpe SWMS Addendum dated 18 September 2023.

The scheme to be submitted shall:

J Demonstrate that the development will use Sustainable Drainage Systems throughout
the site as a primary means of surface water management and that design is in
accordance with CIRIA C753 and NPPF Paragraph 175.

. Limit the discharge generated by all rainfall events up to the 100 year plus 40%
(climate change) critical rain storm to QBar rates for the developable area.

J Provide detailed design (plans, network details, calculations and supporting summary
documentation) in support of any surface water drainage scheme, including details on
any attenuation system, the outfall arrangements and any private drainage assets.

J Calculations should demonstrate the performance of the designed system for a range
of return periods and storm durations inclusive of the 1in 1 year, 1 in 30 year and 1 in

100 year plus climate change return periods.

- No surcharge shownina 1lin 1 year.

- No flooding shown in a 1 in 30 year.

- For all exceedance to be contained within the site boundary without flooding
properties in a 100 year plus 40% storm.

J Evidence to demonstrate the viability (e.g Condition, Capacity and positive onward
connection) of any receiving watercourse to accept and convey all surface water from
the site.

J Provide a surface water management plan demonstrating how surface water flows

will be managed during construction to ensure no increase in flood risk off site.

J Evidence of how the on-site surface water drainage systems, including the open
drainage ditch along the western boundary of the site, shall be maintained and
managed after completion and for the lifetime of the development to ensure long
term effectiveness.

The approved surface water drainage scheme shall be implemented and maintain for the
lifetime of the development.

Reason: A detailed surface water management plan is required to ensure that the
development is in accordance with NPPF and local planning policies. It should be ensured that
all major developments have sufficient surface water management, are not at increased risk
of flooding and do not increase flood risk off-site.

011

No development shall be occupied until details of the means of foul drainage disposal have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be carried out thereafter in accordance with the approved details.

Agenda Page 85



Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory means of foul sewage/surface water disposal.
012

The development shall be implemented and maintained for its lifetime in accordance with
the following flood risk mitigation measures:

i) finished floor levels for all battery containers located on land indicated to flood during the
design flood event (1 in 100 AEP event plus 50% allowance for climate change) shall be
300mm above peak flood level during the design flood event;

ii) level-for-level compensatory flood storage shall be provided in accordance with Appendix
A and B of the Level 2 Flood Risk Assessment (dated February 2023);

iii) the scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained in accordance with
the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements that shall first be agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of mitigating against flood risk.
013

The development shall not be brought into use until an operational stage incident plan has
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The plan shall be
prepared in accordance with the Level 2 Flood Risk Assessment (dated February 2023). The
development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved operational stage flood
incident plan.

Reason: To provide appropriate mitigation in a flood event.
014

No development shall be commenced until details of the site access have been submitted to
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall be in accordance with the
details shown on Main Road Access (Drawing No: P22-1211 TR-SKO1 rev B) and Staythorpe
Road Access Geometric Parameters (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-SK05 Rev C) and include details
of necessary vegetation clearance, culverts and a programme for the delivery of the site
access works, of which the access on Main Road shall comprise the first part of the
development to be implemented. All works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interests of general highway safety.
015

The visibility splays shown on drawing P22-1211 TR-SKO01 rev B shall be provided prior to the
Main Road access being brought into use. For clarity, any hedging within 1 metre to the rear
of the splay shall be removed and the splays then kept clear of all obstructions of 0.26 metres
above carriageway level for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Agenda Page 86



016

The Staythorpe Road access shall be used only by Abnormal Load vehicles, any associated
escort vehicles, emergency services and agricultural vehicles associated with the existing
farming use. No other vehicles are permitted to use it for access or egress related to the
construction of development and the gates must be closed at all times other than to allow
passage of aforementioned vehicles.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, and general interests of highway safety.
017

The Staythorpe Road access shall not be used for abnormal load deliveries until a
comprehensive abnormal loading delivery plan, including temporary signing, construction
traffic routing and structural assessments for any highway structures affected by delivery has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any abnormal
load deliveries shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved plan.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
018
Part 1

Except for archaeological works, no development shall take place until an archaeological
Mitigation Strategy for the protection of archaeological remains is submitted to and approved
by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The Mitigation Strategy shall include appropriate
Written Schemes of Investigation for each phase of archaeological work as necessary. These
schemes shall include the following:

1. An assessment of significance and proposed mitigation strategy (ie preservation by
record, preservation in situ or a mix of these elements);

2. A methodology and timetable of site investigation and recording;

3. Provision of site analysis;

4, Provision for publication and dissemination of analysis and records;

5. Provision for archive deposition;

6. Nomination of a competent person/organisation to undertake the work.

The scheme of archaeological investigation shall only be undertaken in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: To ensure the preparation and implementation of an appropriate scheme of
archaeological mitigation in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.

019

Agenda Page 87



Part 2

The archaeological site work shall be undertaken only in full accordance with the approved
Mitigation Strategy and written schemes referred to in the above Condition. The developer
shall notify the Local Planning Authority of the intention to commence at least 14 days before
the start of archaeological work in order to facilitate adequate monitoring arrangements. No
variation shall take place without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory arrangements are made for the recording of possible
archaeological remains in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.

020
Part 3

A report of the archaeologist’s findings shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and
the Historic Environment Record Officer at Nottinghamshire County Council within 3 months
of the archaeological works hereby approved being commenced. The post-investigation
assessment shall be completed in accordance with the programme set out in the approved
Written Scheme of Investigation and shall include provision for analysis, publication and
dissemination of results and deposition of the archive being secured.

Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory arrangements are made for the investigation,
retrieval and recording of any possible archaeological remains on the site in accordance with
the National Planning Policy Framework.

021

No development shall take place until a Fire Safety Management Plan has been submitted to
and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The Plan shall include expected gas
concentrations at ground level during a fire event; design details justifying BESS unit spacing
and fire suppression systems selected and shall be prepared in accordance with the Fire
Strategy Management Plan Rev (2) dated September 2023 by AECOM and the operational
stage flood incident plan (Condition 12). The development shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved updated Fire Safety Management Plan.

Reason: In the interests of fire safety and flood risk.
022

The development hereby approved shall be implemented in full accordance with all the noise
mitigation measures and the rating levels of noise due to the operation of the development
on the three identified noise sensitive receptors set out within the submitted Noise Impact
Assessment Issue 3 dated 8 February 2024 by Environmental Noise Solutions Ltd. The
operational noise mitigation measures shall be maintained for the lifetime of the
development.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

023

Agenda Page 88



No permanent external lighting shall be installed on the site until details have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Lighting shall be designed to
prevent light spillage and be directed away from sensitive receptors and habitat, such as
woodland. Any external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the approved details for
the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, the character of the open countryside and
biodiversity.

024

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance
with the following approved plans/drawings:

General Plans:

Site Location Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1004 Rev A)

Site Layout Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1001 Rev C)

400kV BESS Substation Layout Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1015 Rev A)
400kV BESS Substation Elevation (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1016 Rev A)
132kV BESS Substation Layout Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1005 Rev C)
132kV BESS Substation Elevation (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1006 Rev B)
Battery and PCS Unit Indicative Elevations (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1002
Rev B)

Control Building and Storage Building Indicative Floor Plan (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-
LAY-GEN-1007 Rev A)

Control Building, Storage Building and Water Tank Indicative Elevations (Drawing No:
60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1003 Rev B)

Typical Details — Fencing, CCTV, Intercom, Auxiliary Transformer and Fire Hydrant (Drawing
No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1005 Rev A)

Typical Details — Typical Access Track (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1005 Rev C)
Indicative Acoustic Barrier and Bund Elevation (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-
1008 Rev B)

Construction Compound Indicative only (Drawing No: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-GEN-1006 Rev
A)

Proposed Landscape Plans:

Landscape Masterplan (Drawing No: P22-1211-EN.0003 Rev E)

Landscape Boundary Sections —Year 1 and 15 (Drawing No: P22-1211-EN.0002 — Sheets 1 and
2 Rev A)

Landscape Masterplan — Main Road Access (Drawing No: P22-1211-EN0004 Rev E)

Proposed Highway Plans:
Main Road Access (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-SK01 B) attached at the end of the Construction
Traffic Management Plan Rev C by Pegasus Group

Main Road Access HGV Swept Path Analysis (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-SK02 A)
Staythorpe Road Access Geometric Parameters (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-SKO5 Rev C)

Agenda Page 89



Staythorpe Road Access Fire Tender Swept Path Analysis (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-SK06 Rev
Q)
Staythorpe Road Access Abnormal Load Swept Path Analysis (Drawing No: P22-1211TR-SK10
A)

Reason: So as to define this permission.

Informatives
01

The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after the 1st December
2011 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details of CIL are
available on the Council's website at www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/cil/

The proposed development has been assessed and it is the Council's view that CIL is not
payable on the development hereby approved as the development type proposed is zero
rated.

02

This application has been the subject of pre-application discussions and has been approved
in accordance with that advice. The District Planning Authority has accordingly worked
positively and pro-actively, seeking solutions to problems arising in coming to its decision.
This is fully in accordance with Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended).

03

In order to carry out the off-site works required, the applicant will be undertaking work in the
public highway which is land subject to the provisions of the Highways Act 1980 (as amended)
and therefore land over which the applicant has no control. In order to undertake the works,
which must comply with the Nottinghamshire County Council’s current highway design
guidance and specification for roadworks, the applicant will need to enter into an Agreement
under Section 278 of the Act. The Agreement can take some time to complete as timescales
are dependent on the quality of the submission, as well as how quickly the applicant responds
with any necessary alterations. Therefore, it is recommended that the applicant contacts the
Highway Authority as early as possible. Work in the public highway will not be permitted until
the Section 278 Agreement is signed by all parties.

04

Furthermore, any details submitted in relation to a reserved matters or discharge of condition
planning application, are unlikely to be considered by the Highway Authority until technical
approval of the Section 278 Agreement is issued.

05

Planning permission is not permission to work on or from the public highway. In order to
ensure all necessary licences and permission are in place you must contact

Agenda Page 90



licences@viaem.co.uk

06

Correspondence  with the Highway Authority should be addressed to
hdc.north@niottscc.gov.uk

07

The routing and approval of abnormal loads on the highway network within Nottinghamshire
is managed by Via East Midlands on behalf of the Highway Authority. Prior to discharge of
condition 7, we strongly recommend contacting the Abnormal Loads Officer at
abnormalloads@viaem.co.uk to discuss to your proposals.

08

With respect to the attached archaeological conditions, please contact the Historic Places
team at Lincolnshire County Council, Lancaster House, 36 Orchard Street, Lincoln, LN1 1XX,
07880420410, email Archaeology@lincolnshire.gov.uk to discuss the requirements and
request preparation of a brief for the works.

It is recommended the resulting written schemes of investigation are approved by the LCC
Historic Environment Officer prior to formal submission to the Local Planning Authority. Ten
days' notice is required before commencement of any archaeological works.

09

National Highways have requested that that the develop to consult with the A46 Newark By-
Pass Team in the event that their detailed plans incorporate new or diverted services with the
verges of the A617, to ensure the impacts to the A46 Newark Bypass scheme proposals for
the flood compensation area are taken into consideration. Contact details:
adbnewarkbypass@nationalhighways.co.uk

010

Cadent Gas Ltd own and operate the gas infrastructure within the area of your development.
There may be a legal interest (easements and other rights) in the land that restrict activity in
proximity to Cadent assets in private land. The applicant must ensure that the proposed
works do not infringe on legal rights of access and or restrictive covenants that exist.

If buildings or structures are proposed directly above the apparatus the development may
only take place following diversion of the apparatus diverted in advance of any works, by
visiting cadentgas.com/diversions

Prior to carrying out works, including the construction of access points, please register on
www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk to submit details of the planned works for review, ensuring
requirements are adhered to.

011

Comments from National Gas Transmission plc - It is the developer’s responsibility to take

Agenda Page 91


mailto:licences@viaem.co.uk
mailto:hdc.north@niottscc.gov.uk
mailto:abnormalloads@viaem.co.uk
mailto:a46newarkbypass@nationalhighways.co.uk
http://www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk/

into account whether they are required to or would benefit from referring to the HSE Land
Use Planning App (LUP), available from HSE’s website. (Please note for some works this is a
requirement for them to take place). More information on the LUP is available at
http://www.hse.gov.uk/landuseplanning/

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the documents
listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section 100D of the Local
Government Act 1972.

Application case file.

e Appeal Decision Letter relating to application 22/01840/FULM dated 03.05.2024 in link
below
e BESS Appeal decision

Agenda Page 92


http://www.hse.gov.uk/landuseplanning/
https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-applications/files/7D67FDAA194A00029E94521F53AB5E2F/pdf/22_01840_FULM--1477785.pdf

Committee Plan - 23/00317/FULM

barrow
use

Flash,Farm

Cotta
Planta

dai Averham

Staythorpe

g

© Crown Copyright and database right 2022 Ordnance Survey. Licence 100022288. Scale: Not to scale

Agenda Page 93



Agenda Iltem 5

NEWARK &
SHERWOOQOD

anme DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Planning Committee — 19 June 2024

Business Manager Lead: Lisa Hughes — Planning Development

Lead Officer: Julia Lockwood, Senior Planner, julia.lockwood @newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk

Report Summary

Application No. 23/00810/FULM

Laying of an underground cable run linking Battery Energy Storage

P I
roposa System to Grid Connection Point at Staythorpe Substation

Location Land Adjacent Staythorpe Substation, Staythorpe Road, Staythorpe
. SSE Staythorpe Pegasus Planning Group

Applicant Battery Ltd Agent Ltd — Emma Ridley

23/00810/FULM | Laying of an underground cable run linking Battery
Web Link Energy Storage System to Grid Connection Point at Staythorpe

Substation. | Land Adjacent Staythorpe Substation Staythorpe Road

Staythorpe (hewark-sherwooddc.gov.uk)

T t Dat
argetbateé 51 september 2023

Registered 28 July 2023

Extension of

. 17 June 2024
Time

That full planning permission is APPROVED subject to the Conditions

Recommendation . .
set out in Section 10

It is considered appropriate that this application be determined at the same Planning
Committee as the proposed associated BESS development under 23/00317/FULM. The
BESS development application is presented to Planning Committee at the request of the
Business Manager — Planning Development

1.0 The Site

1.1 Sitting between the A617 and the railway line to the east of Staythorpe village, the
application site comprises an irregular shaped piece of land, 2.25 ha in area. The site
runs along part of the length of Staythorpe Road between the agricultural land on the
east side of the road, currently the subject of planning application 23/00317/FULM for
the “Construction and operation of Battery Energy Storage System (BESS),
transformer/sub-station and associated infrastructure” that runs past Hopwas Close,
over Pingley Dyke, past the entrance to Staythorpe Power Station and then further
along the road in a south-west direction, terminating at the point where it connects

Agenda Page 94


https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RUG71SLBIJ900
https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RUG71SLBIJ900
https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RUG71SLBIJ900
https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RUG71SLBIJ900

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

2.0

2.1.

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

with the Staythorpe Substation site on the opposite/south side of the road.

The site is surrounded by open fields to the north and west and to the south-east is a
small cluster of dwellings centred around Hopwas Close with Staythorpe Substation to
the south-west. The site is located within the open countryside.

Within the application site, land to the north of Hopwas Close is located within Flood
Zone 1, at low risk of main river flooding but land to the south of Hopwas Close, is
situated within Flood Zone 3a, at high risk of fluvial flooding. There is no medium/high
surface water risk on the site.

Averham Conservation Area boundary is situated approx. 25m to the north-east of the
site which contains a number of listed buildings and a Scheduled Monument (Averham
moat and enclosure). There is a Grade Il listed Manor House to the south-west within
Staythorpe.

The site has the following constraints:

- Partly within Flood Zone 3a, high risk of fluvial flooding
- Within the setting of designated Heritage Assets.

Relevant Planning History

23/00317/FULM - Construction and operation of Battery Energy Storage System
(BESS), transformer/sub-station and associated infrastructure — under consideration

The Proposal

Full planning permission is sought for the laying of an underground cable linking the
PROPOSED Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) to the existing Grid Connection Point
at Staythorpe Substation. The application follows the submission of a planning
application for a new Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) under reference
23/00317/FULM) which is also on this Planning Committee agenda for consideration.

The proposed cable route, which is required to provide a grid connection from the
proposed BESS to the local electricity network, follows a 230m stretch of highway
along Staythorpe Road. The red line site comprises current agricultural land (within
application 23/00317/FULM, pending consideration), highway land, verges (including
a ditch) and land occupied by Staythorpe Substation. The cable route would largely
follow the existing route of Staythorpe Road and be predominantly located beneath
the existing tarmacked road.

The cable route would be constructed following the digging out of trenches at each
end of the route (within the agricultural land at one end and within the substation
land at the other). However, the majority of the cabling would be laid using horizontal
directional drilling (HDD) below ground from a launch pit within the substation site
(20m long by 3m deep) and a reception pit within the agricultural land (15m long by
3m deep). This technique would avoid any significant disruption to Staythorpe Road
and its structural and hard surfaced integrity. At one point, the underground cable
conduits would run underneath Pingley Dyke. The submitted cross section shows the

Agenda Page 95



3.4

3.5

4.0

4.1

cable route would be at its deepest point here, a minimum of 5m below the stream
bed of Pingley Dyke and a total of approx. 9m below ground level at this point.

The supporting information states the proposed cable is an essential infrastructure
requirement needed to link the proposed Battery Energy Storage System
development on the west side of the road to Staythorpe substation on the east side
of the road. This link would allow the energy from renewable sources and stored on
one site to be transferred and exported to the national grid on the other. The Planning
Statement set out that it would assist in meeting regional and national targets for low
carbon energy development to allow more flexible use of renewable energy supplies.

Documents assessed in this appraisal:

- Cable Cross Sections: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1012 005 received 21 December
2023;

- 400kV Cable Route HDD Section: 60687996-ACM-AA-LAY-EL-1013 008 received 21
December 2023;

- 400kV Cable Route General Arrangement: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1008 012
received 21 December 2023;

- Planning Statement incl. Flood Assessment

Departure/Public Advertisement Procedure

Occupiers of 13 properties have been individually notified by letter. A site notice has
also been displayed near to the site and an advert has been placed in the local press.

Agenda Page 96



4.2

5.0

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

6.0

6.1.

6.2.

Site visit undertaken on 14.08.2023

Planning Policy Framework

The Development Plan

Newark and Sherwood Amended Core Strategy DPD (adopted March 2019)

Spatial Policy 1 - Settlement Hierarchy
Spatial Policy 3 — Rural Areas

Spatial Policy 7 - Sustainable Transport
Core Policy 9 -Sustainable Design

Core Policy 10 — Climate Change

Core Policy 13 — Landscape Character
Core Policy 14 — Historic Environment

Allocations & Development Management DPD (2013)

DM4 — Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation

DMS5 — Design

DMS8 — Development in the Open Countryside

DM9 — Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment
DM12 — Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

The Draft Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD was submitted to
the Secretary of State on the 18th January 2024. This is therefore at an advanced stage
of preparation albeit the DPD is yet to be examined. There are unresolved objections
to amended versions of all the above emerging through that process, and so the level
of weight which those proposed new policies can be afforded is currently limited. As
such, the application has been assessed in-line with policies from the adopted
Development Plan.

Other Material Planning Considerations

National Planning Policy Framework 2023

Planning Practice Guidance (online resource)

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Consultations and Representations
Please Note: Comments below are provided in summary - for comments in full please
see the online planning file.

Statutory Consultations

Environment Agency — No objection subject to condition that requires a 5m easement
to be provided between the bottom of the Pingley Dyke riverbed and the cable, as
shown on the submitted plans.

NCC - Lead Local Flood Authority — No objection.

Agenda Page 97


https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/media/nsdc-redesign/documents-and-images/your-council/planning-policy/local-development-framework/amended-allocations-and-development-management-dpd/Plan-Review-AADMDPD---2-Pub-Stage---Clean-Version.pdf

6.3.

6.4.

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

NCC, Highway Authority — No objection, however the applicant is not a Statutory
Undertaker and will not be allowed to carry out the works. The works must be carried
out by a Statutory Utility company and the cable would need to be adopted by a
Distribution Network Operator. Please include an informative to this effect.

Historic England — No advice offered and suggest the views of your specialist
Conservation and archaeological advisers are sought.

Town/Parish Council

Averham, Kelham and Staythorpe Parish Council (Host):- Object on the following
grounds-

- the main application for a BESS (23/00317/FULM) has not yet been determined
and as such this application would seem premature. This application should only
be considered either alongside the main application or once it has been
determined.

Upton Parish Council (Neighbouring parish):- Object on the following grounds:

- the application only has validity when viewed in conjunction with application
reference 23/00317/FULM;

- On face, this application is presumptive of the fact that approval will be given for
23/00317/FULM;

- Upton Parish Council has already registered its objection to the original
application and stays firm in that view. By implication, if the original BESS
application is rejected, this new cable route application should also be objected
to and/or withdrawn.

Representations/Non-Statutory Consultation
National Gas — there are no National Gas Transmission assets affected in this area.

Trent Valley Internal Drainage Board — general comments in relation to when the
Board’s consent is required.

NSDC, Conservation — No technical advice is required. The site is close to Averham
Conservation Area (a designated heritage asset) and great weight should be given to
an asset’s conservation.

NSDC, Archaeology Consultant — No objection, subject to condition for a mitigation
strategy. Ground works associated with this work have the potential to disturb
significant archaeological remains. The northern section of the cable route within the
battery storage site has already been subject to evaluation trenching and no further
archaeological work is recommended in this section of the cable route. Further work
is recommended on the remainder of the cable route and is likely to comprise
monitoring of the cable trench.

Comments have been received from 12 third parties/local residents, including one
from Hopwas Close Residents’ Association, that can be summarised as follows:

Agenda Page 98



This underground cable installation is in preparation for supporting another
proposed planning application i.e. the construction and operation of a Battery
Energy Storage System on land off Staythorpe Road (Ref: 23/00317/FULM);
How can this application be seen as a separate entity, when the application it
refers to has not yet been submitted for planning permission?;

Both applications should be submitted at the same time, or this application
submitted afterwards IF 23/00317/FULM is successful, which is not a forgone
conclusion. This timing would potentially avoid unnecessary waste of money,
labour, resources, electricity etc.

The cost of construction of this application in what is considered to be a very
premature application, as it would be a huge waste if 23/00317/FULM is
rejected;

It is questioned why the applicant failed to include this cable connection with
the main development application;

Question the logic of need to disturb and disrupt some 175m of the
carriageway when there is adequate grass verge;

Concern that the submission refers to the cable run being proposed for a solar
farm;

This would cause unnecessary disruption to local people and those that travel
on Staythorpe Road,;

It has a confusing address as it is in Averham parish not Staythorpe;
Misleading claim to ‘support the provision of a substantial renewable and
sustainable form of electricity’ which it does neither;

It does not contain any traffic management plans or details on how vehicle and
pedestrian traffic will be affected or safely managed during the disruption;
Application lacks detail, location and depth of trench excavations, how and
where it will cross Pingley Dyke, materials to be used, working hours, duration
of project;

Disruption to wildlife that burrow in the drainage banks on the north side of
the road; loss of good quality farmland, isolation of village by industry and no
guide from Government on safety;

Non-compliance with national and local planning policy;

Non-compliance with environmental Stewardship;

Destroy ambience of area;

Siting so close to residents of a rural community;

Loss of good and moderate grade agricultural land classified;

Sited on a floodplain;

Pingley Dyke already holds its maximum capacity of water after heavy rainfall
which will cause flooding;

Who will pick up the tab for the cost of anything going wrong?;

The adverse effects significantly outweigh any potential benefit of the facility;
and

The implications of both applications on our village will be extremely harmful.

6 other comments have been made that relate to the BESS proposal.

Agenda Page 99



7.0

7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

7.4

7.5

Comments of the Business Manager — Planning Development

The key issues are:

Principle of Development
Landscape and Visual Impacts
Impact upon Heritage Assets
Impact upon Archaeology
Impact on Residential Amenity
Impact on Highway Safety
Impact on Flood Risk

Other matters

Nk WN PR

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) promotes the principle of a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and recognises the duty under the
Planning Acts for planning applications to be determined in accordance with the
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise, in accordance
with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The NPPF
refers to the presumption in favour of sustainable development being at the heart of
development and sees sustainable development as a golden thread running through
both plan making and decision taking. This is confirmed at the development plan level
under Policy DM12 ‘Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development’ of the
Allocations and Development Management DPD.

As the application concerns designated heritage assets of the setting of listed buildings,
section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the ‘Act’)
is particularly relevant. Section 66 outlines the general duty in exercise of planning
functions in respect to listed buildings stating that the decision maker “shall have
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features
of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”

The duty in s.66 of the Listed Buildings Act does not allow a local planning authority to
treat the desirability of preserving the settings of listed buildings as a mere material
consideration to which it can simply attach such weight as it sees fit. When an authority
finds that a proposed development would harm the setting of a listed building, it must
give that harm considerable importance and weight.

Principle of Development

As already indicated by the comments made by the Parish Council and local residents,
this application is indeed intrinsically linked to the proposed Battery Energy Storage
System (BESS) (23/00317/FULM) that precedes this application on the agenda. This
cable infrastructure is required in order to allow the weighing of the benefits of
application 23/00317/FULM because without this connection the proposed BESS
could not operate. Equally, there would be no reason to implement this planning
application, if the application for the BESS is rejected. However, having set out this
intrinsic functional link, it is also important that each application is considered
independently on its own merits. For example, it could theoretically arise where
planning permission is refused for the BESS application but yet approved for this

Agenda Page 100



7.6

7.7

7.8

7.9

underground cable route. It would then be up to the applicant as to whether they
choose to implement the cable permission or not.

The site is located within the open countryside. Spatial Policy 3 states that the rural
economy will be supported by encouraging tourism, rural diversification and by
supporting appropriate agricultural development and that the countryside will be
protected and schemes to enhance heritage assets, to increase biodiversity, enhance
the landscape and increase woodland cover will be encouraged. Development in the
open countryside will be strictly controlled and restricted to uses which require a rural
setting.

Policy DM8 of the ADMDPD is silent on the appropriateness of renewable linked
development in the open countryside. However, the District Council’s commitment to
tackling climate change is set out in Core Policy 10 which states that the Council is
committed to tackling the causes and impacts of climate change and to delivering a
reduction in the District’s carbon footprint. This provides that the Council will
promote the provision of renewable and low carbon energy generation within new
development. Although the reference is specifically to energy ‘generation’ and this
development would not generate energy in and of itself, it nevertheless would assist
and facilitate a greater capacity of use of energy generated by renewable and low
carbon energy sources through storage. Core Policy 10 then signposts to Policy DM4
which states that permission shall be granted for renewable energy generation
development and its associated infrastructure, as both standalone projects and as part
of other development, where its benefits are not outweighed by detrimental impact
from the operation and maintenance of the development and through the installation
process upon various criteria. The criteria include landscape character from the
individual or cumulative impact of the proposals, heritage assets and their setting,
amenity including noise pollution, highway safety and ecology of the local and wider
area.

This approach is also echoed by the NPPF which states in para 163 that ‘when
determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon development, local
planning authorities should:

a. Not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low
carbon energy, and recognise that even small scale projects provide a valuable
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions;

b. approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable;...’

Policy DMS8 also provides support for rural diversification projects — proposals to
diversify the economic activity of rural businesses will be supported where it can be
shown that they contribute to the local economy.

Landscape and Visual Impacts

Core Policy 9 states that new development should achieve a high standard of
sustainable design and layout that is of an appropriate form and scale to its context
complementing the existing built and landscape environments. In accordance with
Core Policy 9, all proposals for new development are assessed with reference to the

Agenda Page 101



7.10

7.11

7.12

7.13

7.14

7.15

7.16

design criteria outlined in Policy DM5 ‘Design’ of the Allocation and Development
Management DPD.

Core Policy 13 requires the landscape character of the surrounding area to be
conserved and created. Para 180 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should
recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.

The application site does not sit within any statutory or non-statutory landscape
designations, however, it is within the open countryside.

It is envisaged that the cable route would be constructed following the limited digging
out of trenches and launch and reception pits at each end of the route, but that the
majority of the cabling would be laid using horizontal directional within a 14m wide
corridor within the highway. Where trenches and the launch and reception pit areas
are required to be dug, once complete these areas would be re-filled to the same
ground levels as existing. The majority of the proposal would represent works
underground and as such would have very little impact on the visual amenity and
landscape character of the area.

Overall, the proposal, once complete would not be harmful to the visual and rural
amenities of the area or its landscape character and would accord with Core Policy 9
and 13 of the Amended Core Strategy and Policy DM5 of the Allocations and
Development Management DPD.

Impact upon Heritage Assets

The NPPF defines the setting of a heritage asset as: “The surroundings in which a
heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and
its surrounding evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative
contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that
significance or may be neutral.”

Core Policy 14 and DM9 of the Council’s LDF DPDs, amongst other things, seek to protect
the historic environment and ensure that heritage assets are managed in a way that
best sustains their significance. The importance of considering the setting of designated
heritage assets, furthermore, is expressed in Section 16 of the NPPF and the
accompanying PPG. The NPPF advises that the significance of designated heritage assets
can be harmed or lost through alterations or development within their setting. Such
harm or loss to significance requires clear and convincing justification. The NPPF also
makes it clear that protecting and enhancing the historic environment is sustainable
development (paragraph 8.c).

There are no heritage assets within the red line of the application site, although there
are a number of designated assets in the nearby settlements of Averham and
Staythorpe. These include the following:

e Averham moat and enclosure Scheduled Ancient Monument (400m to the
east)

e Church of St Michael Grade | listed (740m to the east)

e Yew Tree Cottage, Grade | listed (480m to the east)

Agenda Page 102



7.17

7.18

7.19

7.20

7.21

7.22

7.23

e Rectory Cottage, Grade Il listed (610m to the east)

e The Old Rectory Grade Il listed (680m to the east)

e Lynch Gate at Church of St Michael Grade Il listed (680m to the east)

e The Manor House Grade Il (538m to the south-west);

e Averham Conservation Area boundary is approx. 25m to the north-east.

Given that the proposal would not result in any significant change to the appearance
of the application site once the works have been completed and the distance between
the site and the designated heritage assets listed above, means that no harm has been
identified in relation to impacts on the setting of these designated heritage assets.

Historic England and the Council’s Conservation Officer have raised no objection to
the scheme.

Therefore, it is considered that the proposal accords with Core Policy 14 and Policy
DM9 of the Development Plan and preserves setting as required by Section 66 of the
Act.

Impact upon Archaeology

Core Policy 14 sets out that the Council will seek to secure the continued preservation
and enhancement of the character, appearance and setting of the District’s heritage
assets and historic environment including archaeological sites. Policy DM9 states that
development proposals should take account of their effect on sites and their settings
with potential for archaeological interest. Where a site on which development is
proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with archaeological
interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an
appropriate desk-based assessment and where necessary a field evaluation'.

The proposed works lie in an area of high archaeological potential associated with
Mesolithic, Bronze Age, Iron Age, Roman and modern activity. Recent archaeological
work at the Staythorpe Power station has identified Bronze Age features and
archaeological evaluation within the proposed site boundary for the new battery
storage site has identified Roman remains. A Mesolithic femur was recovered close to
the power station during work in the 1990s and a WW?2 aircraft crash site is recorded
somewhere within the vicinity of the power station, although the precise location is
not recorded on the Nottinghamshire HER.

The Council’s Archaeology adviser has raised no objection, subject to condition for a
mitigation strategy. Ground works associated with this work have the potential to
disturb significant and archaeological remains. The northern section of the cable
route within the proposed battery storage site has already been subject to evaluation
trenching and no further archaeological work is recommended in this section of the
cable route. Further work is recommended on the remainder of the cable route and
is likely to comprise monitoring of the works.

Overall, subject to conditions, the proposal is not considered to result in any adverse
impact upon archaeological remains in accordance with Policies CP14 and DM9.

Agenda Page 103



7.24

7.25

7.26

7.27

7.28

7.29

7.30

7.31

Impact on Residential Amenity

Policy DM5 of the DPD states that development proposals should ensure no
unacceptable reduction in amenity including overbearing impacts and loss of privacy
upon neighbouring development. The NPPF seeks to secure a high standard of
amenity for existing and future users in para 135.

The nearest residential properties to the site are those on the south-east side of
Staythorpe Road based around Hopwas Close. Again, once completed, the works
would result in very little change to the existing situation. However, it is
acknowledged that whilst the proposal is being constructed, there is likely to be some
disruption to nearby residents potentially in terms of noise and access, however, it
would not be for a prolonged period.

Overall, it is considered that the proposal would generally accord with Policy DM5.

Impact upon Highway Safety

Policy DMS5 is explicit in stating that provision should be made for safe and inclusive
access to new development whilst Spatial Policy 7 encourages proposals, which are
appropriate for the highway network in terms of the volume and nature of traffic
generated, and ensure that the safety, convenience and free flow of traffic using the
highway are not adversely affected.

There would be no long term impact on the highway, again there may be some limited
local disruption during construction. The Highway Authority has raised no objection
on highway safety grounds. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with the
Development Plan and national guidance, in this regard.

Impact on Flood Risk

Land to the north of Hopwas Close is located within Flood Zone 1, at low risk of main
river flooding but land to the south of Hopwas Close, is situated within Flood Zone 3a,
at high risk of fluvial flooding. Surface water flood risk is low and very low within the
application site.

Paragraph 157 of the NPPF also states that the planning system should support the
transition to a low carbon future, in a changing climate, taking full account of flood
risk and that it should support renewable and low carbon energy and associated
infrastructure.

Core Policy 9 requires that proposals pro-actively manage surface water and Core
Policy 10 and Policy DM5 seek to mitigate the impacts of climate change through
ensuring that new development proposals take into account the need to reduce the
causes and impacts of climate change and flood risk. The NPPF, Core Policy 10 and
DMD5 states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be
avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk through the
application of the Sequential Test, but where development is necessary, making it safe
without increasing flood risk elsewhere as set out in the application of the Exception
Test.

Agenda Page 104



7.32

7.33

7.34

7.35

7.36

7.37

7.38

7.39

7.40

In relation to the Sequential Test, the area to apply the test can be defined by local
circumstances, relating to the catchment area for the type of development. In this
particular case, it is the proximity to the proposed BESS and Staythorpe substation
that are the key locational characteristics for the cable route proposed. As such, this
development could not be located anywhere else and therefore the Sequential Test is
considered to be passed.

Annex 3 (Flood risk vulnerability classification) of the NPPF identifies that essential
infrastructure includes “essential utility infrastructure which has to be located in a
flood risk area for operational reasons, including infrastructure for electricity supply
including generation, storage and distributions systems; including electricity
generating power stations, grid and primary substations storage; and water treatment
works that need to remain operational in times of flood.”

Table 2 within the Planning Policy Guidance sets out that essential infrastructure is
allowed in Flood Zone 3a but should be designed and constructed to remain
operational and safe in times of flood.

Given the proposed cable route would be largely located below ground and suitably
constructed, there would be a minimal risk to the infrastructure or to the surrounding
area in the event of a flood. The application confirms that the proposal would not
result in any lowering or raising of existing ground levels within any part of the site
and it is not proposed to undertake any works which would affect flood risk on the
site or in the surrounding area. The underground cable development would not likely
result in any increased risk of flooding to the local area and would not necessitate any
mitigations (owing to its below ground location).

The Lead Local Flood Authority raise no objection to the scheme and neither do the
Environment Agency, provided a condition is imposed that requires a 5m easement to
be provided between the bottom of the Pingley Dyke stream bed and the proposed
cables, as shown on the submitted plans.

On this basis, it is considered that the proposal is designed and constructed to remain
operational and safe in times of flood and is acceptable in flood risk terms in
accordance with Core Policies 9 and 10 of the Amended Core Strategy and Policy DM5
of the Allocations and Development Management DPD.

Other Matters

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) — this is not applicable in this case as the application was
submitted prior to the statutory requirement to provide mandatory BNG.

It is unlikely that the works would result in any detrimental impacts on existing trees
or hedgerow, given the proposed depths of the cabling below ground level (up to a
max of 9m). The Council’s Biodiversity and Ecology Lead Officer is satisfied that the
proposal would not result in any harmful impacts on biodiversity and as such is
considered to be acceptable in this regard.

The comments made by Averham, Kelham and Staythorpe Parish Council and Upton
Parish Council are noted and officers have ensured that this application is considered

Agenda Page 105



on the same agenda as the application for the Battery Energy Storage System
proposal. However, each application must be determined on its individual merits and
therefore, even in the event of the BESS application being refused, Members would
still have to determine this application and if there are no sound and robust planning
grounds to refuse this application, then it should be approved. Clearly if the BESS
application is refused, then it is highly unlikely that any permission for underground
cabling to serve it would ever be implemented.

7.41 Other matters raised by interested parties relate to the battery energy storage scheme
as opposed to this development and have been considered as part of that proposal.

8.0 Implications

8.1. In writing this report and in putting forward recommendations officers have
considered the following implications; Data Protection, Equality and Diversity,
Financial, Human Rights, Legal, Safeguarding, Sustainability, and Crime and Disorder
and where appropriate they have made reference to these implications and added
suitable expert comment where appropriate.

9.0 Conclusion

9.1. This application is required in order to provide the necessary infrastructure link
between the proposed Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) under reference
23/00317/FULM (that precedes this application on the agenda) proposed to be
located on one side of Staythorpe Road with Staythorpe Substation on the other side
of Staythorpe Road. All material planning considerations have been assessed against
the adopted Development Plan and national guidance. And has not identified any
harm that would warrant refusal of the application and as a result the application is
recommended for approval, subject to the conditions set out below.

10.0 Conditions
01

The development hereby permitted shall not begin later than three years from the date of
this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

02

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in accordance with the
following approved plans,

Cable Cross Sections: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1012 005 received 21 December 2023;
400kV Cable Route HDD Section: 60687996-ACM-AA-LAY-EL-1013 008 received 21 December
2023;

400kV Cable Route General Arrangement: 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1008 012 received 21
December 2023.

Agenda Page 106



Reason: So as to define this permission.
03

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted cable route section
drawing (ref 60687996-ACM-XX-LAY-EL-1013, rev 008 received 21 December 2023) and the
following mitigation measures it details:

) A 5m easement to be maintained between the bottom of the riverbed and the cable
location as per the 400kV Cable Route HDD Section Drawing.

Reason: To protect the integrity of the riverbed.
04

Part 1

No development shall take place until an Archaeological Mitigation Strategy for the
protection of archaeological remains is submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority in writing. The Mitigation Strategy shall include appropriate Written Schemes of
Investigation for continuous archaeological monitoring and provision for further mitigation
work as necessary. These schemes shall include the following:

1. An assessment of significance and proposed mitigation strategy (i.e. preservation by
record, preservation in situ or a mix of these elements).

A methodology and timetable of site investigation and recording.

Provision for site analysis.

Provision for publication and dissemination of analysis and records.

Provision for archive deposition.

Nomination of a competent person/organisation to undertake the work.

oUuewWN

The scheme of archaeological investigation shall only be undertaken in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: To ensure the preparation and implementation of an appropriate scheme of
archaeological mitigation in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.

05

Part 2

The archaeological site work shall be undertaken only in full accordance with the approved
written schemes referred to in the above Condition. The developer will notify the Local
Planning Authority of the intention to commence at least fourteen days before the start of
archaeological work in order to facilities adequate monitoring arrangements. No variation
shall take place without prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory arrangements are made for the recording of possible
archaeological remains in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.

Agenda Page 107



06

Part 3

A report of the archaeologist’s findings shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and
the Historic Environment Record Officer at Nottinghamshire County Council within 3 months
of the archaeological works hereby approved being commenced. The post-investigation
assessment shall be completed in accordance with the programme set out in the approved
Written Scheme of Investigation and shall include provision for analysis, publication and
dissemination of results and deposition of the archive being secured.

Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory arrangements are made for the investigation,
retrieval and recording of any possible archaeological remains on the site in accordance with
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Informatives
01

The applicant is not a Statutory Undertaker and will not be allowed to carry out the works.
The works must be carried out by a Statutory Utility company and the cable would need to be
adopted by a Distribution Network Operator.

02

With respect to the attached archaeological conditions, please contact the Historic Places
team at Lincolnshire County Council, Lancaster House, 36 Orchard Street, Lincoln, LN1 1XX,
07880420410, email matthew.adams@lincolnshire.gov.uk to discuss the requirements and
request preparation of a brief for the works.

It is recommended the resulting mitigation strategy and Written Schemes of Investigation are
approved by LCC Historic Environment Officer prior to formal submission to the Local Planning
Authority. Ten days’ notice is required before commencement of by archaeological works.

03

The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after the 1st December
2011 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details of CIL are
available on the Council's website at www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/cil/

The proposed development has been assessed and it is the Council's view that CIL is not
payable on the development given that there is no net additional increase of floorspace as a
result of the development.

04

The application as submitted is acceptable. In granting permission without unnecessary delay
the District Planning Authority is implicitly working positively and proactively with the

Agenda Page 108


mailto:matthew.adams@lincolnshire.gov.uk

applicant. This is fully in accordance with Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended).

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the documents
listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section 100D of the Local
Government Act 1972.

Application case file.

Agenda Page 109



Committee Plan - 23/00810/FULM

"
2+ The M§
05, Prim

Pingley Dyke

De

© Crown Copyright and database right 2022 Ordnance Survey. Licence 100022288. Scale: Not to scale

Agenda Page 110



Agenda Iltem 6

NEWARK &
SHERWOOQOD

anme DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Planning Committee 19 June 2024

Business Manager Lead: Lisa Hughes — Planning Development

Lead Officer: Honor Whitfield, Planner (Development Management)

Report Summary

Application No. 24/00088/FUL

Proposal Proposed additional 5no pitches for gypsy/traveller use.

Location Shady Oaks, Eagle Road, Spalford

Applicant Tom Holmes Agent N/A

Web Link 24/00088/FUL | Proposed additional 5no pitches for gypsy/traveller
use. | Shady Oaks Eagle Road Spalford (newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk)

Registered 18.03.2024 -I!::Eﬁzig?\tzgreed 12825833

That Planning Permission is APPROVED subject to the condition(s)

Recommendation ;.. iled at Section 10.0

The application is referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the Business
Manager.

LATE ITEM — REASON FOR DEFERRAL TO THIS COMMITTEE - THE APPLICATION REQUIRES A
SITE VISIT

It was discussed at the 6 June Planning Committee. Members resolved to defer the decision
to a later Committee to enable a site visit to be undertaken. The deferral was agreed with
the Monitoring Officer as required under the Council’s Constitution. Letters were sent to
those registered to speak, as well as all those who commented on the application to advise
of the new planning committee date and invite to speak.

1.0 The Site

1.1 The application site, approximately 0.18ha in area, relates to the western half of a
broadly rectangular parcel of land which is located to the east of the settlement of
Spalford on the south side of Eagle Road. The site is set back approx. 7m from Eagle
Road behind a grass verge and mature planting.

Agenda Page 111


https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S7AKWFLBM7M00
https://publicaccess.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S7AKWFLBM7M00

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

2.0

2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

The northern, southern and eastern boundaries are bounded by a substantial belt of
mature conifer trees and the eastern boundary is open to the remainder of the larger
rectangular plot. The eastern half of the site is laid out for the four pitches approved
under 21/02528/FUL and the access track extends through the application site to join
the existing access (which is outside of the previous application site) in the north-west
corner of the site which leads directly off Eagle Road (marked by brick piers and low
wall supporting timber 5 bar gates).

The site extends to include the access through the eastern part of the site, onto a
private unmade single track which then leads to a junction with Eagle Road which has
an existing gated access.

The application site is located within Flood Zone 3a and the rest of the rectangular plot
to the east (beyond the red line site) is Flood Zone 2 as defined by Environment Agency
data maps, which means the application site is at high risk of fluvial flooding. The site
is also at risk from surface water flooding. In addition, the site (and Spalford) benefits
from a flood defence (ref. 24,375) which lies to the west — this matter is explained
further in the relevant section of this report.

To the north of the site, beyond Eagle Road is an agricultural field, to the south of the
site are horse paddocks, accessed via the same private track from Eagle Road serving
the application site, to the east of the site is a smaller grassed field, beyond which is a
dwelling known as Sandyacre (approx. 35m away). To the west of the site is a private
access road leading to Croft House to the south-west (approx. 180m away). There is
also an existing property to the north-west of the site, known as Tree Tops (approx.
75m away), on the opposite side of Eagle Road.

Site Constraints:

- Flood Zone 3a
- Open Countryside

Relevant Planning History

21/02528/FUL (relates to the land immediately to the east of this application site) -
Change of use of land to provide 4 pitches (1 static and 1 touring caravan and two
parking spaces on each pitch) hardstanding and associated infrastructure for members
of the Gypsy and Traveller community — refused March 2022 on grounds of suitability
of location in the open countryside, the effect on the character and appearance of the
area and whether any harm would be outweighed by other considerations. Allowed
at Appeal! 07.02.2023 — permission implemented.

19/01810/FUL (relates to the application site and the land immediately to the east of
this application site)- Erection of detached house (resubmission of 18/02010/FUL),
refused 08.11.2019 on grounds of harm to open countryside and flood risk. Appeal
was dismissed 12.10.2020

18/02010/FUL (relates to the north-west side of the application site) — Erection of

1 Appeal Decision: https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewDocument.aspx?fileid=51135051

Agenda Page 112


https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewDocument.aspx?fileid=51135051

2.4.

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

34

3.5

3.6

4.0

4.1

4.2

5.0

5.1.

detached house, refused 07.05.2019 on grounds of harm to open countryside and
flood risk.

14/02071/FUL (relates to the application site and the land immediately to the east of
this application site)- — Erection of stable block, approved 24.03.2015.

The Proposal

The application seeks permission for the material change of use of the land to form 5
gypsy and traveller pitches on a permanent basis.

The submitted layout shows one static and one tourer caravan to be located on each
pitch in addition to hardstanding which would provide two parking spaces per pitch.
The pitches range in area from approx. 354 sgm up to 393 sgqm in area.

Two pitches are proposed on the northern side of the central access road that runs in
an east-west direction and three pitches are proposed on the southern side. Access
would be taken from the existing access through the eastern side of the site on to
Eagle Road and a turning head would be provided within the site. The existing access
onto Eagle Road in the north-west corner of the site is showing as being closed.

The pitches would be made up of a combination of hardstanding shingle material and
grass. There are boundary treatments shown between pitches on the submitted plan
(which are indicated to be formed by planting).

The existing (authorised) pitches are also shown on the eastern side of the site where
there is also a waste/recycling bin storage area. A septic tank has also been installed
on the site (to serve the authorised pitches) which would continue to be used for this
proposal.

NB: All measurements above are approximate.
Documents assessed in this appraisal:

- Application Form

- Planning Statement (15.01.2024)

- Flood Risk Assessment (11.03.2024)

- Existing Site Plan and Site Location Plan — Ref. 2311-01 Rev. G
- Proposed Site Plan — Ref. 2311-02 Rev. F

Departure/Public Advertisement Procedure

Occupiers of 12 properties have been individually notified by letter. A site notice has
also been displayed near to the site.

Site visit undertaken on: 09.04.2024

Planning Policy Framework

Newark and Sherwood Amended Core Strategy DPD (adopted March 2019)

Agenda Page 113



5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

Spatial Policy 1 — Settlement Hierarchy

Spatial Policy 3 —Rural Areas

Spatial Policy 7 — Sustainable Transport

Core Policy 4 — Gypsies and Travellers — New Pitch Provision

Core Policy 5 — Criteria for Considering Sites for Gypsy & Travellers and Travelling
Showpeople

Core Policy 9 — Sustainable Design

Core Policy 12 — Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure

Core Policy 13 — Landscape Character

Allocations & Development Management DPD (2013)

DMS5 — Design
DMS8 — Development in the Open Countryside
DM12 — Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

The Draft Amended Allocations & Development Management DPD was submitted to
the Secretary of State on the 18th January 2024. This is therefore at an advanced stage
of preparation albeit the DPD is yet to be examined. There are unresolved objections
to amended versions of policies emerging through that process, and so the level of
weight which those proposed new policies can be afforded is currently limited. As
such, the application has been assessed in-line with policies from the adopted
Development Plan.

Other Material Planning Considerations

National Planning Policy Framework 2023

Planning Practice Guidance

NSDC Plan Review Publication Amended Allocations & Development Management
DPD, Nov 2022

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment, Feb 2020

The Equality Act 2010

Human Rights Act 1998

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) — 2015 (summarised below):

When determining planning applications for traveller sites, this policy states that
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Government’s overarching aim
is to ensure fair and equal treatment for travellers, in a way that facilities their
traditional and nomadic way of life while respecting the interests of the settled
community.

Applications should be assessed and determined in accordance with the presumption
in favour of sustainable development and the application of specific policies within

the NPPF and this document (Planning Policy for Traveller Sites).

This document states that the following issues should be considered, amongst other
relevant matters:

Agenda Page 114


https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/media/nsdc-redesign/documents-and-images/your-council/planning-policy/local-development-framework/amended-allocations-and-development-management-dpd/Plan-Review-AADMDPD---2-Pub-Stage---Clean-Version.pdf

6.0

6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

e Existing level of local provision and need for sites;

e The availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants;

e Other personal circumstances of the applicant;

e Locally specific criteria used to guide allocation of sites in plans should be used to
assess applications that come forward on unallocated sites;

e Applications should be determined for sites from any travellers and not just those
with local connections.

Weight should also be attached to:

e Effective use of previously developed (Brownfield), untidy or derelict land;

e Sites being well planned or soft landscaped in such a way as to positively enhance
the environment and increase its openness;

e Promoting opportunities for healthy lifestyles, such as ensuring adequate
landscaping and play areas for children;

¢ Not enclosing a site with so much hard landscaping, high walls or fences that the
impression may be given that the site and its occupants are deliberately isolated
from the rest of the community.

If a LPA cannot demonstrate an up-to-date 5 year supply of deliverable sites, this
should be a significant material consideration in any subsequent planning decision
when considering applications for the grant of temporary planning permission. There
is no presumption that a temporary grant of planning permission should be granted
permanently.

Annex 1 provides a definition of “gypsies and travellers” and states:-

“Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons
who on grounds of their own or their family’s or dependents’ educational or health
needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an
organized group of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such.”

Consultations and Representations

Please Note: Comments below are provided in summary - for comments in full please
see the online planning file.

Statutory Consultations

The Environment Agency — No objection subject to conditions.
NCC Highways Authority — No objection subject to conditions.
Town/Parish Council

Spalford Parish Meeting — Object. Concerns raised:

Agenda Page 115



6.4.

6.5.

6.6.

e Queries about the existing permission and number of caravans on site, concerns
that there are 8 static caravans where only 4 statics were permitted with 4 touring
vans. This is in breach of condition 10 of the planning permission.

e Highways:

- The increase in pitches will increase the traffic on the road and erode the
rural character of Eagle Road.

- Concerns that the existing site has not been laid out in accordance with the
approved drawings for parking spaces.

- Concerns that the existing access to the east is unsafe as it exits onto an
unmade track and that the north-west access onto Eagle Road is unsafe as
it is on a bend.

e Settled Residents: concerns that the residents of Spalford need time to adjust to
the changes that the original application has caused. This additional application
will change the balance and demographic of Spalford.

e Infrastructure: there is no infrastructure to support additional residents in
Spalford.

e Flooding: Concerns relating to the flood risk on the site and potential increase in
flood risk to third parties.

e Character:

- Concerns about the impact on the nature of the open and rural
countryside.

- Adverse visual impact on the site and Spalford.

e Policies:

- The application does not accord with NSDCs policies and strategic planning.

Representations/Non-Statutory Consultation
NSDC Environmental Health — No comments to make.

Trent Valley Internal Drainage Board - General standard comments regarding
watercourses, septic tanks, when the Board’s consent is required, riparian
responsibilities and soakaways.

Comments have been received from FOUR third parties/local residents that can be
summarised as follows:

e Queries about the existing permission and number of caravans on site, concerns
that there are 8 static caravans where only 4 statics were permitted with 4 touring
vans. This is in breach of condition 10 of the planning permission.

e Highways:

- The increase in pitches will increase the traffic on the road and erode the
rural character of Eagle Road.

- Concerns that the existing access to the east is unsafe as it exits onto an
unmade track and that the north-west access onto Eagle Road is unsafe as
it is on a bend.

e Character:

Agenda Page 116



7.0

7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

- Concerns about additional light and noise pollution.
- The visual impact of the site upon Spalford.
- Concerns that the gates at the Eagle Road access look commercial.
e Flooding:
- The potential to elevate flood risk to surrounding land and properties.
- Concerns that existing infrastructure within Spalford such as sewerage
networks will be adversely affected.
e Sustainability:
- Lack of facilities and infrastructure within Spalford to support the site.
- Impact of expansion on the population of Spalford/over-dominance of the
settled community.
e Policies:
- The application does not accord with NSDCs policies and strategic planning.

Comments of the Business Manager — Planning Development

The key issues are:

e Principle of Development

e Sustainability

e Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area, Heritage Assets and Ecology
e Impact on Residential Amenity

e Impact on Highways Safety

e Impact of Flood Risk

e Other Matters

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) promotes the principle of a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and recognises the duty under the
Planning Acts for planning applications to be determined in accordance with the
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise, in accordance
with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The NPPF
refers to the presumption in favour of sustainable development being at the heart of
development and sees sustainable development as a golden thread running through
both plan making and decision taking. This is confirmed at the development plan level
under Policy DM12 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development) of the
Allocations and Development Management DPD (2013).

Background Information & Preliminary Matters

This application proposes the expansion of the site granted permission in February
2023 under 21/02528/FUL, following appeal.

As set out in para. 5.3 of this report, the Draft Amended Allocations & Development
Management DPD (ADMDPD) was submitted to the Secretary of State on the 18th
January 2024 and is therefore at an advanced stage of preparation. Whilst the
preparation of the Amended ADMDPD has moved on since the February appeal
decision this is not to the extent where the emerging Gypsy and Traveller strategy can
be afforded any more weight. There remain unresolved objections against

Agenda Page 117



7.5.

7.6.

7.7.

7.8.

fundamental parts of the proposed strategy, without which the identified needs of the
District’s Traveller communities would not currently be able to be met or a five-year
land supply demonstrated. Consequently, many of the judgements which the
Inspector made in this recent appeal remain relevant.

Officers noted at a recent site visit that there were 8 static caravans present on the
adjacent site which is in breach of one of the conditions attached to the (appeal)
permission which limits each pitch to containing one static caravan and one touring
caravan. Given this is on the adjacent site, outside of the application site boundary, it
will be investigated and pursued separately under the Council’s Enforcement
procedures.

Principle of Development

The District Council, as Local Planning Authority, has a duty to provide sites on which
Gypsy and Travellers (G&Ts) can live. The Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation
Assessment (GTAA) for the District demonstrates a minimum requirement for 169
pitches to meet the needs of Travellers between 2013-33 (118 pitches of this overall
169 minimum requirement would be necessary to meet the needs of ‘planning
definition” Traveller households, as defined within Annex 1 of the National Planning
Policy for Traveller Sites). Through the Lisa Smith v The Secretary of State for Housing,
Communities and Local Government and others [2021] EWHC 1650 (Admin) legal case,
the planning definition within Annex 1 was found to be unlawfully discriminatory. Due
to its exclusion of Gypsies or Travellers who have permanently ceased to travel due to
old age, disability or due to caring responsibilities. No amendments have been made
to national policy following the legal decision, and so accordingly there is a lack of
clarity over what local pitch target should form the basis for calculation of the five-
year land supply test, as required as part of the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites
(PPTS). Whether this should still be calculated on the basis of the planning definition,
or from the overall minimum requirement.

Either local target would reflect a heavy skewing towards that first five-year tranche —
due to the need to address unauthorised and temporary development, doubling up
(i.e., households lacking their own pitch) and some demographic change within that
timespan (i.e., individuals who will be capable of representing a household by the time
2024 is reached). The Council’s latest monitoring data shows that since 2019 there
have been 3 completed pitches, and there are a further 39 pitches with an extant
planning permission? capable of being implemented (this includes those pitches on
the adjacent land granted consent at appeal). In overall terms this leaves us with a
residual minimum requirement for 127 pitches up to 2033.

Indeed, it is necessary to project forwards delivery from proposed site allocations to
satisfy relevant national policy tests, and to demonstrate a five-year land supply.
However, as outlined earlier it is not yet currently possible to afford meaningful weight

221/02528/FUL — Shady Oaks, Spalford (4 pitches, adjacent site), 23/00063/FULM - Chestnut Lodge, Barnby
Road, Balderton (19 pitches), 23/00060/FUL — Appleby Lodge, Barnby Lane, Newark (8 pitches) and
22/01203/FULM — Oak Tree Stables, Sand Lane, Besthorpe (8 pitches)

Agenda Page 118



7.9.

7.10.

7.11.

7.12.

to those emerging site allocations, and once they are removed from the five-year land
supply calculation then NSDC currently has a 1.48 year supply.

This represents a significant unmet need under both scenarios. Provision to assist in
meeting this need will be made as part of the production of the Amended Allocations
& Development Management Development Plan Document (ADMDPD), which is
currently awaiting examination. The amended ADMDPD seeks the allocation of
specific sites for Traveller accommodation and would provide an updated Framework
for the granting of consent for appropriate development on windfall sites. The Council
is currently unable to identify any other sites that are currently available or deliverable
for Gypsy and Travellers and in addition is unable to demonstrate a five-year land
supply, as required through national policy (PPTS). It is therefore accepted that the
Local Planning Authority is not able to demonstrate a five-year land supply for Gypsy
and Traveller pitches and has a considerable shortfall which needs to be addressed.
Both the extent of the pitch requirement and the lack of a five-year land supply
represent significant material considerations, which weigh heavily in the favour of the
granting of consent where proposals will contribute towards supply.

The emerging policies within the Publication Amended Allocations and Development
Management DPD demonstrates a commitment by the Council to meeting the need
for pitches in the District. However, only limited weight can be given to the newly
proposed allocation sites as the Plan as still going through the plan-making process
and has yet to be submitted, examined and found sound. As such, in the absence of
any current allocated sites and in the light of the significant unmet need, provision of
pitches are only likely to come forward through the determination of planning
applications on windfall sites.

In terms of how this site would contribute to the Council’s Gypsy and Traveller need,
no firm evidence of demand for inward migration into the District was found as part
of the GTAA. Therefore, net migration to the sum of zero was assumed for the GTAA
—which means that net pitch requirements are driven by locally identified need rather
than speculative modelling assumptions. With inward and outward migration in
balance with one another, this means that when a household moves into the District
that movement is counterbalanced by the outward migration of another. Therefore,
providing proposed pitches are addressing the needs of a Traveller household,
consistent with the definition below (reflecting the Smith decision), then they would
contribute supply against the local pitch target.

‘Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such
persons who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’
educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily or
permanently, but excluding members of an organised group of travelling
showpeople or circus people travelling together as such.’

With regards to the current need for G&T pitches, as set out above, there have been
several planning approvals over 2023/24, resulting in an additional 39 pitches gaining
permission and there is one planning application pending consideration (ref.

Agenda Page 119



7.13.

7.14.

7.15.

7.16.

7.17.

24/00282/FULM3) for 15 pitches. However, the overall supply secured since 2019 (the
published date of the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment) still falls some
way short of being able to meet either overall needs or to provide for a five-year land
supply. Consequently, the absence of a sufficient land supply and of suitable and
available alternative sites elsewhere is a significant material consideration in the
assessment of this application, as was the case at the recent appeal on the adjacent
site.

As this site is a new site, it did not form part of the baseline position (August 2019) for
the GTAA. The Applicant has confirmed that the future occupiers of the pitches are
not currently known but will be restricted to those meeting the definition of a gypsy
or traveller, as provided through the PPTS. Therefore, the net additional pitches
proposed would be 5.

Based on the information provided by the Applicant, subject to a planning condition
restricting occupation of the site to those meeting the planning definition (as referred
to in the recent appeal decision on the adjacent site) of a gypsy or traveller, the
proposed pitches would be available to help meet existing, and future, locally
identified G&T need. It could also indirectly assist in meeting identified needs at other
sites within the District, such as those on Tolney Lane, should existing occupiers of
these sites (with temporary consent) relocate to the Application Site. This positive
contribution towards meeting the need identified through the GTAA, in the absence
of a five-year land supply, is a significant material consideration in favour of the
proposal.

The application site is located in the open countryside, but just east of the settlement
of Spalford. Amongst other things, paragraph 25 of the Planning policy for traveller
sites (PPTS) states that local planning authorities should very strictly limit new traveller
site development in open countryside that is away from existing settlements or
outside areas allocated in the development plan.

Spatial Policy 3 (Rural Areas) requires that, amongst other things, new development
should be in villages with sustainable access to the Newark Urban Area, Service
Centres or Principal Villages and have a range of local services to address day to day
needs. Local services are identified as including, but not being limited to, post
offices/shops, public houses and village halls. Spalford does not fall within any of the
aforementioned categories of settlement, which are outlined in Spatial Policy 1 on
settlement hierarchy. SP3 also confirms that development not in villages or
settlements, but in the open countryside, will be strictly controlled and restricted to
uses which require a rural setting.

Core Policy 4 (Gypsies and Travellers — New Pitch Provision) states that future pitch
provision will be addressed through all necessary means, including amongst other
criteria, the granting of planning permission for pitches on new sites in line with Core
Policy 5 (Criteria for Considering Sites for Gypsy & Travellers and Travelling
Showpeople). Provision will be made in line with the Council’s Spatial Strategy with

3 at Land to the rear of Lowfield Cottages, Bowbridge Lane, Balderton

Agenda Page 120



7.18.

7.19.

7.20.

7.21.

7.22.

7.23.

7.24.

the focus of the Council’s efforts to seek to secure additional provision in and around
the Newark Urban Area.

Beyond this, CP5 sets out a range of criteria, which proposals need to satisfy. The
overall aims of this policy are identified as reducing the need for long distance
travelling and possible environmental damage caused by unauthorized encampments
and the contribution that live/work mixed use sites make to achieving sustainable
development. Amongst other criteria, criterion 2 requires the site to be reasonably
situated with access to utilities and to basic and everyday community services and
facilities, including education, health, shopping and transport facilities.

Policy DM8 (Development in the Open Countryside) sets out types of development
supported in the countryside. The proposal does not fall within Policy DM8’s
parameters.

Notwithstanding this, under some circumstances, it is accepted that gypsy and
traveller sites can be acceptable in this type of location, but this is dependent on the
proposal being considered against the criteria within Core Policy 5, provided the
scheme would, in the absence of more appropriately located sites, contribute towards
meeting the significant local need (which in this case it provides for at least one).
Beyond this, then Core Policy 5 criterion 1 (landscape) and 2 (access to services and
facilities) provide an appropriate way of determining what kind of locations in the
countryside could be acceptable.

The second criteria of CP5 requires consideration of reasonable access to essential
services (mains water, electricity, drainage and sanitation) and basic everyday
community services and facilities — including education, health, shopping and
transport.

It is acknowledged that Spalford itself has no services and facilities, though there does
appear to be a (sporadic) bus service that would provide access to Collingham and
Newark within the District. The location would fall inside the Primary School
catchment for North Clifton — which is being considered for closure by the County
Council. Beyond this the site would then be dependent upon accessing the limited
range of services within South Clifton (church and village hall), and the closest place
to carry out food shopping and access healthcare provision appears to be Collingham
(around a 9-minute drive and 5.5 miles away). Consequently, this location would be
largely dependent on the accessing of services and facilities some distance away, and
as set out above, this would fall short of meeting the requirements in criterion 2 of
Core Policy 5, which weighs against the proposal.

The Applicant has confirmed the site is served in terms of electricity and water
supplies and is served by an existing septic tank.

In terms of proximity to services the Inspectors decision explained that: “most of the
housing in Spalford is located around Chapel Lane, Sand Lane and Rabbit Hill Lane. The
bus stop serving Spalford is located here, with one, somewhat irregular bus service
running Monday to Friday between Newark, Collingham and Harby. There are no
shops, public house, or village hall. The only other community infrastructure in Spalford

Agenda Page 121



7.25.

is a post box. Further housing, farms and a caravan park (Four Seasons Country Park)
are located sporadically along Eagle Road travelling south-eastwards from Spalford
and in the open countryside. Open fields, hedgerows and groupings of trees separate
existing development. Eagle Road lacks both street lighting and footpaths, and has the
appearance of a rural road, with grassed verges and hedges. Located on Eagle Road
away from the core of Spalford, the site forms the eastern part of a rectangular
paddock.

In terms of access to services, the nearest church and village hall are located in South
Clifton, while food shopping and healthcare facilities are in Collingham, over five miles
away. The nearest primary and secondary schools are two to three miles away and
would be likely to be accessed by school bus. | understand that one of the nearby
schools is threatened with closure. While many people now undertake banking,
shopping and health consultations online, these would not negate the need for the
site’s intended occupiers to travel to services and facilities.

Paragraph 105 of the [NPPF] acknowledges that development should be focussed on
locations which are and can be made sustainable. However, it also highlights that
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and
rural areas. Even taking this and the likelihood that any gypsies and travellers living on
the site would travel as an intrinsic part of their lives into account, the appeal site is
located away from facilities necessary for day to day living.

The intended occupiers would be permanently reliant on the private car rather than
sustainable transport to reach services and facilities. Walking to the local bus stop
would not necessarily be safe, given the absence of street lighting and pavements.
Furthermore, the limited bus service would not offer flexibility and ease of access to all
likely destinations. Although transport movements will already be made on the local
road network by residents of Eagle Road and nearby Spalford, the addition of a number
of pitches on the site would contribute further unsustainable movements by the private
car.

I conclude therefore that the site is not suitably located with regard to proximity to
services. This is contrary to ACS Spatial Policy 3 and Core Policies 4 and 5, ADM Policy
DMS8, PPTS paragraph 25, and paragraph 105 of the Framework as set out above.
Given the size of the site and the number of pitches proposed, this would have no more
than a moderate adverse effect.” The conclusion reached by the Inspector therefore
remains valid, in that the site would not be suitably located. This therefore weighs
negatively against the proposal.

The proposed expansion would also increase the maximum number of pitches within
the overall site, from 4 to 9, and therefore it remains to be considered whether this
cumulative level of development would be appropriate in this location. An assessment
of this impact in relation to the character of the area will following in a subsequent
section of this report, however, through the PPTS there is also the requirement to
avoid G&T sites dominating nearby communities. The only existing pitches within
proximity of the village are those granted at appeal on the adjacent site, and in this
case, it is considered that increasing this to a maximum number of 9 would remain at
a level that would not dominate the existing settled community of Spalford.

Agenda Page 122



7.26.

7.27.

7.28.

7.29.

7.30.

Therefore, in summary, the site is not considered to be suitably located with regard to
proximity to services. This is contrary to Spatial Policy 3 and Core Policies 4 and 5 of
the Amended Core Strategy, Policy DM8 of the ADMDPD, PPTS paragraph 25, and
paragraph 109 of the NPPF as set out above. However, given the size of the site and
the number of pitches proposed, this would have no more than a moderate adverse
negative effect. Balanced against this it is concluded that the District has a significant
unmet need for Gypsy and Traveller pitches. The proposal would represent a small but
direct contribution towards a five-year land supply of 5 pitches. This positive
contribution is a small but significant benefit, and in the absence of the availability of
alternative sites and emerging site allocations which cannot yet be given meaningful
weight, this contribution to supply should be afforded significant positive weight as
part of the overall planning balance.

The principle of this use in this location may therefore be considered to be acceptable
in the overall planning balance, subject to assessment under the criteria set out within
Core Policy 5, which are more site specific, and these are set out and considered
below.

Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area, Heritage Assets and Ecology

The NPPF states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development and new
development should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture and
appropriate landscaping. Core Policy 9 (Sustainable Design) states that new
development should achieve a high standard of sustainable design and layout that is
of an appropriate form and scale to its context complementing the existing built and
landscape environments. Policy DM5 (Design) of the DPD states that local
distinctiveness should be reflected in the scale, form, mass, layout, design and
materials in new development.

The first criteria of Core Policy 5 states that the site would not lead to the unacceptable
loss, or significant adverse impact on the landscape character and value, important
heritage assets and their settings, nature conservation and biodiversity sites. The fifth
criteria of CP5 seeks that the site is capable of being designed to ensure that
appropriate landscaping and planting would provide and maintain visual amenity.
Core Policy 13 (Landscape Character) of the Core Strategy addresses issues of
landscape character. The Landscape Character Assessment SPD informs the policy
approach identified within Core Policy 13. The LCA provides an objective methodology
for assessing the varied landscape within the District and contains information about
the character, condition and sensitivity of the landscape.

The site is identified as being within the East Nottinghamshire Sandlands and within
the Landscape sub-type of Wigsley Village Farmlands (ES PZ 02) as set out within the
Landscape Character Assessment SPD. This states that the condition of the landscape
is poor and the sensitivity low with an outcome to create a landscape. It acknowledges
characteristic visual features include numerous fragmented blocks of mixed deciduous
woodland, coniferous plantations and some remnant Parkland. Specific
recommendations for built features therefore encourage conservation of what
remains of the rural landscape by concentrating new development around existing
settlements and creating new development which reflects the local built vernacular.

Agenda Page 123



7.31.

7.32.

7.33.

7.34.

With regard to landscape features this seeks to create new hedgerows and conserve
existing.

Despite houses, farms, and a caravan park nearby, the sporadic nature of
development along Eagle Road leads to gaps where fields adjoin the road. Bounded
by hedges and trees, these fields support the area’s open character. The Inspectors
assessment of the site concluded that “the paddock, of which the site forms part, is
surrounded by tall, imposing and unsympathetic conifers, and contains some
hardstanding. It has two gated accesses, one at its north-western corner adjacent to
Eagle Road with formal brick piers, and a further access off a shared track at the site’s
eastern end. Even with these features, the expanse of paddock is also of an open
character and contributes positively to this part of Eagle Road.

The proposal would comprise four pitches with a maximum of one static caravan and
one touring caravan on each pitch. Along with the pitches themselves, there would be
an access road to the pitches and parking and turning areas. This would erode the
paddock by introducing caravans, further hard landscaping and associated domestic
paraphernalia to much of its eastern half. This would in turn erode the rural character
of this part of Eagle Road.”

Following the conclusions of the Inspector it is accepted that the introduction of a
further 5 pitches with associated hardstanding, parking and turning areas would
further erode the paddock and the rural character of this part of Eagle Road. However,
as set out in the Committee Report for the adjacent site, the square boundaries
formed by the conifers around the site result in a very deliberate, man-made
functioning feature that provide a high and successful level of screening between the
inside and the outside of the site (other than the gap providing the access in the
eastern boundary). Therefore, whilst acknowledging that they have a rather odd
current visual appearance, they are an existing feature that would provide a successful
soft screen to the additional development proposed at the site.

Five pitches (max. 10 caravans) are considered to be relatively small scale; however,
it is accepted that 9 total pitches (max. 18 caravans) would be a more substantial
development. However, the pitches would be made up of grass and hardstanding
areas which would soften the development and retain a green appearance. The
existing boundary treatment would also provide a green softening around the site. It
is noted that these trees are not afforded any protection by virtue of being located
within a Conservation Area or by Tree Protection Orders on the site. However, as
concluded in the assessment of the application to the adjacent site, it is not considered
to be appropriate to seek to protect the trees around the boundaries of the site
through an Order. The most critical boundary would be the one along the Eagle Road
frontage and given this existing boundary treatment would provide the residents of
the proposed site with privacy and a buffer from the road, it is considered that there
would be a very low risk of this planting being removed.

No designated heritage assets are located near to the site that would be affected by
the proposals.

Agenda Page 124



7.35.

7.36.

7.37.

7.38.

7.39.

7.40.

In terms of biodiversity impacts, given that the site is an open grassed field/paddock
with areas of hardstanding, it is unlikely that the site supports any significant levels of
biodiversity. There is also no intention to remove any trees or hedgerow from the site.
The proposal also includes closing the existing access at Eagle Road in the north-west
corner of the site with new planting which would provide a biodiversity benefit, albeit
small.

Section 11 of the NPPF relates to making effective use of land and paragraph 123
states that planning decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the
need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding the environment. This chapter sets
out that planning decisions should support development that makes efficient use of
land, considering the identified need for different types of housing and other forms of
development, and the availability of land suitable for accommodating it and the
desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting. Core Policy 5
advises on general guidelines for pitch sizes. A pitch that is a permanent site where
there are shared facilities within the overall site (e.g., the storage of waste and
sewerage disposal), should be approx. 350m?. The size of the pitches presented range
between 354-393m?, which would meet the pitch size guidance.

Nevertheless, whilst caravans are not necessarily alien features in open countryside,
it is accepted that their often white, shiny box-like form (and therefore far from
reflecting local built vernacular) can somewhat detract from the surrounding rural
visual amenities. Therefore, considering this and the conclusions of the Inspector at
the adjacent site it is accepted that the introduction of further pitches on this land
would erode the rural character of this part of Eagle Road. Whilst this would not
conflict with CP5, as it would not cause unacceptable loss or significant adverse impact
on landscape character and value, it is contrary to CP9, DM6 and para. 174 of the NPPF
which requires, amongst other things, that planning decisions should recognise the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. However, given the extent of
boundary screening and low level of the caravans it is considered that the extent of
harm would be moderate, which would weigh against the proposal.

Impact upon Residential Amenity

The fourth criteria of Core Policy 5 states that the site would offer a suitable level of
residential amenity to any proposed occupiers and not have an unacceptable adverse
impact on the amenity of nearby residents particularly in rural and semi-rural settings
where development is restricted overall.

Paragraph 97(b) of the NPPF states that planning decisions should create places that
promote health and well-being with a high standard of amenity for existing and future
users.

In terms of the proposed occupiers of the site, the size of the pitches presented would
meet the size standard of 350m? set out in CP5. Given existing boundary treatments
around the site and separation distances from any existing dwellings, it is considered
that the needs of the privacy of proposed occupiers could be met and a condition
relating to proposed boundary treatments between pitches could ensure a degree of
privacy between pitches.

Agenda Page 125



7.41.

7.42.

7.43.

7.44.

7.45.

7.46.

7.47.

Turning now to existing residents who would live close to the site, to the east is a
smaller grassed field, beyond which is a dwelling known as Sandyacre (approx. 35m
away). To the west of the site is the remainder of the larger plot enclosed by mature
conifers, beyond which is a private access road leading to Croft House to the south-
west (approx. 180m away). There is also an existing property to the north-west of the
site, known as Tree Tops (approx. 75m away), on the opposite side of Eagle Road.
These would represent the nearest affected receptors of the proposed development.

Any new development will have some impact on the amenity of neighbouring
properties. The proposal would result in increased vehicular movements causing
additional noise and disturbance from associated comings and goings. It is also
acknowledged that some level of new external lighting would likely be required which
also has the potential for some negative impact, although existing boundary
treatment would provide some mitigation to this aspect. There is also a defined
waste/recycling area within the layout of the wider site which shows consideration to
matters of refuse disposal for the site.

Given the single storey nature of the two caravans per pitch, together with boundary
treatments and the separation distance between the site and existing neighbours,
together with the relative small-scale nature of the proposal for 5 additional pitches
that would be well contained within the site boundary, it is not considered that the
relationships would result in any unacceptable degree of harm on the amenities of
existing occupiers close to the site.

Impact on Highways Safety

The third criteria of Core Policy 5 states that the site has safe and convenient access
to the highway network.

The permission granted on the adjacent site included a requirement for the site access
(which lies to the east) to be surfaced with appropriate drainage to prevent the
discharge of surface water onto the public highway. These works have yet to be
completed and are being pursued separately by the Council’s Enforcement Team —
any permission granted on this site would therefore similarly require a condition for
the access works to be completed prior to occupation.

Nottinghamshire County Council have raised no concerns in relation to the principle
of the additional pitches on the site from a highway safety perspective and consider
the level of parking on site to be adequate to serve the number of pitches proposed.

The Highway Authority’s initial comments noted that the access track through the site
was shown to adjoin an existing access point in the north-western corner of the site.
The Highway Officer raised concerns about the use of this historic access for the
development given its proximity to an access immediately to the west which impedes
visibility from this access. The plans have therefore been amended to remove the
internal road link to the historic access and an annotation has been added on the plan
to show the north-western access would be closed with new hedging. The plans have
also been amended to include a turning head, to the required vehicle size standards
of the Highway Authority, within the site so vehicles can enter and exit the site in a

Agenda Page 126



7.48.

7.49.

7.50.

7.51.

7.52.

7.53.

7.54.

forward gear. The Highway Authority have therefore commented in support of the
application, subject to conditions.

Therefore, on the basis of the assessment above, it is considered that subject to
conditions the proposal would not cause any highway safety concerns and accords
with Spatial Policy 7 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM5 of the A&DM DPD in this
regard.

Impact on Flood Risk

Core Policy 9 requires new development proposals to pro-actively manage surface
water. Core Policy 10 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM5 of the Allocations and
Development Management DPD along with the NPPF set out a sequential approach to
flood risk.

Criteria 6 seeks that in the case of any development proposal which raises the issue of
flood risk, regard will be had to advice contained within the Government’s PPTS and
the findings of the Newark and Sherwood Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. Where
flooding is found to be an issue, the District Council will require the completion of a
site-specific Flood Risk Assessment, applying both the Sequential and Exceptions
Tests, as appropriate, to achieve safety for eventual occupiers.

The NPPF states that local planning authorities should minimise risk by directing
development away from high-risk areas to those with the lowest probability of
flooding. Core Policy 10 and Policy DM5 also reflect the advice on the location of
development on land at risk of flooding and aims to steer new development away
from areas at highest risk of flooding. Paragraph 13(g) of the PPTS sets out a clear
objective not to locate gypsy and traveller sites in areas at high risk of flooding,
including functional floodplains, given the particular vulnerability of caravans.

The Planning Practice Guidance states that caravans, mobile homes and park homes
intended for permanent residential use are classified as “highly vulnerable” uses.
Table 2 of the Practice Guidance states that within Flood Zone 2, highly vulnerable
classification development requires the Exception Test to be applied, however in
Flood Zone 3, highly vulnerable development should not be permitted. Nevertheless,
CP5 explains that where flooding is found to be an issue, the Council will apply both
the Sequential and Exception Tests as appropriate, to achieve safety for eventual
occupiers.

Whilst the eastern half of the larger paddock falls within Flood Zone 2 (at medium risk
of flood risk) the application site falls within Flood Zone 3a (at high risk of fluvial
flooding). The site also benefits from flood defences (an embankment following the
western edge of the A1133) which have the effect of minimising flood risk and allowing
it to be managed.

A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with this application which
acknowledges that the wider site is within FZ2, however, as confirmed by the
Environment Agency (EA) the portion of the site where the new pitches are proposed
is within FZ3a. The EA’s comments also explain that the defined Flood Zones do not
consider the presence of flood defences and when these are taken into account, the

Agenda Page 127



7.55.

7.56.

7.57.

7.58.

7.59.

7.60.

7.61.

site is not impacted by main river flooding during the 1 in 100-year event (1% annual
probability). When the impacts of climate change (29% allowance) are taken into
account, a shallow 150mm flood depth passes through the middle of the site. The EA
confirms that “these depths are not considered hazardous at the velocity anticipated”.
Therefore, whilst strictly in Flood Zone 3a, taking account of the flood defences as
directed by the EA, it is noted that the projected flood risk at the site would not be
hazardous.

The FRA recommends that the finished floor levels of the caravans should be set no
lower than 7.34 metres above Ordnance Datum (AOD) (which is above the highest
predicted flood breach level), and all caravans should be chained to a secure anchor
block to prevent any risk of floatation in an extreme flood event.

The EA Flood Warning Service is available in the area and prompt the implementation
of a flood plan. Details of a flood plan are set out within the FRA where on receipt of
a flood warning (giving a min of 2 hours advance warning), the site could be evacuated.

Nevertheless, given the site is located within Flood Zone 3a, the Sequential Test must
be applied. The NPPF states the aim of the Sequential Test is to steer new
development to areas with the lowest risk of flooding from any source. Development
should not be permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the
proposed development in areas with a lower risk of flooding.

National policy and guidance in relation to flood risk is clear that seeking to avoid the
exposure to flood risk as a matter of first principle, via application of the Sequential
Test, is the most effective way of addressing flood risk because it places the least
reliance on measures like flood defences, flood warnings and property level resilience
features. Furthermore, where a FRA shows the development can be made safe
throughout its lifetime without increasing risk elsewhere, then it still remains
necessary for the Sequential Test to have first been passed.

It is accepted that the proposal would represent an enlargement of any existing site —
but it is also the case that it would extend it into an area at greater flood risk. The land
subject to the current application was not covered by the earlier, now implemented,
permission and as a result, flood risk was not considered on that wider basis. It is
therefore important that the latest proposal is assessed on its own merits from a flood
risk perspective, and it is noted that the exemptions to the Sequential Test outlined
within national policy and guidance would not cover this application.

National guidance is also clear that the Sequential Test should consider the spatial
variation of flood risk within medium and then high flood risk areas to identify the
lowest risk sites in these areas, ignoring the presence of flood risk management
infrastructure. Once the Test has been applied on that basis then it may prove
appropriate to consider the role of such infrastructure in the variation of risk within
high and medium flood risk areas. The response from the EA detailing the effect of the
flood defences is noted in respect.

The PPG defines reasonably available sites, as those in a suitable location for the type
of development with a reasonable prospect that the site is available to be developed

Agenda Page 128



7.62.

7.63.

7.64.

at the point in time envisaged for the development. Potential sources of alternative
land would include site allocations, existing Gypsy and Traveller sites which may have
additional capacity, land with extant permission and other suitable land which may be
available for the use (as considered in the Gypsy and Traveller Land Availability
Assessment). The PPG outlines that the absence of a 5-year land supply is not a
relevant consideration for the Sequential Test for individual applications, though it is
silent on how overall pitch requirements should be considered.

In terms of site allocations, as outlined earlier those emerging through the Plan Review
process are not currently able to be afforded meaningful weight within the planning
balance. In terms of existing sites with capacity — where these are suitable (or can be
made so) then that land has been proposed for allocation. The LPA also has an
application pending consideration (ref. 24/00282/FULM) for 15 pitches, albeit the
access of this site is within the flood zone. However, comments from the Council’s
Planning Policy team explain that whilst there is land with extant permissions? for the
proposed use elsewhere within the District which is at less flood risk than the
application site, even coupled with the 15 pitches pending consideration (which also
have an associated flood risk) this remains insufficient to fully address the District’s
overall pitch requirements.

Land included within the Gypsy and Traveller Land Availability Assessment (GTLAA)>
undertaken is also mostly either that which is proposed for allocation, or sites that are
not considered as being available. This is except for sites 19_0026 ‘Land between
Tinkers Lane and A1133, Girton” and 19_0044 ‘Former Walesby Garden Centre, Brake
Road, Walesby’ which are not proposed site allocations but are identified as
potentially available sites in the GTLAA (albeit site specific assessments have not been
undertaken). The Girton site is located in Flood Zone 3 and therefore no better
sequentially (indeed possibly worse once the flood defences of the application site are
taken account of unless it also benefits from some). However, the Walesby site is
situated in Flood Zone 1 and has a capacity of 17-34 pitches. Even if this site were to
be brought forward at the expense of the application site, then the District would still
fall short of being able to (currently) address its overall pitch requirements. However,
given this is a potentially suitable site at a lesser flood risk the application would fail
the sequential test.

In the context of the District’s current unmet need, it is considered appropriate to
have regard to actual flood risk presented at this site, and in this case the presence of
the flood defences which the application site benefits from. This results in the land
being at a lower level of risk than the standard EA mapping shows and the actual flood
risk at the site is acknowledged by the EA not to be hazardous. This, together with the
fact that even if the Walesby site were to be delivered the District would still be unable
to demonstrate a 5-year pitch supply, is a material consideration which attracts

435 pitches under refs. 23/00063/FULM - Chestnut Lodge, Barnby Road, Balderton (19 pitches), 23/00060/FUL
— Appleby Lodge, Barnby Lane, Newark (8 pitches) and 22/01203/FULM — Oak Tree Stables, Sand Lane,
Besthorpe (8 pitches).

5 https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/media/nsdc-redesign/documents-and-images/your-

council/planning-policy/local-development-framework/amended-allocations-and-development-management-

dpd/GRT10---GTLAA-(Jan-2024).pdf

Agenda Page 129


https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/media/nsdc-redesign/documents-and-images/your-council/planning-policy/local-development-framework/amended-allocations-and-development-management-dpd/GRT10---GTLAA-(Jan-2024).pdf
https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/media/nsdc-redesign/documents-and-images/your-council/planning-policy/local-development-framework/amended-allocations-and-development-management-dpd/GRT10---GTLAA-(Jan-2024).pdf
https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/media/nsdc-redesign/documents-and-images/your-council/planning-policy/local-development-framework/amended-allocations-and-development-management-dpd/GRT10---GTLAA-(Jan-2024).pdf

7.65.

7.66.

7.67.

7.68.

significant weight in favour of the proposal.

Flood risk guidance and policies also require the application of the Exception Test
where relevant. In FZ3a the PPG does not permit ‘highly vulnerable development’,
however in lesser Flood Zones (like FZ2) the application of the exception test is
required. In this case, whilst technically in FZ3a, the site is actually at a lesser flood risk
and therefore it is considered appropriate to consider whether the application could
also pass the exception test which requires the:

a. The development to provide wider sustainability benefits to the community
that outweigh flood risk; and

b. The development to be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability
of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will
reduce flood risk overall.

In relation to the first part of the Exception Test, the proposal would allow the housing
needs of the District to be met and would contribute to the supply of pitches within
the District in the absence of a 5-year land supply. Whilst is it not ideal from a flood
risk and sustainability perspective, in that the G&T needs of the District should be
located on land that is at lowest flood risk, it is noted that in the absence of sufficient
land to meet the Council’s 5-year land supply a number of sites proposed for allocation
also include areas at risk of flooding. No additional sustainability benefits have been
identified by the submission, but the development would provide wider sustainability
benefits to the community through contributing to the Districts pitch supply.

In relation to part b) of the Exception Test, the Environment Agency consider the
proposed development can be made safe for its perceived lifetime through the
imposition of a condition relating to minimum internal floor levels of the caravans and
anchoring of the caravans to prevent buoyancy in any extreme flood events.

In the assessment of the 21/02528/FUL the Report detailed comments from the EA
that stated “The ground levels according to the most up to date LiDAR data range
between 6.8-6.7mAOD at the west of the site and between 7.1-7.2mAOD at the East
of the site where the structures will be situated. While the FRA has not used the most
up to date hydraulic modelling, which did not include the most up to date climate
change allowances.

The latest hydraulic modelling does now include the updated climate change
allowances. In this case the assessment has been made against the 1 in 100 year 30%
climate change allowance which would cover the perceived lifetime of the
development of up to 100 years. In this case the 1 in 100 year 30% climate change
allowance event including a breach of the flood defences would result in depths of
6.7mAOD. Therefore, this would not impact the site as the topography is already
elevated above this level.” The EA conclude in their comments on this application that
the site is not impacted by main river flooding during the 1 in 100-year event (which
has a 1% annual probability) and when the impacts of climate change (29% allowance)
are taken into account, only a shallow depth of 150mm would pass through the middle
of the site which is not considered hazardous at the velocity anticipated. Therefore,
subject to a condition requiring finished floor levels to be set appropriately to account

Agenda Page 130



7.69.

7.70.

7.71.

8.0

8.1.

for any minor variations in ground levels which may not have been picked up by LiDAR,
the EA have concluded that the proposal would be considered safe for its lifetime
without increasing flood risk elsewhere. Therefore, despite the vulnerability
classification, the EA do not object to the proposals. On this basis, and in the absence
of any identified flood risk harm, it is considered that the second part of the Exception
Test is passed.

The FRA acknowledges that surface water flooding is also high on the site but
considers that the proposal is not likely to unacceptably increase surface water
flooding, and would not result in flooding elsewhere from surface water flooding. All
proposed surfaces on the development site would be permeable (grass, gravel and
permeable tarmac) and is unlikely to result in any material reduction in soakway on
the site below the existing situation. However, the application form states that surface
water would be disposed of in an existing water course and in the assessment of the
application on the adjacent site it was noted that there was concern locally that the
ground water levels are high in this area. As such, it is considered that should planning
permission be granted, a condition should be imposed requiring details of a surface
water disposal scheme be submitted and approved.

In conclusion, notwithstanding the site’s location on land within Flood Zone 3 and its
failure of the sequential test, when considering the presence of flood defences, the
Environment Agency have confirmed that the actual flood risk on the site would not
be hazardous in the 1 in 100-year + climate change flood event resulting in an absence
of actual flooding harm on the site. This, coupled with the fact that even if the other
site identified as being potentially available were to be delivered the District would
still be unable to demonstrate a 5-year pitch supply, are material considerations which
must be weighed in the overall balance of the proposal. The proposal has also been
found to pass the exception test as the proposal would be safe for its lifetime without
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Therefore, given the specific circumstances of this
case it is considered that the significant material considerations in this case outweigh
the failure of the sequential test and the proposal would not result in an unacceptable
flood risk that would warrant withholding planning permission on this basis. This is
therefore considered to be a neutral matter in the overall planning balance.

Other Matters

Comments have been received from local residents which have been duly taken on
board throughout this assessment. It is noted that concerns have been raised in
relation to the number and dominance of caravan development in the local area.
Cumulative harm of developments on a local area is a material consideration,
however, there are no cumulative impacts identified with this site that would lead to
unacceptable harm either in visual or landscape character grounds that would warrant
refusal of this application. Concerns also relate to the impact on drainage
infrastructure, however, there would be no mains sewerage and sewerage would be
dealt with via a septic tank.

Implications

In writing this report and in putting forward recommendations officers have

Agenda Page 131



9.0

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

9.5.

considered the following implications; Data Protection, Equality and Diversity,
Financial, Human Rights, Legal, Safeguarding, Sustainability, and Crime and Disorder
and where appropriate they have made reference to these implications and added
suitable expert comment where appropriate.

Conclusion

The recent GTAA has identified a significant unmet need for gypsy and traveller
pitches. This development would contribute five pitches to the significant unmet need
and contribute towards a five-year land supply, which weighs heavily in favour of the
proposal, given the current level of need. This positive contribution is a significant
benefit, and one which should be afforded significant weight in the planning balance.
The lack of sufficient alternative sites to meet the Districts 5-year supply also attracts
significant weight.

An approval would provide a settled base that would facilitate access to education and
enable the families to continue their gypsy way of life. The human rights of families
means due regard must also be afforded to the protected characteristics of Gypsies
and Travellers in relation to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) when applying the
duties of section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. These factors attract significant positive
weight in favour of the development.

In contrast, the proposal would fail to accord with SP3 and CP4 and 5 of the Amended
Core Strategy and Policies DM5 and DM8 of the ADMDPD, PPTS paragraph 25, and
paragraphs 109 and 180 of the NPPF by virtue of the unsustainable location and access
to services and the harm to the character and appearance of the area as set out above.
Officers attach moderate weight to the harm to the character and appearance of the
area and to the harm in respect of location and access to services.

In terms of flood risk, notwithstanding the site’s location on land within Flood Zone 3a
and its failure of the sequential test, when considering the presence of flood defences,
the Environment Agency have confirmed that the actual flood risk on the site would
not be hazardous in the 1 in 100-year + climate change flood event resulting in an
absence of actual flooding harm on the site. This, coupled with the fact that even if
the other site identified as being potentially available were to be delivered the District
would still be unable to demonstrate a 5-year pitch supply, is a material consideration
which attracts significant weight in favour of the proposal. The proposal has also been
found to pass the exception test as the proposal would be safe for its lifetime without
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Therefore, given the specific circumstances of this
case it is considered that the significant material considerations in this case outweigh
the failure of the sequential test and the proposal would not result in an unacceptable
flood risk that would warrant withholding planning permission on this basis. This is
therefore considered to be a neutral matter in the overall planning balance.

No harm has been identified in relation to residential amenity and highway safety
which are also therefore neutral in the overall planning balance. New hedgerow

Agenda Page 132



planting, controlled by condition, would also provide ecology enhancements which
represents a minor benefit.

9.6. Weighing all of these competing considerations, it is considered that the harm in
relation to location and access to services, (actual) flood risk and character and
appearance would be clearly outweighed by the other considerations. These other
considerations consist of the significant weight afforded to the benefits of the
additional pitches where there is both a significant unmet need and a significant
shortfall in five-year supply, and the lack of sufficient alternative sites. As such it is
recommended that planning permission is approved, subject to conditions.

10.0 Conditions

01

The development hereby permitted shall not begin later than three years from the date of
this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

02

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance
with the following approved plan references:

- Existing Site Plan and Site Location Plan — Ref. 2311-01Rev. G

- Proposed Site Plan — Ref. 2311-02 Rev. F

Reason: So as to define this permission.

Pre-Occupation Conditions

03

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until the existing site
access in the north-west corner of the site and as shown on the plan (Drawing ref. 2311-02
Rev F) is permanently closed by installation of the boundary hedge and the access crossing
reinstated as verge.

Reason: In the general interest of highway safety.

04

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until the turning head
as shown on drawing number 2311 02 Rev F is provided. The turning head shall not be used

for any purpose other than the turning of vehicles.

Reason: To enable vehicles to turn within the curtilage of the site and egress onto the public
highway in a forward gear.

Agenda Page 133



05

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until the access is
provided at a minimum width of 4.8 m within 8.0m of the highway plus 0.5m clearance on
both sides and additional width for bin storage and in a bound material for a minimum
distance of 5.5 metres from the rear of the highway boundary with measures to prevent the
egress of surface water on to the public highway.

Reason: to ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass each other clear of the
highway; to reduce the chance of transferring deleterious material and surface water on to
the public highway. All in the general interest of highway safety.

06

No part of the development shall be brought into use until details of the Waste & Recycling
Areas have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved Waste & Recycling Areas shall be installed prior to commencement of the approved
use and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To ensure that appropriate provision is secured for litter disposal in the interest of
amenity.

07

No part of the development shall be brought into use until a Flood Management Plan has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be implemented and maintained in accordance with the approved Flood Management
Plan.

Reason: In the interest of flood risk management and safety of future occupiers of the site.
08

Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of any external lighting
to be used in the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by The Local
Planning Authority. The details shall include location, design, levels of brightness and beam
orientation, together with measures to minimise overspill and light pollution. The lighting
scheme shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the
measures to reduce overspill and light pollution retained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of reducing light pollution in this location.
09
Prior to first occupation of the development, details of additional soft landscaping works shall

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall
be carried out as approved. These details shall include full details of every tree, shrub, hedge

Agenda Page 134



to be planted (including its proposed location, species, size and approximate date of planting)
and details of tree planting pits including associated irrigation measures, tree staking and
guards, and structural cells. The scheme shall be designed so as to enhance the nature
conservation value of the site, including the use of locally native plant species.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity.
10

The approved soft landscaping shall be completed during the first planting season following
the first occupation or use of the development. Any trees or shrubs which, within a period of
five years of being planted die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall
be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. All tree, shrub
and hedge planting shall be carried out in accordance with BS 3936 1992 Part 1 Nursery Stock
Specifications for Trees and Shrubs and Part 4 1984 Specifications for Forestry Trees, BS4043
1989 Transplanting Root-balled Trees, and BS4428 1989 Code of Practice for General
Landscape Operations.

Reason: To ensure the work is carried out within a reasonable period and thereafter properly
maintained, in the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity.

Compliance Conditions
11

The site shall not be occupied by any persons other than gypsies and travellers, defined as
persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on
grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or old
age have ceased to travel temporarily or permanently, but excluding members of an
organised group of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such.

Reason: To ensure that the site is retained for use by gypsies and travellers only in order to
contribute towards the LPAs 5-year housing supply.

12

No more than 1 static caravan and 1 touring caravan, as defined in the Caravan Sites and
Control of Development Act 1960 and the Caravan Sites Act 1968, shall be stationed on each
pitch at any one time. For the avoidance of doubt, this permission authorises 5 pitches in
total.

Reason: In order to define the permission and protect the appearance of the wider area in
accordance with the aims of Core Policy 13 of the Newark and Sherwood Amended Core
Strategy (March 2019) and Policy DM5 of the Newark and Sherwood Allocations and
Development Management DPD (July 2013).

Agenda Page 135



13

No commercial or industrial activities shall take place on this site, including the storage of
materials associated with a business.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the surrounding area and the amenities of
surrounding land uses in accordance with the aims of Core Policies 5 and 13 of the Newark
and Sherwood Amended Core Strategy (March 2019) and Policy DM5 of the Newark and
Sherwood Allocations and Development Management DPD (July 2013).

14
No vehicles over 3.5 tonnes shall be stationed, parked or stored on this site.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the surrounding area and the amenities of
surrounding land uses in accordance with the aims of Core Policies 5 and 13 of the Newark
and Sherwood Amended Core Strategy (March 2019) and Policy DM5 of the Newark and
Sherwood Allocations and Development Management DPD (July 2013).

15

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood risk assessment
(ref LMX473/FRA/Rev A, dated 5th March 2024 and compiled by Lumax Civil & Environmental
Ltd.) and the following mitigation measures it details:
e Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 7.34 metres above Ordnance Datum
(AOD), as detailed within Section 3.41 of the report.
e All caravans shall be chained to a secure anchor block to prevent any risk of
floatation, as detailed within Section 3.42 of the report.

These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently
in accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements. The measures detailed above
shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants.
Informatives

01

This application has been the subject of discussions during the application process to ensure
that the proposal is acceptable. The District Planning Authority has accordingly worked
positively and pro-actively, seeking solutions to problems arising in coming to its decision.
This is fully in accordance with Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended).

02

The Council must issue licenses for sites to be operated as a recognised caravan, mobile home

Agenda Page 136



or park home site. This is to ensure proper health, safety and welfare standards are
maintained. A caravan site includes anywhere a caravan (including mobile or 'park' home) is
situated and occupied for human habitation including on a permanent, touring or holiday
basis. Further information is available by contacting the Environmental Health and Licensing
Team at the Council on 01636 650000, or by visiting the Council’'s website at
https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/caravansitelicence/

03

The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after the 1st December
2011 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details of CIL are
available on the Council's website at www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/cil/ The proposed
development has been assessed and it is the Council's view that CIL is not payable on the
development hereby approved as the development type proposed is zero rated.

04

The minor access reinstatement works referred to in Condition 03 above involves work on the
highway and as such requires the consent of Nottinghamshire County Council. Please contact
the County Council’s Agent, Via East Midlands to arrange for these works to be carried out.
Email: licences@viaem.co.uk Tel. 0300 500 8080.

Any hedge/tree/shrub line on the boundary of the development land (either proposed or
retained) is the responsibility of the owner/occupier (including subsequent
owners/occupiers) of the adjoining land, whether or not a fence or other boundary treatment
is installed behind it. It is an offence under Section 154 of the Highway Act 1980 to allow
vegetation to overhang highway such that it obstructs the function of the highway and
therefore owners/occupiers should make every effort to ensure that the hedge/tree line is
maintained appropriately.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the documents
listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section 100D of the Local
Government Act 1972.

Application case file.

Agenda Page 137


https://www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk/caravansitelicence/
mailto:licences@viaem.co.uk

Committee Plan - 24/00088/FUL

Sandown

Lowland

Glebe Ho

Sandyacre

Track

© Crown Copyright and database right 2022 Ordnance Survey. Licence 100022288. Scale: Not to scale

Agenda Page 138



	Agenda
	4 Land off Staythorpe Road, Averham - 23/00317/FULM
	5 Land Adjacent Staythorpe Substation,  Staythorpe Road,  Staythorpe - 23/00810/FULM
	6 Shady Oaks, Eagle Road, Spalford - 24/00088/FUL

